Based on the Best-Selling Seminar by the American Management Association

FUNDAMENTALS OF SALES MANAGEMENT

FOR THE NEWLY APPOINTED SALES MANAGER



MATTHEW SCHWARTZ

FUNDAMENTALS OF **SALES** MANAGEMENT

FOR THE NEWLY APPOINTED SALES MANAGER This page intentionally left blank

FUNDAMENTALS OF **SALES** MANAGEMENT

FOR THE NEWLY APPOINTED SALES MANAGER

MATTHEW SCHWARTZ



American Management Association New York • Atlanta • Brussels • Chicago • Mexico City • San Francisco Shanghai • Tokyo • Toronto • Washington, D.C. Special discounts on bulk quantities of AMACOM books are available to corporations, professional associations, and other organizations. For details, contact Special Sales Department, AMACOM, a division of American Management Association, 1601 Broadway, New York, NY 10019. Tel.: 212-903-8316. Fax: 212-903-8083. Web Site: www.amacombooks.org

This publication is designed to provide accurate and authoritative information in regard to the subject matter covered. It is sold with the understanding that the publisher is not engaged in rendering legal, accounting, or other professional service. If legal advice or other expert assistance is required, the services of a competent professional person should be sought.

Library of Congress Cataloging-in-Publication Data

Schwartz, Matthew

Fundamentals of sales management for the newly appointed sales manager / Matthew Schwartz.

p. cm.
Includes index.
ISBN 0-8144-0873-7
1. Sales management. 2. Management. I. Title.
HF5438.4.S362 2006
658.8' 1—dc22

2005022936

© 2006 AMACOM, a division of American Management Association, New York. All rights reserved. Printed in the United States of America.

This publication may not be reproduced, stored in a retrieval system, or transmitted in whole or in part, in any form or by any means, electronic, mechanical, photocopying, recording, or otherwise, without the prior written permission of AMACOM, a division of American Management Association, 1601 Broadway, New York, NY 10019.

Printing number

10 9 8 7 6 5 4 3 2 1

CONTENTS

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS	
CHAPTER 1.	
Transitioning to Sales Management: New Responsibilities	
and Expectations	1
Going from "Selling" to "Managing"	1
Understanding the Current Sales Culture	4
Understanding Who Is on the Current Team	8
The Challenges of Being on Two Teams at Once	12
Embracing Change	15
The Big Picture—Short- and Long-Term	16
What's Next?	18
CHAPTER 2.	
It's All About Communication	20
Listening Skills	20
The Theory Behind Communication Styles	22
The Origins of DISC Theory	23
The Four-Quadrant System	26
How Roles and Situations Affect Your Style	37
Working with People with Different Styles	38
Strategies for Improving Communications	39
Running an Effective Meeting	42
Presentation Skills	45
CHAPTER 3.	
Sales Planning: Setting the Direction for the Sales Team	48
Aligning the Corporate Strategy with the Sales Team	48
Where Sales Fits in the Corporate Structure	50
The Customer-Centric Organization	51

CONTENTS

Marketing's Relationship to Sales	56
Creating a Plan	63
Characteristics of a Good Plan	64
Continuous Planning	70
Assessing the Business	70

CHAPTER 4.

Time Management, Territory Planning, and	
Sales Forecasting	75
Time Management	75
The Art of Delegating	80
Sales Territory Planning	85

CHAPTER 5.

Recruiting, Interviewing, and Hiring the Very Best	
Enhancing Your Current Team	98
Developing Specific Criteria for the Selection Process	99
Optimal Sources for Recruiting	104
The Number One Rule in Recruiting: Constantly Recruit	112
Ensuring a Positive Interview Process	113
The Written Offer	122
Firing Is Inevitable	126

CHAPTER 6.

Building the Environment for Motivation: Compensation	
Plans, Recognition, and Rewards	128
Classical Motivation Theory	129
Sales Compensation and Incentives Planning	140
Benefits and the Total Compensation Package	151
Nonfinancial Incentives—Rewards and Recognition	152

CHAPTER 7.

Training, Coaching, and Counseling: When and How to	
Apply Each	157
Methods of Training Based on Learning Styles	157
The Core Concepts of Reinforcement	162
The Development of Winners	167

Contents	vii
Coaching and Counseling	179
Goal-Setting Sessions	179
CHAPTER 8.	
Stepping Up to Be a True Leader	187
The Characteristics of a Team	188
Matching Your Team with Your Customer's Team	190
The Evolution of a Team	194
Time to Lead	195
INDEX	207

This page intentionally left blank

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Many of us have heard the notion that sales is evident in so much of what we do, no matter what our career may be. Well, being a great manager and leader also fits into this category. My hope is that this book not only encompasses the core skills and behaviors that make up a great manager, but lessons and techniques that can be applied throughout your career, wherever it may take you.

I would like to thank AMACOM, especially my editor Christina Parisi and associate editor Mike Sivilli, for guiding me through the publishing process; it has been a rewarding one. I would also like to thank the many sales trainers I have come to know at the American Management Association, in particular Thomas Madden, who helped bring to fruition the current *Fundamentals of Sales Management* seminar at the AMA. To Beth Potashkin, for your confidence in the success of this endeavor. Also, to my family and friends for your understanding during those long nights and weekends when my ringer on my phone was turned off. Finally, to anyone looking to engage in the writing profession: It is well worth the time and effort as knowledge sharing is what helps to make all of us better. This page intentionally left blank

FUNDAMENTALS OF **SALES** MANAGEMENT

FOR THE NEWLY APPOINTED SALES MANAGER This page intentionally left blank

TRANSITIONING TO SALES MANAGEMENT: New Responsibilities and Expectations

Congratulations! You have joined the ranks of sales management. This may even be your first experience as a manager. The good news is that you are not alone. Many resources like this book exist to learn from and help support your growth as a manager and a leader. You have climbed the sales ladder, have cultivated your skills, and are ready for a new challenge.

You can probably imagine that transitioning into management is very natural for some and more like charting unknown territory for others. You have a whole new set of responsibilities, and at the same time, the expectations others have of you have completely changed. In fact, these new demands come from both your sales team and your management team. This chapter will walk you through some of the core issues and hopefully provide you with some comfort knowing that (1) many have been here before, and (2) success is well within your reach.

Going from "Selling" to "Managing"

While it is likely that you came from the world of selling, it is not a requirement. Sales managers typically choose management themselves, but other times senior management chooses them because they are seen as well respected by their peers and they possess many of the necessary traits of a good manager and leader. So while understanding the elements of selling are very important, what it takes to manage is a very different skills set. The following is a brief look at sales versus sales management and where they overlap.

First it is necessary to understand what the ideal salesperson should look like. He typically exhibits the following behaviors and traits:

Attentive	Courteous	Credible	Driven
Empathetic	Engaging	Enthusiastic	Passionate
Poised	Presentable	Results-Oriented	Smart
Good Listener	Knows the Products	Aggressive	Articulate

Furthermore, the truly well-rounded sales professional needs to possess four core areas of skills:

- 1. The communication and interpersonal skills necessary to carry out sales
- 2. A mastery of the sales process and how it relates to the business
- 3. Fundamental business competency
- 4. A solid understanding of the industry and marketplace

Figure 1-1 depicts these four categories.

On the other hand, the ideal sales manager has her own exemplary characteristics and traits, including the following:

Ambitious	Caring	Dedicated	Driven
Ethical	Moral	Passionate	Patient
Results-Oriented	Supportive	Smart	Understanding
Able to Help Motivate	Collaborative	Empathetic	Strategic

Of course, when you compare these to those of the salesperson, you will see many overlapping characteristics; yet look at them more closely, and you will clearly see areas of difference.

The four core areas of skills that truly well-rounded sales managers must possess are:





- 1. Critical management, communication, and team-building skills
- 2. The ability to lead into the future
- 3. An in-depth understanding of the business dynamics and competitive forces that impact the sales strategy
- 4. The core tools for building and managing accounts and channels of distribution

Figure 1-2 illustrates these four categories.

The interesting thing about sales managers is that they never fully remove themselves from the sale. "Selling" or "working" managers are good examples of this truism. For instance, in many companies, managers are expected to do just that—manage—while in other organizations managers are actually in charge of a certain number of accounts. They are expected to meet their "numbers" as well as ensure that their team does the same.

This scenario is common with many smaller sales organizations



Figure 1-2. The sales management model.

in which the limited budget and resources require a manager to cover a certain number of accounts. However, this is also the case with some of the largest corporations—the logic being that the sales manager built and forged many of the relationships as a salesperson, so why lose some of that momentum now? In a company with this philosophy, you would be very involved with customers during the entire sales process.

The tools and techniques in this book will improve you as both a manager and a salesperson. By covering some of the critical areas of selling, the book will help you develop your staff as a manager as well as fine-tune many of the skills you already possess as a salesperson. Remember, whether you are in an actual sales capacity or not, "selling is everything."

UNDERSTANDING THE CURRENT SALES CULTURE

Before taking a look at some of the challenges you face as a new sales manager, it is important to take a deeper look into your corpo-

rate and departmental culture. The sales culture you are inheriting (good, bad, or indifferent) has its roots in the larger corporate environment.

Culture within an organization or even industry is an extremely broad topic. In this context it does not relate to a person's country of origin. Rather, it relates to the overall feeling that one gets when working in a particular industry, company, and department.

Figure 1-3 shows three major culture sets—that of the industry as a whole, the company, and the sales department within that company. This cultural misalignment is often the reality. The ideal is depicted in Figure 1-4, where all three cultures meld together.

It is important to understand how much cultural overlap there is between your department and your company, and your company and the industry. Obviously, when there is more overlap, there is a greater chance of success.

Here are some questions you should ask in determining the business culture that surrounds you.







Figure 1-4. Cultural alignment.

About the Industry

- Is it a conservative environment? Is the dress code formal or casual?
- Is it a very analytical type of business? Typical industries include research, consulting, engineering, etc.
- Is it a creative environment? Typical industries include consumer products, advertising, etc.

About the Company

- What does senior management value?
- How does your company communicate to outside stakeholders, the media, etc. (public relations and corporate communications)?

- Is the corporate culture actually defined by your organization?
- How are performance management and reviews done at your company (hierarchical, 360, peer review, etc.)?

About the Department

- Is there a great deal of interaction among departments, or do individuals or separate groups work in silos?
- Is there an "us versus them" mentality? For instance, is there competition for budgets, resources, etc.?
- What are the differences or similarities among departments such as marketing, sales, finance, human resources, research and development, operations, etc.?

The problem of cultural misalignment is often exhibited in large corporations with numerous business units, where a distinct culture could exist in different parts of the company. Industries that would commonly fall into this category are media conglomerates, financial services, consumer products, and most multinational corporations. But ironically, many small companies have similar "culture clashes" to contend with. Of course, you are not likely to be in the position to affect major change across the organization, but you can play your part, and that's something you should keep in mind.

Now that you have looked at the different levels (industry, corporate, departmental), it is important to relate your department to the overall company. For example:

- How is sales viewed by the company?
- Do resources (people, time, money) seem limited, or is there an abundance of resources available?
- To what level of detail do you have to prove your business case?
- Is yours and the rest of your department's collaboration with others expected, and is it easy or difficult to achieve?
- Does the human resources department support your efforts with training, compensation planning, rewards programs, hiring, counseling, etc.?

While all of these areas will be explored in more depth, you should at least be making mental notes of some of these questions

and/or issues. Now that you are in the management ranks, you will have ways to effect change, be it subtle or major change initiatives. Some of these categories might be as small as facilitating more discussions with other departments like marketing and finance. But you may effect a large-scale initiative, like changing the performance management process to better achieve corporate objectives.

Now that you have the basics for understanding the culture and environment you operate in, it is necessary to focus on some specific challenges and opportunities that fall under your new management responsibilities.

UNDERSTANDING WHO IS ON THE CURRENT TEAM

Managing Former Peers

The first issue for many new managers is managing those who just days ago were at the same level as them. Several issues crop up when a person is promoted to manage people who were formerly peers. They commonly fall into the following three categories:

- · Managing friends
- Managing nonallies
- Managing experienced salespeople

Before delving into the challenges, let's first take a look at some of the positives. The new sales manager already knows many of the sales representatives' strengths and weaknesses. This is a tremendous asset when it comes to delegation. This also gives the new manager early insights when preparing a plan for the training and development of team members.

In addition, the newly appointed sales manager already has a certain amount of rapport with the team. This allows for open discussions about issues. A good rapport also creates a supportive foundation for problem solving and achieving goals.

As a new manager, you already possess certain management and leadership characteristics and have the backing of the management team. This enhances your credibility with both management and your sales staff.

Furthermore, as a new manager, you have overnight gained "position power." Whether you now have a new corner office, or

you remain in the same compact space, the fact is that power has shifted.

At the same time, without having extensive management experience and practice under your belt, making the transition to management is a significant adjustment. Even areas that seemed very basic and straightforward before will require extra effort and attention. Here are some of the core categories that touch on this transition phase of your new job as a sales manager.

Managing Friends

Many management consultants and psychology of management pundits suggest that any friendship should be set aside after a hierarchical change. The logic is that it is difficult to discipline and affectively give direction if you are too close to your subordinate. Also, the inherent premise in friendship is that both people are more or less on par with one another. Now the simple act of changing your title can change perceptions and emotions. Friendships are complicated even before someone is promoted, so when business and money are involved, this can only further complicate any issues or tensions.

On the other hand, friendships won't necessarily complicate working relationships. If handled correctly, the closeness of the relationship could lead to more positive results for all parties involved.

One of the mistakes people make with friends is to confuse work and personal issues. This can sometimes lead to the manager giving advice to their friends on issues that are unrelated to the job, yet the line is still blurred. Giving advice because you care is part of being a friend. But a boss is in a position of power in the relationship. Giving advice to a friend (now a subordinate) may suddenly seem like you are judging him. Even when you are giving advice directly related to the job, it can be difficult to do so; if the feedback is negative, she may feel that your perception of her has changed negatively. If this starts to happen, it hurts the team, the friendship, and the company. This problem can be avoided by proper goal setting and relating feedback to the goal. If you set goals properly and both parties accept them, the manager won't appear to be judging the friend. The friend's achievement will be measured by whether or not she reaches the goal.

Another challenge early on in management is dealing with weak-

nesses of a friend and/or former peer. How does a sales manager approach this person to correct a problem without destroying the relationship? Here the manager must specifically define and isolate the negative behavior and focus on job and the performance requirements, not on the personality. For example, you might be tempted to say, "Sally, what's with all the complaints you have with the finance department? I think you're overreacting to the terms they are stipulating for new customers. It's making us all look bad." Instead, you could say: "Sally, why don't we sit down together with Steve in the finance department and talk about their requirements? They probably have some policies they must abide by and that make sense. We can stress the importance of getting new customers on board with minimal delays and see about making some subtle changes that will help you to close new business. Does that sound okay?" Here you have avoided using subjective words like overreacting, which would likely cause Sally to become defensive instead of open to dialogue. If you make the discussion more objective and focus on any positives, Sally is likely to be more receptive to your feedback.

An additional challenge to working with friends is maintaining that relationship while not letting it interfere with the success of the team. You must establish and agree on a business relationship as well as a social one. In other words, the notion of setting up boundaries is as important in your business life as in your private life. Others must not feel alienated or as if they are at a disadvantage. You always need to consider your rapport with the others on the team. If your team does not believe everyone is going to be treated equally, the team is at risk of falling apart. While some level of jealousy is inevitable, if unresolved it can become pervasive and hurt the team, the company, and most importantly you and your career growth.

Managing Nonallies

As a sales manager you will likely have to face the challenge of managing unsupportive people. Many times members of your team may not have been allies to begin with, or perhaps they felt that they or someone else should have received the promotion ahead of you. In other words, they don't feel you deserve the job. But remember, you were promoted with good reason, so don't let people like this affect your mind-set. You were probably promoted because of a combination of your past success and your propensity to be a leader. It's important not to forget this, though you also need to be careful not to take it for granted or suddenly put on airs.

The good news is that in most cases you can greatly reduce if not eliminate negative perceptions of you. This is not something that happens overnight, so it will require patience on your part as well.

Mastering the competencies outlined in this book will greatly enhance your ability to eliminate this potential threat. If you practice solid management fundamentals, nonallies can actually become great allies. You could be pleasantly surprised to find that some of your most difficult staff could turn into your most ardent supporters.

Managing Experienced Salespeople

Some experienced salespeople may be resistant to a new sales manager. At the same time, new sales managers may be fearful of managing that seasoned or star salesperson. New managers often question their own ability. However, the expectation is not that you came into this role with all the practice and skills necessary. Be realistic about your staff as well as yourself. It is not in your best interest to avoid, smother, or micromanage the veteran sales players.

Winning the confidence of an experienced salesperson is best done through goal setting, as discussed in detail in Chapter 7. You must eliminate personality issues as quickly as possible. Again, focus on the position and its expectations and outcomes.

As a sales manager, you will gain respect quickly by identifying and maximizing the talents of each individual team member, including those who believe they do not need any help. Just as you have room to grow, so do the top performers on your team. In fact, it is common for star performers to plateau rather than build on their successes, thus keeping a lot of business on the table that could be further exploited.

Experienced salespeople can also be a valuable resource. Their advice can eliminate a great deal of the trial and error and help you establish yourself quickly, particularly if they play corporate politics well and are thus able to shed a positive light on you.

It is one of the primary tasks of a sales manager to maximize each team member's talents regardless of his experience level. A key role of a manager is to help his employees offset any weaknesses through the development of better habits. At this time you may wish to chart some areas of strengths and weaknesses of each of your team members. Later you can fine-tune this.

The Challenges of Being on Two Teams at Once

One of the issues faced by a new sales manager is the fact that the manager is now a *team player* on the management team as well as the *team leader* of the sales team.

This dual capacity creates some distinct loyalty issues—especially in times of conflict—between the salespeople and others at the corporate office. But your new position has at least two pluses. The first is that you now have an opportunity to change some of the decisions that seemed inappropriate when you were in a sales position. Maybe there was a communication problem from corporate headquarters, or maybe there was a lack of coordination between departments. Whatever the issue, you now have an opportunity to address and find ways to alleviate at least some of your concerns.

The second advantage is that you now have access to information that was not available before. There is a saying about the tree of success: The higher up the tree you go, the farther you can see. When investigating a defined concern, information may become available that justifies the current system. What appeared to be broken may actually work with some adjustments or modifications. On the other hand, your new perspective may allow you to develop a plan that would convince upper management to make some changes that would fix a broken system that has been directly affecting your sales department.

It is critical for the new sales manager to set priorities when considering those issues that need to be improved and then, through a coordinated effort with both the sales team and the management team, work through the issues. Also, keep in mind that most problems cannot be resolved right away. In many instances careful planning and, again, patience are essential in order to generate solutions.

Another challenge of being on two teams is that of managing the flow of information. It is up to you as a manager to function as part of the management team and then communicate and coordinate at the sales level. How you interpret and disseminate informa-

Transitioning to Sales Management

tion from the management team is key to getting the respect and buy-in that will help produce the desired results out of your team. This also holds true for information flow from your team to senior management. Here you must be careful to filter but not stifle communication, as information should flow as much from top down as from bottom up.

The exciting part is that you are now in a better place to influence many decisions. When you were a sales representative, the job was very clear, at least to you. Tasks needed to be completed in a timely fashion. You were in control of the overall job, and this allowed you to complete your tasks successfully. In time, your knowledge of the job and your confidence level were likely high. Now someone else is doing the job you were doing. And that person is not doing it the same way you did. Remember that having carbon copies of yourself on the sales team is never a good idea, so unless there is a real performance issue, allow for some differences in the way your team members handle things, and be careful not to micromanage. People come from diverse backgrounds, and each team member possesses a different skill set that she brings to the table. It is not the sales manager's job to clone himself, but to capitalize on all the existing team assets and build from there.

You are no longer primarily evaluated on the functional ability of account management, but rather on your ability to make sound decisions that maximize the effectiveness of the sales force. Therefore, while you may still have to maintain some direct account responsibilities, your overall role and relationships with customers will change as well. For example, one of the most common challenges for a new sales manager is to have the courage to let go. Often, a new manager will burn out because she wants to continue performing responsibilities tied to the old job and do the new job at the same time. Work hours expand, and both business and personal stresses come into play. Sales managers must use strong judgment skills to set priorities and then to live by them. If not, you as well as the team will inevitably suffer in the long run.

At this time, it is important to fully recognize that the term *micromanager* never has a positive connotation. Everyone is familiar with this term, and while intuitively we recognize that it is wrong to manage by breathing down our staff's neck, it is still all too common. In fact, studies have found that the number one reason that employees leave a company is because of a problematic relationship

with their direct supervisor. While a troubled relationship with your manager is not always due to micromanaging, it can only exacerbate an already fragile or strained one. Therefore, there is no reason to perpetuate or be a part of this statistic. And the best way to ensure that you don't end up becoming a micromanager is by following sound management principles and by continually striving to become a better manager.

If you are working for a micromanager now—someone who is unreasonable with their requests, tries to control all of the details of your work, stifles your creativity, hinders your opportunities for career advancement, and just plain makes your job not enjoyable don't overreact and let it get the best of you. Try and remember that micromanagers have their own personalities and are likely acting on deep-seated problems that have nothing to do with you. Their style is more likely related to their personal life than their business life.

Following are some other things to consider:

- By keeping a micromanager in the loop on certain core aspects of your job, especially any looming issues, you are heading off major confrontations.
- Pick your battles, because not everything is worth going toeto-toe on. Realize that while an expectation might seem unreasonable, it could have an impact on your boss's job, and she might just be looking out for herself.
- When in doubt, take some time and regroup. When you put it in perspective, very little is worth getting yourself worked up over—before, during, or after the fact.

Of course, much of the advice above pertains to how you should work with any manager, good or bad. Yet it is usually the poor ones that make it more necessary to work on your coping skills.

By improving your relationship with your managers, you are able to have a clearer head and perform at a high level, so that you and your staff can benefit. Your sales team will increase performance, customers will receive the attention they deserve and expect from both the salesperson and you as a supportive manager, and your career will further advance.

All this amounts to the fact that your business world will be

changing. You have a whole new set of challenges and opportunities ahead of you.

EMBRACING CHANGE

Another critical aspect to become more comfortable with in order to succeed as a manager—and in all areas of your life—is change.

Much has been written about dealing with change and ways to embrace it so that it boosts you rather than bringing you down. The main thing to remember is that change is inevitable. Whether it is in your personal life or your career, nothing will remain stagnant, and, if something did, it would likely become boring or monotonous.

Unfortunately, change often has a negative connotation. However, not all change is bad, and in fact what often seems like a difficult transition can often be not only managed, but turned into a positive. Those who excel in their careers are able to work best in a changing environment, rather than fearing it. Everyone handles change differently, and most struggle with it (or at least are cautious or hesitant around it). You have the ability to do just the opposite.

The two main areas to think about when change occurs are:

- How might it affect you?
- How might it affect your team?

After that, it's critical to break down the pieces of the change one by one. Since change can range from a major corporate downsizing to adjusting the way your team turns in reports, you need to recognize what the change is all about and what repercussions it can have.

Some questions to ask are as follows:

How dramatic might this change be (layoffs or procedural change)?

How closely does it impact you and your team (directly related or just a marginal change)?

How likely will this change occur (definite or just a remote possibility)?

When is that change likely to occur (at once or in the medium or long run)?

Is the decision being made out of your hands, or is it something that you can have a say in?

Who is the change agent (you, someone else, a group of others)?

By looking at change in all of its parts, you can more easily begin to embrace it. While change can initially seem like it is either positive or negative, having no middle ground, it can be avoided (usually not the recommended approach), skewed in your favor, or at least mitigated so that the effects are not so drastic. Furthermore, while on the surface certain change seems entirely out of your hands, the way you react to it is entirely in your grasp. Once you understand what the change is all about, try these simple tips to help you cope with it.

- Limit your stress about the change, especially before anything has actually happened. It only exacerbates a problem and clouds your thinking or judgment.
- Once you know where the change is coming from, work with it, not against it.
- Have confidence in yourself. You have earned this position. You have also effectively handled change many times before.
- Be a creative thinker. Don't get caught up in overanalyzing the situation.
- Ask questions. That's really the only way to get to the answers and to be able to see where you fit into the equation.
- As best you can, map out your own plan to deal with the change as well as a backup plan should it not occur.

In short, since you already know that change is inevitable, work in coordination with it, rather than resisting it. This conscious level of thought about change and ways to handle it is what will set you apart from others.

The Big Picture—Short- and Long-Term

As a new manager you are faced with much of the above, and more! You probably felt overwhelmed before you had staff to manage, and now you have a whole new set of challenges. Again, it is important to take a deep breath and realize that you do not have to tackle every issue at once. For the moment, stay focused on the big picture, especially where you are today and where you want to be in the future.

The following are some categories to consider as it relates to your new job today and tomorrow:

Short Term

In the short term (i.e., over the next three months), you should be getting to know your staff, managers, customers, and the major components and requirements of your new role.

Know Your Staff

- Learn what they like most and least about the job.
- Begin to identify areas where they excel and where they need the most assistance and support.
- Get a feel for their workload (sales in progress, pipeline, follow-ups, proposals in progress, etc.).
- Identify any major customer opportunities or problems that need immediate attention.
- Identify any larger staff problems (counseling, probation, etc.) that are pressing and require either your and/or the involvement of others.

Your Managers' Expectations

- Find out what their daily, weekly, and monthly demands are.
- Determine if they are more hands-on- or hands-off-style managers.
- See what initial reports, analyses, and/or assessments they expect from you.

Meet Others in the Organization

- Begin to network with others in the organization.
- Meet people of various levels and in various departments.
- Get a feel for how they tie in to what you do and how you can benefit one another.

Meet Customers

- Determine which customers are of strategic priority.
- When appropriate, make an introduction (by phone or in person) along with the corresponding salesperson.

Long Term

As you look toward the future, you will need to consider where you want both you and your team to be.

Your Team

- What shape would you like your team to take in the next six months, year, etc.?
- Identify any major gaps in resources that you would likely need to fill.
- What are your manager's expectations of you and your team in the long term?

Your Career

- What are your career aspirations?
- Do you wish to move up in the ranks of sales management?
- Do you wish to eventually move into another area such as marketing or operations?
- Do you wish to eventually become a C-level officer (CEO, COO, CMO, CIO, etc.)?
- What about switching industries down the road?
- Are you in a very technical profession? How transferable are your skills?

Whatever your interest and long-term aspirations, you are probably a committed person who, for a combination of financial and/or nonfinancial reasons, is motivated to succeed as a sales manager. So sit back for a moment and take a look at the big picture before you get caught up in the minor details. It's always a good idea to start.

Also, rest assured that while some solutions are more difficult to find than others, there is almost always an answer. The time it takes to get there may vary. Many times you alone will not be capable of remedying a problem. You will have assistance along the way. This may include having to turn over the problem to another key stakeholder. However, you will need to become adept at recognizing the different scenarios so that you can react appropriately. This book is meant to do just that.

WHAT'S NEXT?

Now that you have a clearer understanding of the sales culture you are a part of, the major transitional challenges, and the short- and

long-term questions you should begin to look at, you will now explore the world of communications, because without the ability to communicate effectively, no amount of drive or passion will get you to where you want to be.

Then you will look at the planning process, as it relates both to the company and your team directly. After that, you will move on to the interviewing and hiring process, a complex area that will be simplified into some core, understandable steps. From there the topic of productivity will be explored, and the role of motivation and compensation. Then you will look at the key techniques for training, coaching, and counseling. Finally, you will explore what it takes to truly inspire your team and become a leader.

IT'S ALL ABOUT COMMUNICATION

Communication forms the basis of all of our interactions with people. Even though you are a new sales manager, you have already likely worked on improving your communication skills in order to work better with your managers, colleagues, and customers. This chapter will look at communication from all the core perspectives as it relates to your new role in management giving you many more techniques to incorporate in your daily interactions. This chapter will also help you in understanding your style of communicating, as well as that of others, in order to improve your working relationships. This involves how you communicate up, down, and across the organization, as well as with outside business associates. It is also especially important when you look at interviewing, delegating, motivation, training, coaching, counseling, and so many other facets of your interpersonal relationships with others. In fact, communication ties directly in to just about every aspect of your job and is an indispensable tool that will greatly increase your chances of success in your new career.

LISTENING SKILLS

Before delving too far into types of communicating styles and their usefulness, it is important to briefly look at what people so often

neglect in skill building and personal development—the art of listening. In fact, to the novice, listening isn't even associated with communicating. In many respects, we are trained to believe that communicating involves some kind of talking, when in reality, some of the best communicators are also the best listeners.

When you look back, we are all taught as children to read, write, and speak, but how often are we taught to listen? This is interesting when we think about how the best salespeople need to be great listeners when making a sales call (e.g., when trying to identify a customer's concern or conducting a needs analysis). In fact, for you as a manager, it is critical as well. How else can you truly understand and help to improve your team without the act of listening? Yet time and time again, we forget to make a conscious effort to listen. The following are some common examples of inattentive listening habits.

- Trying to finish someone else's thoughts
- Interrupting
- Talking too much without pausing or waiting for a response
- Losing your own train of thought
- Lack of eye contact
- Slouching
- Crossed arms

You will notice that many of the above examples deal with the listener actually talking (often a sign that there is a lack of listening) or other things that can cause difficulty for active listening to occur. Now look at some examples of what the attentive listener does.

- Utilizes supportive or empathetic words ("go on," "I understand," "really," etc.).
- Has an inviting posture and hand positioning (depending on the circumstance).
- Maintains solid eye contact (not staring, though).
- Smiles with regularity.

As a new manager, this is your time to shine. To show your team that you are supportive of them, the first step is to be a good listener. It is only then that you can even begin to understand how you and others communicate and how to improve working relationships. In the early goings, you need to be disciplined in order to be an attentive listener. Like any other skill, it is something that you need to work on. Some other ways to condition yourself to be a better listener include the following:

- Ask questions (open- and/or closed-ended).
- Don't rush the speaker.
- Verify or paraphrase in order to make sure you fully understand what is being said.
- Don't prejudge a person or situation.
- Limit distractions.
- Listen with your eyes and your ears.
- Try not to finish someone else's thought(s).
- Come to the table ready to listen.

The last example is more or less a mind-set. Reminding yourself that you want to be a more active listener goes a long way.

The Theory Behind Communication Styles

In life, people play many roles: manager, parent, psychologist, teacher, student, friend. Each role requires behavior unique to it. At the same time, as individuals, everyone comes to their role in life with a different set of values, traits, and characteristics that have been shaped over the years, both hereditary and environmental through society.

Interestingly, psychologists have discovered that people who change as circumstances require feel their behavior is consistent, no matter what role they play. However, research has shown observable changes in behavior as the person moves from one role to the other—for example, from work to home life. Taking this idea one step further, people change not only as roles change but also as situations and circumstances change within a role. It has been evidenced that, in many cases, changes people make are done on a subconscious rather than conscious level.

You as a new sales manager will have to keep up constant communication with many different stakeholders. This will include communicating with any or all of these:

- Your sales team
- Other sales managers
- Customers
- Your manager(s)
- Senior management
- Other department personnel (finance, human resources, product managers, marketers, public relations, engineers, etc.)

Sometimes the interactions will seem effortless, and sometimes conversations will be a real challenge. The information and tools in this chapter are designed to increase your odds for successful communication with all types of people and stakeholders. In fact, while this book is meant to be a business resource, solid communication skills could of course benefit you in all areas of your life.

THE ORIGINS OF DISC THEORY

In 1928, the psychologist Dr. William M. Marston wrote a book called *Emotions of Normal People*. The title creates an immediate question: What is "normal"? According to Marston, "normal" did not refer to typical psychological processes, societal norms, or mores. Instead, "normal" referred to an individual's own environment. For example, if you are in your ordinary or typical environment for a particular situation, Marston considers you to be "normal." In his book he identified what he called "primary emotions," of which he highlighted four and he talked about their associated behaviors.

DISC theory got its start from some of Marston's work. The theory contends that four patterns in people emerge due to a combination of various factors. People tend to be either task-oriented or people-oriented as well as prone to either changing or accepting their environment. Today it focuses to a great extent on how people of different communication or personal styles (which we'll look at in a moment) react under different circumstances. Two of the key questions it strives to answer and improve upon are (1) How do you react in your most comfortable (friendly) environment? and (2) How do you react when out of your favorable environment (antagonistic)?

Today there are many companies using different variations of
DISC instruments to gauge personal styles as well as other types of measurement instruments for personal development, including listening skills, time management skills, and persuasion skills. Another important instrument used to understand and enhance communications is the Myers-Briggs Type Indicator MBTI[™]. Although the intended outcomes of DISC and MBTI[™] overlap to some degree, they are based on a different set of principles.

Due to the proliferation of so many products and services in this area, it is difficult to try to cover everything. Here the focus will be on DISC related profile instruments and the four words chosen to identify the categories of personal styles—Directing, Influencing, Supportive, and Contemplative—as taken from *The AMA DISC Survey*TM.*

Keep in mind that your company may choose to use any one of the many communication instruments with different words to describe the type of test. This ranges from Personal Style Test to Behavioral Profile to Communication Styles Indicator or some other instrument. Once an instrument style is chosen, what is critical to realize is that whatever category or categories of DISC you fall into, there is no good and no bad style or combination of styles. This model is meant to be a nonjudgmental way of looking at behaviors and communication styles. So while they are often called tests, there is no passing, failing, or grading system. They are meant to provide guidance and focus.

Also, while the tests, when taken properly, provide you with your corresponding style(s), they are not meant to delve too deeply into your internal psyche. They are intended to give you a better understanding of certain recognizable characteristics of yourself and others rather than core traits that would require a much deeper knowledge and understanding.

DISC profiles have been around for decades. Millions of people across many professions have used them. It is important that you as a sales manager utilize such an instrument, as it will aid you in three main categories (as depicted in Figure 2-1): job performance, interpersonal relations, and personal satisfaction.

Breaking these categories down even further, the DISC Profile can help you in the following ways:

*Robert A. Cooke, *The AMA DISC Survey* and *The AMA DISC Survey Debriefing Guide*, New York: The American Management Association, 2000. Copyright © by Human Synergistics/Center for Applied Research. Reproduced by permission.





- Determining some of your own strengths and weaknesses
- Determining certain strengths and weaknesses of team members
- Improving your communication skills (which include listening skills, as previously discussed)
- Improving the communication skills of your sales team members
- Improving team morale and respect for one another
- Enhancing customer relationships
- Reducing stress and conflict
- Working more effectively with your manager(s)
- Hiring new sales staff
- Increasing your self-awareness
- Demonstrating tolerance
- Promoting diversity
- Embracing change

A DISC profile can be taken in about thirty minutes. Through a series of forced-choice questions you then plot your results onto a four-quadrant chart, as shown in Figure 2-2.

With certain DISC instruments you are able to self-assess as well as be assessed by the company or a company certified by or affiliated with the instrument's developer. Furthermore, there are often addi-



Figure 2-2. The DISC Profile.

tional training resources (books, online resources, and so on) that go along with the instruments to further increase their usefulness.

The Four-Quadrant System

As shown above, each quadrant is defined by one of the four factors—D, I, S, or C. Remember that depending on the instrument used, the four letters can be associated with slightly different words and have other subtle differences. An example would be the word *dominant* in place of *directing*, or *conscientious* in place of *contemplative*. Notwithstanding, whether or not these four words vary, certain general themes hold true across DISC instruments; for example: **Directing:** Someone oriented toward changing his task environment.

Influencing: Someone oriented toward changing other people.

Supportive: Someone oriented toward understanding and accepting other people.

Contemplative: Someone oriented toward understanding and accepting her task environment.

Figure 2-3 relates these four DISC quadrants to the dimensions of tasks, people, change, and acceptance.

Also be aware that the above descriptions of each of the DISC quadrants are based on substantial characteristics in each. For exam-

Change asks eopie Acceptance

Figure 2-3. DISC dimensions.

ple, a very high "D" would possess almost all the characteristics of the D, and this would be without regard or influence by another style. The level of scores and where you plot on the grids suggest the intensity of certain characteristics, a higher score equating to stronger characteristics. Combinations, of which there can be many, will be discussed later.

The following are some typical characteristics of each pattern—D, I, S, and C. Again, keep in mind that these are not attributable to all those who fall into a certain category and that everyone possesses at least a partial amount of the characteristics associated with each quadrant. These examples are simply a reference point; when you and your staff complete a profile (assuming you have not done so already), you'll have a better understanding and a basis for learning and future development of both you and your staff. Also, since you will never be able to precisely know where many other people you come in contact with will plot on the DISC survey, this will give you some insights into their more likely styles and how to work best with them.

Directing or High D Overview

Anyone who scores high in the D quadrant is oriented toward changing their task environment. They exhibit these characteristics:

They attack the task at hand.

They are goal- and solution-oriented.

They make things happen and move swiftly.

The greater the challenge, the more active they become.

They often works best independently.

They thrive on competition.

Strengths

The Directing personalities show these strengths:

They are assertive, efficient, and focused on results.

Under the right circumstances, they can take direction well.

They will exhibit strong organizational ability and operational skills in reacting to chaos.

They are self-starters.

They push others to succeed with the same rigor as they possess.

They tend to be pioneering and adventurous.

They are rather self-sufficient.

Achieving one goal will encourage them to go after the next one.

Weaknesses

"Directing" people can also exhibit some less desirable traits.

They can come across as dictatorial.

Their focus is on getting results, not on how people feel in the process.

They can be viewed as impatient, arrogant, or overly demanding.

They can be perceived as cold.

They tend to have a low tolerance for negative feelings, bad attitudes, and ineffectiveness.

They can be hasty and blunt as well as critical of others.

High D Wants

A Directing style wants challenge and productivity. They want to move forward constantly and make a decision. It does not really matter to them if the decision is not exactly right, because fixing a mistake is just a matter of making another decision.

A person with this style wants the freedom and authority to move toward personal growth. She does not mind being tested or measured, as long as there is some associated result or reward.

High D Needs

These people need to have controls. Their multitasking can create mental and physical disorganization. Moderation and a balance of challenges will help relieve the continual stress. A Directing style needs to learn patience and relaxation. Empathetic listening can help him to be a more tactful communicator. "Ready, fire, aim" is generally his motto. A person of this style needs to be more cautious and prudent in his approach to issues. Many times he will solve one problem but create two in the process.

Communication Style

Because of their orientation toward changing their task environment, Directing personalities communicate assertively, with the goal of getting things done.

• *Verbal Communication*. Abundant verbal communication is common for the Directing style. These people tend to tell more than they ask or talk more than listen. They are usually rather blunt and get directly to the point.

• *Tonality (Tone of Voice).* The Directing style will tend to use a forceful tone. The volume may be high and the speech pattern fast. Directings use a variety of intonations.

• *Body Language.* They move with authority. They generally are fast-paced and walk with purpose. The Directing style will gesture while talking. They can also readily display boredom or impatience.

Writing Style

Their writing style is abbreviated and to the point. They often leave the details for later discussion.

Influencing or High I Overview

These personalities are oriented toward changing other people. Here are some of their common traits:

They see themselves in the role of persuader and motivator.

They tend to be enthusiastic, outgoing, and interested in getting things started.

They are people-oriented and are comfortable in both one-onone situations and big gatherings.

They can be very outgoing and personable.

Social recognition and influence are key drivers.

Their optimism can be evident since they are often very expressive.

Strengths

These characteristics make an Influencing personality a success:

They are charismatic and inspiring.

When projects involve others, they are enthusiastic and participative.

They are idea people and get others interested in their innovations.

They can be entertainers with a natural warmth and likability.

They are spontaneous with others.

They can easily multitask.

They can adeptly manage several people at the same time by juggling priorities as needed.

Once comfortable with the people involved, they can bring them together to achieve a goal.

Weaknesses

Possibly less successful traits include the following:

They can sometimes come across as self-promoting or superficial.

Because of their need to persuade, they can be seen as somewhat manipulative.

They can get excited, which leads to observable impatience or potentially inappropriate behavior for the circumstances.

At times they are perceived as overly optimistic and overly confident.

They generally have a lower concern for facts.

They also tend to have an opinion on most topics.

High I Wants

An Influencing style wants involvement. They enjoy people contact and interaction. They often like "friendly" debate. They do not like to argue, but would rather express and hear opinions on a variety of subjects. They also want to be recognized. They want feedback about their accomplishments or progress toward a goal. Certificates, awards, trophies, and pins are a few ways that the Influencing style might display their successes. Also, they often want to be surrounded by optimistic people.

High I Needs

The Influencing style often needs to become better at time management. They need to control their impulsiveness and focus on the task at hand. More time needs to be spent on checking, verifying, and general diligence. At the same time, they often need to develop a sense of urgency. The Influencing style needs to be more objective in managing different situations. They must learn not to take things personally. They can have a tendency to say things without regard for the impact their words have on others. Similarly, they need to realize that others' criticism of them is not necessarily a personal attack, but could be something constructive.

Communication Style

The Influencing style models enthusiasm and openness with people at all levels.

• Verbal Communication. They often make their points through stories and anecdotes. They enjoy sharing experiences. Some Influencing styles like to match and then "one-up" another's triumph. They might ask, "How was your vacation?" so they can proceed to tell you about theirs.

• *Tonality (Tone of Voice).* The Influencing style speech pattern is fast. They use a wide variance of inflection and pitch. At times, tonality is dramatic and volume is higher than normal. Their vocal style reflects their desire for active participation by others.

• *Body Language.* They are usually open and easy to read. Their facial expressions are animated. Hand and body movement is lively and, at times, exaggerated. Impromptu actions are also common.

Writing Style

Their writing style is theatrical. Many adjectives, adverbs, and prepositional phrases are often used. Similar to the Directing style, the details are often left for later discussion.

Supportive or High S Overview

Those oriented toward understanding and accepting others are considered Supportives. This is what they're like:

Their major role is to be supportive and cooperative.

They are team players.

They can often be easygoing, relaxed, and amiable.

They utilize systematic approaches to manage goals.

They keep things in check by controlling the system.

Team recognition and appreciation for a job well done are key drivers for them.

They don't need public recognition for their efforts

"Stay the course" would be an appropriate motto for them.

There is security in tradition.

Strengths

Supportives exhibit several strong points:

They are predictable and dependable.

Often they are even-tempered.

They are easily able to get assistance from others because of their balance.

They can be very loyal and tend to build long-term relation-ships.

They are excellent listeners and are good at concealing their own emotions while conversing with others.

They can often be very patient.

They are dedicated to task completion.

They systematically finish one task before moving to the next.

Weaknesses

The following may hamper the Supportive's success:

They tend to procrastinate.

They are slow at making decisions, especially if they fear that those decisions will be unpopular.

When under stress or duress, they may withdraw and try and "let the dust settle."

Although plodding toward project completion is considered to be a strength, they have difficulty establishing goals.

They are slow starters, especially when the project is a directional change or lacks a systematic approach.

High S Wants

The Supportive style wants acceptance. They enjoy belonging and group interaction. Group interaction, however, must stay on track. They want to follow the system, complete the project, and then discuss it. High S people want friendly relationships. They prefer avoiding conflict. If they disagree with an idea or decision, they will not openly debate or criticize. They will instead slow things down and gain control of the environment. The Supportive style wants to stabilize the environment. They also want to specialize. They tend to stay focused on a project from start to finish. They also like to work on repetitive projects at their own pace.

High S Needs

The Supportive style needs to learn to say no. They often want to help and sometimes take on more than they can handle. They can be oversensitive to the needs of others to the detriment of their own position. Some High S people need to express themselves more openly. They not only control their possessions and their knowledge, they also control their emotions. It is often best for them to not hold on to or internalize comments made by others but rather to express their feelings, getting things off their chest.

Communication Style

The Supportive style is generally calm and self-controlled.

• *Verbal Communication.* Verbal communication is limited for the High S. They tend to ask more than they tell. They listen much better than they express their opinions. Because they want to keep the environment friendly, they thoughtfully choose and pace their words.

• *Tonality (Tone of Voice).* They typically demonstrate consistent or monotone delivery of a message. The volume itself is low, and the pace is slow.

• *Body Language.* The Supportive style exhibits their calmness through nonexpressive body language. Eye contact will vary. Their eye contact may be direct when listening, which demonstrates empathy or sympathy for what is being said. When talking, however, their eye contact could tend to wander.

Writing Style

Their writing style is friendly. Complimenting other team members for their work and support would be readily intertwined in the message.

Contemplative or High C Overview

Those oriented toward understanding and accepting their task environment are considered Contemplatives. Here are some of their characteristics:

They tend to be more analytical, reserved, and focused on getting things done right.

They attempt to avoid antagonism.

They are accurate, precise, and attempt to remove risk from a decision.

They are conservative and disciplined in their approach to any task.

They do not typically need public recognition for their efforts.

They do seek reassurance that the job is being done correctly.

"Do it right the first time" would be a good motto for them.

Strengths

Contemplatives exhibit certain strong points:

They are agreeably compliant.

They are not argumentative.

When their decision is made, however, they can be strong advocates for a position.

Their strength comes from research, analysis, and detailed knowledge of their subject.

Being logical, they look to eliminate emotion in a debate.

They also tend to be good listeners and can therefore adapt their own behavior to the circumstances as they analyze conversations with others. They are patient when dealing with facts and tasks.

They are dedicated to task completion.

They finish one task accurately and within the appropriate parameters before moving to the next.

Weaknesses

These traits may balance the Contemplative's strengths:

They can become irritated with inefficiency and errors.

Although normally diplomatic, they can be critical without enough regard to personal feelings.

Because of their desire for accuracy, they can be seen as nit-pickers.

Their focus is on avoiding unnecessary risk, which leads others to believe that they are more interested in the method of reaching the goal than in the goal itself.

While nonconfrontational, they can be rather critical.

If they have a strong opinion, they are reluctant to back down, even when that might be in the best interest of the team.

High C Wants

They want assurances. They want to know that a project is being done properly and in the most efficient manner. They want others to recognize their precision. Public recognition is not as important as a long-standing reputation for thoroughness. They often opt to do something themselves, finding it the best way to get a task done right. Before jumping into a project, however, the Contemplative style wants the time to think through the process for goal achievement. They want facts, not opinions. They want specific methods, not vague ones. They want to proceed cautiously being able to check and cross-check before moving to the next phase of the project.

High C Needs

The Contemplative style needs to learn how to show sincere appreciation for others' efforts. No one can attain the high standards for accuracy that they set for themselves. They need to understand

It's All About Communication

and recognize that others may be trying their best. The High C needs to be more willing to accept change. At times change includes temporary disorganization. They need to initiate solutions instead of questioning procedure.

They must learn that guidelines are not laws. Compromise and win-win negotiations need to become a more significant part of their behavior.

Communication Style

The Contemplative style is very tactful, diplomatic, and thorough.

• *Verbal Communication*. Verbal communication is more limited to logic and facts. They express their opinions with limited emotions. Because they want to avoid antagonism, they thoughtfully plan their words, taking a formal and proper approach to communication. Their questions can sometimes seem like more of an interrogation instead of conversation because of their drive for detail.

• *Tonality (Tone of Voice).* The Contemplative style uses a more monotone delivery with less inflection. The volume itself is low, and the pace is slow. There is determination in their tone.

• *Body Language.* They disguise their emotions and limit exposure of their thoughts. Therefore, they use less facial expressions or impulsive gestures. Eye contact will vary. Their eye contact may be direct when focus is needed to analyze a situation. When interest wanes, however, their eye contact may wander, demonstrating their desire to move on.

Writing Style

Their writing style is detailed. The Contemplative style wants to make sure the message, logic behind the message, and backup detail are included.

How Roles and Situations Affect Your Style

As we mentioned earlier, you play different roles, and your style may vary depending on that. Furthermore, in a given role, the situation might change from anywhere from very amicable to very threatening. While we all know that we change in these situations, it is important to understand how we change and to work on ways to improve any negative signals or reactions that could be detrimental to us. For example, under pressure a Directing style might rush to judgment or become overly demanding, whereas a Contemplative style might become more defensive and, instead of making a decision, become trapped in overanalysis.

Working with People with Different Styles

There are two key strategies that you can use when interacting with others—adapting and complementing.

Adapting (or flexing) to other people's styles means that you are mirroring or imitating their styles. Adapting strategies are more appropriate when people are performing effectively or when you are trying to motivate or influence them. As discussed, your style or combination of styles as well as the style(s) around you each have their own more typical strengths and weaknesses. Therefore, not only is it important to recognize the types of situations and people that possess styles best suited to yours, but you must learn to flex your style in order to work with the myriad of other styles and combinations with which you will constantly come into contact.

Complementing other people's styles means that you are exhibiting contrasting behaviors or trying to balance or enhance their style with your own behavior. Complementing strategies should be implemented when the styles of other people are either inadequate or need additional efforts to achieve the desired results. Many people already possess either similar or different styles that work together well. If that is the case, they are already in solid communication with those other styles, but if that is not the case, then being selfaware will allow you to consciously try to enhance the relationship.

Everyone Possesses Some of All Four

As previously mentioned, everyone has characteristics in all four quadrants. It is how a person is inclined to prioritize the DISC factors that will determine her personal style pattern. Furthermore, it is when all factors are considered together that a substantial pattern of characteristics is formed, giving you a more pure style. Since a pure style is not realistic, the resulting combination of styles will be many. Upon completing a DISC analysis and practicing you will become more adept at working in (adapting and complementing) all the combinations of styles. For example, the combination of a High D and High I would typically be a very matter-of-fact person with the ability to engage others. He is astute in his ability to pick out what motivates others quickly. He might then use that insight to inspire others to move in the direction that he has decided is correct.

As another example, the combination of a High S and High C is someone who is patiently analytical. She takes the time to investigate situations to determine the best direction. She forms cooperative teams that can attack the technical problems and is tenacious in moving toward task completion. Conversely, each of these two dual combination patterns has distinct potential weaknesses that, if not properly understood and compensated for, could hinder communication under certain conditions and with certain other styles and combination styles.

Intensity of Styles

Since some people possess a high degree of one, two, or even all four styles, and others possess a low degree of anywhere from one to all four, it is the intensity in a style or styles that would likely strengthen a strength and/or accentuate any weakness when particular conditions exist. In fact, it is usually easiest to identify someone that is very high in only one category and thus understand and hopefully modify behaviors as needed to enhance your working relationships.

Strategies for Improving Communications

You should try to think of specific members of your sales team, your manager(s), colleagues in other departments, and your customers, with an emphasis on those with whom you would really like to better your interpersonal effectiveness.

You can then separate each of them into various categories and look at the most likely DISC pattern(s) for each individual. For example:

• When resurrecting a tense yet important working relationship with another manager:

If he were a High S, you could ask him about his staff and how things are going with his team.

- When selling to a customer who you previously clashed with but who still has enormous potential: If she were a High D, you would get right to the point, emphasizing direct results and outcomes if she were to implement your products and services.
- Deciding how to encourage a new salesperson who lacks confidence in closing the big deal:
 If she were a High I you might publicly praise her first closed deal in order to help build up her ego.
- Convincing your manager that it is time to move on from trying to land Account X because it is affecting your other major accounts:

If he were a High C, you could use detailed analysis and reports to summarize your case as well, having specific answers to counter further challenges.

By now you are probably thinking that some of these strategies are taking you out of your own comfort zone. The reality is that in order to communicate effectively with others, you will need to stretch yourself.

Changing Profiles

Another consideration in developing your knowledge and understanding of personal style is the fact that profiles change. Because these are surface characteristics, a style can change over time. Again, these changes are neither negative nor positive—all the more reason why you should repeat the test if you have not taken it in some time. It can only benefit you to look at where you plot today. While the difference is unlikely to be dramatic, depending on the amount of time that has lapsed and the circumstances in your life, some minor changes are likely.

Differences Among People

There are many differences among people, some subtle and others very blatant. Attempting to use DISC Theory alone to analyze people would be saying that they can be grouped in a purely scientific sense around these styles, when in fact there are too many other factors to understand in order for that to be possible. Although innumerable areas could be considered, a few more directly help determine and shape someone's behavior. These include a combination of influences from early childhood through today, including:

- Career path
- Culture and traditions
- Education
- Financial stability
- Health
- Intelligence
- Parents and other family members
- Spouse or significant other
- Values

How all of the people, events, and environments relate to your personal style is a more complicated subject, but it's helpful to know that although each of our personalities seem so very complicated and different, tools such as DISC profiles can be utilized to simplify and enhance our work relationships, job performance, and personal satisfaction.

As a sales manager, you will come into contact with all types of communicators exhibiting a wide range of behaviors. Now, more than ever, you will need to communicate with many individuals and groups within your organization, as well as with business professionals and customers outside of your organization. You are also now charged with being a coach, mentor, mediator, motivator, and team leader. In order to excel at all of these and other management responsibilities, you will need to apply your skills in various environments and settings, and an understanding of yourself as well as the communication of others is a solid beginning.

Also, as you know, the three major settings where you will find yourself communicating will be in person, by phone, and in written communication (e-mail, letters, etc.). Whatever your preferred style and communication vehicle, you will need to understand your audience (individual and/or group) and communicate accordingly. Keep in mind that all three ways of communicating will be necessary, at least to some extent. When feasible, the means of communication should be determined by you with the following in mind:

- Your preferred style
- The style of the recipient of the information
- The specific circumstances

How you communicate best is the starting point. For example, you might have been an English language major and feel you can write a very elaborate sales proposal (possibly a High C). However, the recipient of the information might find your style too verbose, and would prefer just a short, succinct proposal highlighting the key points (possibly a High D). To further complicate this, what if your audience was several people?

This is where you would look to try to have something for everyone: a synopsis covering all the highlights at the beginning and/or the end, and a great deal of supporting documention in the body of the proposal addressing all of the possible questions and scenarios.

The same thinking would hold for face-to-face and phone communications. It is obviously important to know yourself and your preferred style, but it is as important to know your audience.

Now that you have a solid grounding in communication styles and the theory behind it, there are two more complex settings in which both individual and group dynamics pose a challenge for many new as well as seasoned managers.

RUNNING AN EFFECTIVE MEETING

Gone are the days of "just because" or Monday morning mandatory meeting. People are too busy, and not only can it be a poor use of your time as well as your staff's, but it can also be demotivating to your team.

If you do choose to have Monday morning meetings, or a weekly scheduled meeting at other times, make sure it is for good reason. Historically, weekly meetings were a time for updates. A manager would provide information on what they got from meeting with his manager, and the employees would share progress reports on their side. However, if a series of e-mails or one-off conversations can cover the information too; then the meeting is pointless—not to mention the fact that organizing a meeting is very difficult, with many salespeople either working remotely or on the road making a sales call. It is prudent to hold a meeting when the following criteria exist:

- People seem confused as to their roles and responsibilities.
- A major change is occurring that will affect your team members—in a positive or negative way.
- Rumors are circulating that need to be addressed.
- Input is needed from the group on important business decisions.
- You need to discuss major policy changes or sensitive subjects that affect the entire group (absenteeism, business ethics, new hours of operation, etc.).

Once you have determined that a meeting is necessary, it is then incumbent upon you to make it productive.

Follow these tried-and-true rules when planning meetings in order to make them a good use of everyone's time:

- Keep it on time (beginning and end time). There is nothing worse than stating a time and people feel they can show up later or that the meeting will run past the scheduled time.
- When possible, rotate the meeting facilitator—people like to get involved, and since a meeting is really for the benefit of everyone at the table, let others run the meeting or at least certain parts of the meeting.
- Have an agenda in advance—no one likes to go to a meeting and always wonder, what's next? Every meeting should be defined. Even if it is just for brainstorming ideas in a roundable setting, you should specify that in advance.
- Make the environment as comfortable as possible. While you might not have abundant space for meetings, be sure that everyone is accounted for with proper seating, lighting, and a comfortable room temperature.
- Include remote team members. Today there are a myriad of ways to get remote staff involved, including phone conference calls as well as Web and video conferencing. Depending on the objectives of the meeting and the regularity, it might be well worth your time to have a process in place for remote staff to access meetings on an ongoing basis.
- Invite the key stakeholders-make sure you include those who do or will play a part in subject matter being addressed

in the meeting. It can be very unproductive to discuss plans that would need the time and resources of another department and not include them in the meeting. At the same time, limit the meeting to only those necessary so as not to misuse the time of nonessential participants.

• Always provide next steps. Whether it is an idea generation meeting or a more formal planning session, summarize the meeting at the end as well as provide next steps both there and in writing afterwards. This could then set the stage for any possible follow-up meetings.

When leading a meeting, you should do the following:

- Keep an outline of the meeting, marking topics off as they are discussed or addressed.
- Use flipcharts, PowerPoint, white boards, and other resources as necessary—using various forms of communication keeps people engaged. Also, if there are numerous details that need to be either seen or captured, you might wish to appoint a scribe or someone to flipchart the key discussion points, and have someone type them up afterwards.
- Avoid wordsmithing and being too detailed. There is no point in getting caught up in semantics and minutiae when everyone is pressed for time. Stick to the key points and topics of the meeting, and parking-lot other subjects that can be addressed at a later date.
- Be inclusive. Some people tend to participate more than others. The atmosphere should be cooperative, where everyone has her share of input. In fact, the quiet ones could have some of the best ideas.
- Confirm the conclusions. Make sure everyone really is on board with any conclusions or next steps that are determined. While you might be charged with running the meeting, you are really acting more as a facilitator, keeping everything on track and conversations productive. In certain circumstances you might need to play arbiter or the deciding vote, but when at all possible let the team decide.
- Practice your listening skills and then paraphrase or repeat what is said so that the points others make are clear to the

group. You can then weed out nonrelated information and help to keep discussions on target.

PRESENTATION SKILLS

It is common knowledge that making a presentation is one of Americans' (and likely that of many others around the globe as well) biggest fears. It has it roots in the fact that, growing up, we are not necessarily taught to present to a large audience. Sure, there are exceptions, especially those who grew up involved in the performing arts, but for the most part it is an uncultivated skill.

At the same time, as your career progresses, you will find the ability to give a solid presentation more and more critical. Whether it is leading a meeting or presenting to a large audience, by having sound presentation skills you can stand out from the pack. In fact, many have found that it has opened new doors for them, as a good presenter commands respect and recognition from others.

Clearly, certain areas and tips will help you to become a more confident presenter. Some of the basics include:

- *Maintain good eye contact*. Pick some friendly faces in the audience until you get more versed at this.
- *Keep a nice even pace.* Remember, human nature is to speed up when nervous. When presenting, err on the side of a little too slow, and you will find that it is just right for the audience.
- Avoid distracting the audience. Hand gestures or fidgeting with papers tends to focus the audience's eyes on these areas and away from the message you are trying to convey.
- Use different tones, inflections, and pauses to accentuate key points. Nothing will tune out an audience faster than a monotone presenter. Remember, no matter what the topic of your presentation, no one wants to be bored.
- *Dress appropriately.* This usually means being a bit more formal than the audience. The only exception is when you are trying to really fit in with the group and want to therefore dress just like them.
- *Know your topic, obective, and audience.* Before making any presentation, make sure you are up to speed with what it is you are trying to convey; only then can you develop a presentation

to match this. You also need to tie it into the knowledge level of your audience, and then speak to their interests.

- *Don't worry about seeming a little nervous.* Those who are too comfortable presenting often come across as arrogant.
- *Prepare.* Probably the best piece of advice for a novice presenter is to practice. Until you get more versed at presenting, this could initially mean starting off with an outline, then fully writing out a first draft and then turning that back into an outline. Keep in mind that you're probably not delivering a speech, so avoid trying to read something word for word. You can also practice with a colleague or by yourself in front of the mirror. By actually hearing yourself, you can get more and more comfortable with everything.
- *Don't apologize*. If you show signs of being nervous, you don't have to tell everyone. The audience understands and really wants you to succeed. They will understand if you lose track somewhere or accidentally skip a point.
- Less is more. Don't try and convey every thought. This is a common mistake of inexperienced presenters, trying to tell the audience everything. Remember, they don't know what you have left out. Stick to the pertinent facts and not all of the minor details.
- *Engage with audiovisuals.* Audiovisuals are meant to stimulate the audience, not to overwhelm or confuse them. Try to mix things up to keep them involved, but always keeping in mind your message and objective. You can also use the visuals in place of your notes; they can be your guide in and of themselves.
- Stay on time—here again is where preparation is key. Only by practicing will you know how long your presentation should take. In fact, the pressure of running out of time can compound itself, further increasing your nerves. Plan to end a little early rather than going the full time alloted.

Most important, develop your own style. Remember, there is not one perfect way to present. Learn from others, but in the end your personality plays a good part in what your style is, and this should come across in your presentation.

Keep in mind that often Q&A is an integral part of a presenta-

tion. In fact, it can make a good presentation great or turn a solid performance sour. Some tips for handling the Q&A period are:

- Solicit questions from the audience. Far too often, the inexperienced presenter forgets to even ask.
- Think of all the possibilities of questions that might come from the audience and prepare for them.
- Paraphrase or restate the question to be sure that you, as well as the rest of the audience, has heard it properly.
- After you have responded, always verify with the person that you have answered the question at hand.
- If you do not know the answer, say you are not sure and that you will get back to them, and be sure to do so.
- Finally, not only should you expect questions, but you should look forward to fielding them. It means your audience is engaged, and it allows you to clarify points made.

Remember, almost everyone fears making presentations, so you are far from alone. That said, if you practice, practice, and then practice some more, you will be one step ahead of your peers.

The only way that people really are able to judge and work productively with one another is by the way they communicate. By recognizing your likely areas of weakness, you at the minimum have the ability to compensate for them, and hopefully turn them into a strength. If you are able to grasp the fundamentals of communication styles, realize that we are all very complex, and accept that there is no "silver bullet" that works under every circumstance, nor with the same person all the time, you will be that much further along to being a well-respected sales manager by your sales team, peers, managers, and customers. As we progress through this book, it is important to be aware that your personal style and how you communicate becomes key in just about every aspect of your job. Also, realize that while awareness is a good beginning, practice is what will improve you as a person as well as help to advance you in your career. As you delve into the next chapter on planning, you will continue to see how key that solid communication skills are to all of us.

SALES PLANNING: SETTING THE DIRECTION FOR THE SALES TEAM

Planning is one of the first functions in the process of sales management. Before you undertake any other managerial function, having a good plan is imperative. The reality is often that certain aspects of a plan are carried over from the prior quarter, half, year, and so on. As is true with many of the areas of management, you do not often have the chance to start with a clean slate. However, just as you likely already possess some star salespeople, your current plan likely has certain very useful aspects. This chapter is meant to complement what is already in place and possibly challenge what your company is currently doing with the intent of improving the plan so that everyone will benefit.

Aligning the Corporate Strategy with the Sales Team

Plans exist at all levels within an organization. Typically senior management deals with long-range plans, that is, where the organization is heading, what changes may be necessary to generate more profits, what new products will be introduced, and other strategic issues that may occur over the next three to five years or longer. On a departmental level, planning is just as crucial. While you will incorporate some long-term strategies, the majority of the plan deals with the short and medium term (up to one year and between one and three years).

Medium-Term Planning

This part of the sales plan deals with the means by which longerrange objectives are to be met. The focus is on defining roadblocks to success and then planning solutions.

Short-Term Planning

This is probably the most important focus for the sales manager. Short-term plans concern goals that need to be met over a period of ninety days to one year. These are most often very tactical in nature, having specific objectives that exist within the framework of higher-level plans.

Whatever the time period associated with each part of the plan, nothing can operate in a vacuum. Corporate planning needs to take into account departmental plans, and each plan needs to consider the period of time.

The Sales Plan

The sales planning process deals with numerous constituents. However, the key ones to focus on are:

- Customers (industry and markets)
- Employees (the sales team)
- Your products/services (R&D, finance, engineering, manufacturing, operations, suppliers, etc.)
- Competition

Of course, you will need to ask many questions when preparing the sales plan that will fit into one of these four categories. Depending on your industry, the questions you will need to answer could be as follows:

What is the length of a typical sales cycle (one week, one month, one year, etc.)?

How do you segment your customers (industry, regions, etc.)?

Do you have major, key, or strategic accounts, and does a separate structure exist to manage different types of accounts?

Do you have global customers?

At what level will your salepeople be selling (multilevel, senior level, team selling, etc.)?

Do you have many competitors or are you involved in hypercompetition (a few major players controlling and competing in the market)?

How do you match up to your competition in terms of products, reputation, etc.?

How does the sales team tie into the new product/service development process?

How is research conducted on products, markets, competition, etc.?

Depending on your business, you will need to answer these and many other questions, sometimes in great detail. However, before taking a look at some of these questions in more depth, you should understand your corporate structure and how sales fits into this structure, and also how sales touches the customer.

Where Sales Fits in the Corporate Structure

It is critical that your department's planning process ties in with the overall comporate plan. The corporate plan should also be one where you have some influence, meaning not only does the plan filter down to you from the top, but this bigger plan should also be developed taking into account your guidance in the sales plan and sales forecasting for the future. If not, the corporate expectations are out of touch with your part of the business. This could mean that your team is working toward something that does not match the goals and expectations of the overall business. As importantly, this can have a major effect on the resources and budget you are allocated to generate the desired results.

In order to be an integral player in the corporate-wide planning effort, you need to know the key areas that could affect your team both directly and indirectly. One way to look at the overall role that sales plays in your organization is by looking at your corporate structure.

There has been a long-standing debate about the best fit and reporting structure for sales. Some believe that it is a part of the marketing function, while others say it belongs as a stand-alone unit. The answer is that it really does not matter. What is key is that they collaborate well with one another. Below are a couple of sample corporate reporting structures, one with sales reporting directly to a very senior officer (Figure 3-1) and the other with a senior executive heading up both sales and marketing (Figure 3-2).

Of course, sales not only needs to tie closely in to marketing but also needs to work in tandem with the entire organization. This includes R&D, finance, human resources, manufacturing, customer service, and so on.

Most important, whatever corporate structure you are in, the goal is to serve the customer.

THE CUSTOMER-CENTRIC ORGANIZATION

There are two critical questions that everyone involved in the organization should be able to answer:

What does your company define as a successful customer? What is the desired customer experience?

There has been a great deal of talk over the past couple of decades on how to develop a structure whereby the entire organization is focused on the customer and the customer experience. This is in contrast to the old days, when marketing, sales, and customer service's main focus was in creating demand, selling to, and then satisfying the customers, and others had very little involvement in the process; the back office, with human resources and accounting, was merely there to help ensure that the daily activities and processes were functioning, and they did not readily see any direct or indirect link to the customer. This type of straighforward department layout would look something like the one in Figure 3-3.

While this still has validity and does depict the customer as the central focus of the organization, today a truly customer-focused organization is that much more complex and intertwined with the



Figure 3-1. A corporate structure in which sales and marketing report separately to the COO.



Figure 3-2. A corporate structure in which a senior executive heads up both sales and marketing.

customer, and all parts of the organization are thinking in terms of customer value. This would mean that there are many areas of the organization that do not necessarily have regular direct contact with the customer but are still developing strategies and processes that enhance the customer experience. For example, instead of accounts receivable concentrating on just billing and collections, they might be looking to integrate their information technology systems with that of their counterparts at the customer organization (accounts payable). Therefore, a more complete view of an integrated supplier and customer relationship would look something like Figure 3-4.

Furthermore, since your team is not likely selling directly to the final end-user (business to consumer sales), you could have any number of layers involved in the supply chain that ultimately delivers the final product/service to the consumer. This more stepped approach common to business-to-business sales opens the door to



Figure 3-3. A common approach to the customers.

Adapted from AMA's Advanced Course in Strategic Marketing.

an array of areas in which to integrate your processes. Some major companies, for example, have their processes so refined that everyone involved in the supply chain meets certain standards of quality, communications, technology, and so on. Some of the key benefits to these companies are everything from cost savings to higher profit margins, improved quality, and increased customer satisfaction.

When you think of it in terms of your sales team, there are many ways that a customer-centric organization will have a direct benefit:

• *Better Efficiencies*. Members of both the selling and buying organizations are working in conjunction with one another, communicating and collaborating in the most efficient ways possible.



Figure 3-4. An integrated supplier and customer relationship.

- *Barriers to Entry.* The better your company's processes are working with your customers, the more difficult it is for one of your competitors to come and take away that business.
- Competing on Overall Value (not just price). You are able to compete on many more levels than just price, which then becomes just one factor in the sale as opposed to the main driver.
- Benefits to End-Users. Whoever the final end users are of your product/service, they will benefit from better value, quality,

and service from you and those in your supply chain. They will therefore remain more loyal and become long-term customers.

• *Benefits to You and Your Staff.* All of this will culminate in more sales and profits for your team.

With this understanding of a customer-focused organization and departmental synergies, it is now time to see more definitely how other departments work, and their importance in the sales planning process. Furthermore, you will realize the extent to which they affect your team and its ability to sell.

MARKETING'S RELATIONSHIP TO SALES

Marketing is one such department to understand more in depth. As you saw in the corporate structure, marketing has, or should have, a great deal of interaction with sales. In fact, in order to get a clearer picture of the customer and how to best approach him, you will find that some understanding of marketing is essential. Marketing probably has a greater impact on how your sales team performs and the ability to maximize your team's efforts than any other single department.

Today marketing is much more than just one-way messaging through advertising and direct marketing. In some companies the line between sales and marketing is quite blurred. For example, business development is at times a sales function and other times falls into marketing. Again, it is important to understand each other's roles because the information that you can provide one another is critical toward building each of your department's business plans.

Here are some common similarities as well as differences between sales and marketing (as adapted from *AMA's Advanced Course in Strategic Marketing*) along with some useful integration strategies that can enhance both departments.

The Role of Sales

- Front line with customers.
- Generate orders.
- Short- and medium-range (primary focus).
- Identify and set up key accounts and other account management strategies.
- Build one-to-one business relationships.

The Role of Marketing

- Creates leads for the sales team.
- Develops messaging and brand image.
- Short-, medium-, and long-range.
- Informational and educational.

Of course, this will vary, depending on the organization and types of products/services. For example, a company that sells credit cards will be largely marketing-focused and would probably rely not on field sales representatives, but rather on inside sales and customer service representatives. The marketing department is therefore set up primarily to generate leads for transactional sales. On the other hand, a niche high-end supplier of business software might be very sales-focused. The message might not be as impactful through marketing tools such as direct mail, TV and print ads, the radio, and so on, so the focus and higher departmental budgets would be with the direct sales channels.

Another way to look at this is how some companies are considered either "sales organizations" or "marketing organizations." This is typically due to how large the budget is for sales versus the size of the budget for marketing. Some examples that commonly fall under each category are:

Sales Organizations

Pharmaceuticals Consulting Auto Financial services

Marketing Organizations

Consumer products Travel and leisure Retailers Entertainment

No matter the structure and emphasis, the key again is that sales and marketing must work collaboratively with one another. The information and capabilities that each possess are so important to the other that it's foolish for the two departments to act independently.

In companies where the integration is weak, salespeople often

find that marketing is sending out messages that do not tie in to what they have to sell, or the key benefits are not highlighted properly. At the same time, while sales believes problems or issues exist within marketing, the marketing department likely has its own set of challenges and difficulties when working with sales. For example, it is not uncommon for marketing to feel that many of the leads they acquire through their various campaigns are not properly followed up on.

Therefore, it is incumbent on you now as a manager to try to move everyone toward a more collaborative work environment. Again, most of this can be done by accomplishing one major task sharing of information.

This could mean having your sales force report what customers are saying back to marketing as well as providing competitive information regarding what the sales force is seeing or coming up against in the field. Sales could also provide some of those customer "pain points," or what the customer is really looking for in a product/ service or overall buyer/vendor relationship that is not currently being addressed. Marketing could then more accurately focus its messaging and highlight certain key benefits more clearly.

At the same time, marketing can try to engage the sales force more and reach out to them for ideas for marketing campaigns, bringing them into the creative process early on in its development. Additionally, marketing can be sure to work with sales on all special promotions and keep them apprised of all of the details on any new offerings. Without this information a salesperson can be at a great disadvantage with a new or potential customer.

Furthermore, whether or not your department is structurally intertwined with marketing, you as a sales manager can adapt some core tools from marketing for the planning process. One tool that you are likely familiar with in some form is a SWOT analysis. SWOT stands for Strengths, Weaknesses, Opportunities, and Threats.

A SWOT analysis is a basic tool for planning that a sales manager can utilize in many ways:

Strengths	Weaknesses
Opportunities	Threats

By filling in what falls into each of the four areas, you can gauge in broad terms where you stand in whatever category you choose to analyze. You can conduct this type of analysis on many areas that relate to both your company and sales team.

Things to consider for a SWOT analysis include:

- Current products and services
- Potential new products and services
- Brand image
- Pricing strategy
- Competition
- Experience of sales team members
- Reputation in the industry
- Market share
- Training needs
- Service/maintenence capabilities

It is also helpful when plotting the above to think of internal factors such as new products and services as either a strength or weakness, whereas external factors such as competition and regulation fit into the categories of either opportunities or threats. Furthermore, the phrase *environmental scan* is a concept similar to the external factors piece of a SWOT analysis (i.e., you scan the external environment and see what is affecting your business). This type of analysis can be as general or detailed as necessary. For example, you can look at the competition even more precisely through an analysis from the perspective of each of your competitors; or you can analyze the strengths and weaknesses of each individual team member at a very granular level.

Another tool you could adapt from marketing would relate to ways to more precisely look at your products and markets. For example, you would look at each of your product lines, and determine its relative strength in the industry. Then you can compare that to the markets you are currently in along with what markets it might pay to try to break into.

Troduce Warkee / Wary 515			
Product Line	\boldsymbol{A}	В	С
Penetration (Existing Markets):	8	4	6
Potential (Existing Markets):	5	6	2
Potential (New Markets):	2	3	9
Total:	15	13	17

Product/Market Analysis
In the above example, on a scale of 1 to 10 (1 being weak and 10 being strong), Product A has a high level of penetration in its existing markets, a medium level of upside potential in existing markets, and very little potential to spread out this product line into new markets. Of course, you can get into more and more detail with something like this; for example, looking separately at each product within a product line.

Another tool adapted from marketing would be something to help you to analyze your competitive landscape. Here you could look at all of your products and services and then score them versus your competition, in order to see how you stack up.

Product/Service	Your Company	Competitor X	Competitor Y
А	8	2	3
В	6	3	2
С	0 *	8	3
D	1	7	8
E	5	3	6
F	10	8	0
Total:	30	31	22

Competitive Pro	duct/Service	Analysis:
-----------------	--------------	-----------

*A zero would mean that you do not currently carry or compete with this product/service.

You can then analyze where you rank with each product against each competitor. For example, you are strong in Product A and weak in Product D. Here again you can get more detailed and might even wish to weight each product based on one or more factors (e.g., revenues, profits, core competency, etc.).

Another result that could come out of these kinds of analyses is that you might find that there are certain markets not worth competing in or products that you do not wish to carry. This might be the case in product lines where you have almost no presence (Products C and D), and it would be too costly or out of your core compentency to truly compete. A better strategy might be to partner with certain competitors in order to stengthen both of your positions against other competition.

Another function that typically falls into marketing is market research. You likely have some familiarity with market research through surveys or questionnaires (at least from having taken them over the years). However, market research is much broader and is a

60

responsibility of every sales manager, whether you conduct the research directly or others provide you with this service.

Besides surveys, other typical market research techniques are focus groups and observational research. Focus groups are a group of participants that share a common element that will enable the selling organization to gauge their interest in the company itself, an existing product, a new product idea, and so on. Observational research is just like it sounds—researchers observe a customer using a product or service and see how they react with it (e.g., how they open the product, how they use/interact with the product, etc.).

These three techniques (surveys, focus groups, and observational research) are what many think of as the main tools to conduct research. But these techniques are only one form, called Primary Research. These three types of primary research involve collecting new information from the customer in some way. Secondary research is the other major form of market research. This type of research includes all of the information you already possess but that has not yet been formulated. Once it is, however, a great deal of analysis can be done. Some areas that fit into the category of secondary research are:

- Sales growth (or decline)
- Customer geographic distribution
- Percentage of sales of newly launched products versus core products
- Industry growth
- Product or service growth

This is information that you either can readily get or can utilize others to help put together. You can then interpret it and incorporate the findings as needed in your planning process. The range of resources for secondary research is anything from your own records to departmental and company (internal) records, as well as through external resources (e.g., D&B, industry trade associations, Department of Commerce, etc.). Of course the key is to get the information in such a way that it can be analyzed. Another useful research component is other researchers' reports or survey findings that you are able to purchase or get for free.

The next two areas to understand, which are very intertwined

with marketing (as well as other departments), are new product/ service development and pricing strategies.

Depending on the organization, new product/service development could be closely tied to sales, marketing, R&D, engineering, manufacturing, or any combination of these. The idea is to bring about new products/services or new features that will generate increased sales and profits. Since you are a sales manager, your input as well as that of your team is invaluable. After all, who has their ear closer to the customer than the sales force? It is imperative that you have some processes in place to funnel this information. Whether it be a structured, rigorous one or more ad hoc, it needs to get done. This helps to avoid finger pointing later on as to why a product was developed in a certain way.

A typical new product development process encompasses everything from generating ideas for new products to the launching and postlaunch refining or changes. To put into perspective the process and how it further relates to your sales department, your team's input will be not only important in the idea stage but also in the testing of the products. After all, before the launch the products will need to get tested, and who else are they tested on but your customers?

Pricing decisions are also tied in closely to new products and services, and can reside in any one or more department(s). Pricing strategies can therefore greatly vary from organization to organization and industry to industry. Of course, they should always keep in mind the end-user. As it relates to your sales department process, the pricing strategy will be very instrumental in helping you achieve your goals. Pricing often includes very senior-level officers who help to set the big-picture pricing strategy (price structure), and then individual pricing decisions can be made to fit within the structure. Furthermore, a great number of factors, both internal and external, will impact how your company makes pricing decisions.

Here are some key areas that will play a role in pricing decisions (adapted from AMA's Advanced Course in Strategic Marketing).

External

- The economy.
- Demand for your types of products and services.
- Competitions—are you the only game in town or do you have many competitors with similar products and services?

- Are you in a commodity or premium products type of business/industry?
- Government and other regulations.

Internal

- Pricing structure—what is your cost of goods sold, fixed costs, variable costs, etc.?
- Are you a public or private company (i.e., who are your shareholders, and what is your strategy for increasing their value)?
- What is your company's brand recognition and reputation?
- What are your channels of distribution (manufacturer, distributor or wholesaler, direct to consumer, etc.)?
- What is your mix of sales vehicles (field sales, inside sales, telemarketing, on-line sales, etc.)?
- What types of sales do you do (transactional, long-term, reorder/replenish)?
- Do you deal with government contracts and bidding, requests for proposals (RFPs), global sales (letters of credit, foreign exchange risk, etc.)?

You will need to take into account many of the above questions when making pricing decisions. Here again the internal players and their input in the process will vary depending on many of the answers to these questions. For example, in the credit card example given previously, the pricing decisions might be primarily driven by the marketing department. However, in the niche high-end software example, pricing might be more determined by the sales department, with others such as marketing, finance, and R&D giving their necessary contributions.

Now that you have some of the foundational elements and tools to consider when initiating the planning process as well as an understanding of the key players and departments involved, it is time to take a look at the structure of a plan.

CREATING A PLAN

A reassuring thought when beginning the process is that for every hour spent planning, many hours of inefficient activity can be avoided. Furthermore, taking this time and initiative to develop and implement a well-thought-out plan will have a great deal of other benefits for you as a sales manager. It will allow you to:

- 1. Set priorities and allocate resources, ensuring that time and resources are spent on accomplishing goals that are agreed upon and shared by all necessary stakeholders.
- 2. Develop strong internal and external partnerships for sharing information and resources, and promoting new and improved business practices.
- 3. Have a predictable budgeting process, whereby expenses, revenues, and income are planned for in advance, and adjusted as necessary.
- 4. Create team stability that allows for continuous and progressive growth of your staff.

CHARACTERISTICS OF A GOOD PLAN

A good plan requires the following elements:

- Vision
- Mission
- Goals and objectives
- Strategies and tactics

This is a very common-type structure that is used in strategic planning. Your company is likely already involved at the higher levels in planning and therefore utilizes this type of planning framework or something similar. Other types of building blocks for strategic planning include issues-based planning, by which the planning process begins by looking at issues that the organization faces and then develops strategies to resolve these issues and ways to improve the organization. Whatever the specific planning model looks like, the key is that you work with all the necessary stakeholders to build from the corporate plan a sales plan, with the end result being improved corporate, departmental, and individual performance.

Also, your company likely has a schedule for their strategic planning and some sort of process, be it formal or more ad hoc, in place. Typically it is a historical practice and one that is often determined by the industry you are in. For example, in some slower-growth, mature industries the corporate planning process can take place annually. However, with fast-moving high-growth industries, corporate planning can take place two times a year. Your sales department will need to tie into this large plan as well, but keep in mind that you might have many more specifics that relate to much shorter time periods, such as quarterly, monthly, and so on.

The Vision Statement

Long-range corporate plans require a target called a vision statement. In most cases, you will find that your company has a thoughtout vision and might even communicate this internally and possibly externally through any number of vehicles (intranet, Web site, newsletters, press releases, annual reports, etc.). A vision statement answers the question, "How is the company's mission [to be looked at in a moment] to be served in the future?"

A vision statement should both inspire and guide. It must balance aspiration with realistic insights into future potential. In order to guide, the vision statement must capture what is unique about the company and what will continue to be unique about it in the future.

Some like to look at the vision as the "stretch" goal for the organization. For example, what is possible if all aspects of the corporate plan come together consistently and all goals are reached over a sustained period of time (e.g., at least three years)? If this happens would you be satisfied achieving the vision you have in place? If so, then your vision is likely on target. If not, you likely have not aspired enough in your vision. One very simple way to think of it is "No pain, no gain!"

The irony is that despite all its importance, the vision should be summed up in only a very short statement—usually one quick succinct sentence.

The Mission Statement

The mission is the main purpose for conducting business activities. It is a compass that gives the direction to stay the course. Like the vision statement, it is likely already communicated to various stakeholders through any number of methods. It is a tool frequently used for corporate, departmental, and individual motivation. The mission statement, more so even than the vision statement, is written not only for employees, but also for customers and often stockholders. Since it is a core, rallying cry used to unite a company, it is often printed on business cards, posted about the offices, and used in marketing literature.

Also, while the mission statement should carry a great deal of weight, and receive buy-in across the organization, like the vision statement, it is also a short precise statement, typically one sentence in length.

The company's mission statement can then be broken down by department. The mission statement for each department within the corporate structure needs to be personalized by the manager for that area of responsibility. By reframing the definition of a mission statement, the process becomes definable.

Corporate-Level Mission

A corporate mission statement should answer the following types of broader questions:

Why does this entity exist?

What is the company's impact on society (local, national, international)?

As a sales manager, you will not likely play a large role in developing a corporate mission. In fact, it is probably already in place and only changes if there is a major corporate directional shift. Most companies, for example, have the same mission for ten years are more. However, on a departmental and team level, you can have some or even a great deal of input.

Division- or Department-Level Mission

Of course the mission for a division or department needs to align with the larger corporate mission. This more specific mission is what others would ideally say about the people in the division and the manner in which business is conducted.

It would answer the following types of questions:

Why does this department exist? What is the department's impact on the company? What is the department's impact on customers? Who (in general terms) are its customers? What (in general terms) are the products/services it provides?

It is also a good idea to include something about the employees, answering the question, how does the department take its employ-

ees into account? After all, it is the employees who need to buy into the mission.

You should find that everything in the plan needs to tie back into the corporate and departmental mission statements.

Goals

The mission statement is the overall direction. Goals are the mandatory, shorter-term direction to move toward the mission. In its most basic sense, the goals are what needs to be accomplished.

A plan should take into account three main types of goals. Some goals are *corporate goals*, which will be driven by the corporate mandate such as the dollar volume.

A *departmental goal*, on the other hand, might deal with targeting a new market or introducing a new product/service to specific accounts.

The third type of goal is a *personal business goal*. Personal goals include activities that go beyond the corporate and departmental dictates. A personal business goal might have to do with learning a new computer program for making presentations.

Some would even include a fourth type of goal, *personal goals*. When thinking of this in business terms, it might include working toward an advanced degree or a certification that might not tie in directly to your business responsibilities but is still something that you value, and at the same time, your company sees as something that helps you to build your character.

Regardless of the types of goals you are establishing, the goals must always be SMART:

Specific Measurable Attainable Relevant Timely

While this is a very common acronym, it is a very important one. In some descriptions, some of the letters represent different words, but the meaning is still similar. (*Achievable* is sometimes used instead of *Attainable*, or *Realistic* instead of *Relevant*.)

Specific goals are definable. There are no gray areas or room for

interpretation. All words used are concrete in nature; for example, a specific goal is a 25 percent increase in telesales calls this quarter over the same quarter last year. Relative terminology cannot be used in goal setting; "make more productive prospecting calls" is a goal that uses relative terms. What is more productive to you is not necessarily more productive to someone else.

Measurable goals have a beginning and an end. Therefore, at the end of a specific time, it will be obvious whether the goal has been reached. If the goal was missed, you will know the shortfall. If the goal was exceeded, the measurement will indicate the exact overage.

Attainable goals are real-world goals that push the comfort zone outward. Some people set goals too high and actually set themselves up for failure. Other people set goals too low because they do not want to overextend or necessarily push themselves. Attainable goals are balanced and meant to be challenging.

Relevant goals are directly related to the mission and have meaning. If the goal does not mean anything, the intensity may be low and the dedication to the goal lacking. Also, if certain goals are relevant and others are not, the associated work will be scattered and not necessarily benefit the company as a whole.

Timely goals could be measured at checkpoints along the way (say every thirty or sixty days) or have one fixed time for completion (by the end of the third quarter). This will vary depending on many factors, including the fact that "importance" should greatly affect timeliness. For example, if a project needs to be done in the next ninety days in order to secure a contract that will increase profitability by 6 percent, then the timeline should reflect this. What priorities you have set up will be key to making the plan effective.

Objectives in many cases are a subset of goals—your goals broken down into more specifics. Some like to use goals as something that all departments are working toward, whereas objectives are more department-specific. Like goals, objectives need to have the SMART elements. Also, certain objectives can apply to more than one goal. Typically they work in tandem with outcomes—those results, or lack of, that tell you whether or not you achieved your objective(s). For example, after you list a goal and then the associated objectives for the goal, at some point in time you need to verify the outcome that was either obtained or not and when. Strategies and Tactics

In order to achieve your goals and objectives a plan must incorporate the necessary strategies and tactics. Specific activities will always be necessary to move you forward. In this section you identify the strategies necessary and then the specific tactics or tasks for which to accomplish your identified SMART goals and objectives.

The specifics areas to include in this part of the plan are:

Action Items

This is your road map for how you are going to get something achieved.

List the actions that need to happen. By listing every action item, focus can be maintained, and productive communications can be established. Keeping a list also allows you the opportunity to have a log that you can see and check items off as they are completed.

Responsibilities

This should answer the question of who is required to carry out a certain part of the plan. After overall responsibilities have been identified, determine who needs to do which task. Think about what assistance is required from others within the company to fulfill the necessary steps. Make sure the people in the other departments involved are fully aware of their part in the plan. Once people have committed to certain responsibilities, follow up to make sure they have the resources needed to accomplish their part.

Tracking

This tells you when parts of the plan are to be completed. Establish a realistic forecast. Think of a time frame that allows all involved parties enough time to complete their responsibilities. Keep company deadlines in mind. Set scheduled start and completion dates. Define checkpoints that will determine progress. Make sure the plan stays on track. If the schedule gets off track, the plan may also.

Flexibility

Allowing for some flexibility will better your chances of not getting caught off guard when there are minor changes or challenges to the set plan. It is important to allow your plan to be flexible. Allow for juggling people or responsibilities if necessary. Try to stay on track as best as possible, but don't be surprised when unexpected things happen.

CONTINUOUS PLANNING

Continuous planning takes into account not only the need for dayto-day flexibility but the fact that in today's extemely competitive and fast-moving environment, trying to adhere too strictly to a plan, whether short-, medium-, or long-term, can often lead to dissappointment.

For example, no matter how much competitive research and intelligence you have conducted, there is always the unknown. Who would have guessed ten years ago that the Internet and e-mail would have been what they are today? Only a few of the pioneers in this category, and not even they could have foreseen the explosive growth.

It is therefore imperative that, whether your planning process takes place one or more times a year, your team (and hopefully others in your organization) recognize that planning is meant to focus and give direction and should not be so rigid as to hold you back.

In essence, what you should really be asking during the planning process is the following:

Who? What? When? Where? Why? How?

If you are able to answer these, you will have a successful plan that takes into account the realities of your business and the environment in which it operates.

Assessing the Business

The planning process described above still needs a starting point. You can't just start off planning without having a baseline. This is

Sales Planning

where assessing the business, again bridging corporate and departmental areas, comes into play. In other words, what is the business environment today in which your company and your team are operating?

While you are not involved in all aspects of the corporate assessment, certain key information undoubtedly will affect your department, and the knowledge of this will be helpful in developing your own strategies.

For example:

- If it is a public company, how is it faring in the markets?
- Are you meeting the numbers projected for the shareholders and other stakeholders?
- Is your company in a hiring mode, hiring freeze, or down-sizing?
- Are you and/or any of your competitors involved in a merger or acquisition?
- What types of information is your company sharing with you regarding future planning?

In the absence of strict facts you might also need to make certain assumptions. For example:

- A defective product line has created a media frenzy and will continue to challenge your company's reputation for an unspecified period of time.
- X competitor just announced a new CEO, and, judging by her prior track record, she will likely initiate a pricing war.
- Interest rate hikes could likely benefit your overall business in the coming months.

As we mentioned earlier, planning can be initiated in various ways. Before you are able to fully conduct an assessment of your business, you should also understand the basics of decision making. Decision making typically follows a logical model or sequence of events. This includes:

- Defining the problem(s)
- Gathering and analyzing the pertinent facts
- Looking at the options available and weighing those options against one another

- Selecting the appropriate option based on the information at hand
- Implementing that option
- Evaluating the results (a final step would be to use that feedback as input for subsequent decisions)

Brainstorming is one way to get discussions going and gather information for decision making. There are many types of brainstorming, some more formal and others more ad hoc. Some of the keys to productive brainstorming sessions include these:

- Let all voices be heard.
- Don't get bogged down in minor details.
- Use a facilitator if necessary.
- Make sure all necessary stakeholders are present.

Most important in decision making is to have an atmosphere whereby you arrive at a true consensus. This means that the highestranking officer in the room does not make the decision for everyone. Of course, it is often the responsibility of the most senior-level person to have the final say, but it should be based on information that has been carefully analyzed first. In some group settings a voting process can help to eliminate this concern.

Thus far you have seen tools like the SWOT analysis, product/ market analysis, competitive product/service analysis, and market research. These are all tools that could give you needed input for your plan. Also, as you saw, these are often cross-functional tools or ones that reside in another department altogether. It is therefore important to identify all of these other stakeholders and departments to be sure the necessary players are involved to help make accurate business assessments.

Some of the key categories of stakeholders are:

Your company management—CEO, president, SVP, COO, VP of sales and marketing, etc.

Other sales managers (your peers)

Your sales team—those you manage such as sales representatives (in-house and/or independent), field and/or telesales people, customer service representatives, sales coordinators, etc.

Sales Planning

Other department managers and key personnel—marketers, engineers, call center managers, accountants, human resources professionals, etc.

Customers at all levels, including the senior managers, buyers, purchasing agents, buying assistants, etc.

Benchmarking

Another useful tool in assessing your business is benchmarking. Benchmarking is really a tool for making comparisons of any sort. Benchmarking can be conducted on anything from internal processes to the competition or the industry. It is a great tool for looking at current or past results and being able to compare them with the future. Benchmarking allows you to measure and then analyze the appropriate data to make decisions for improvements going forward. The areas you can benchmark are endless.

Internal benchmarking is used to measure against other departments or to get a baseline to then compare progress. It could include:

Product and/or service satisfaction levels Number of complaints Number of defects Employee satisfaction

External benchmarking would look at similar processes or departments within your competitors' organizations as well as best practices in the industry. Some examples are:

Customer service levels Market share Return on investment The sales process New product development process

Each of these could of course be broken down in smaller parts. For example, employee satisfaction could break down into morale, job security, and opportunities for advancement. Once again, many of these categories for which you can engage in benchmarking will not reside fully in your department. However, they could be of enormous benefit to you and your sales team as you set strategies going forward. For example, your sales team could be out selling a new product that offers first-of-its-kind features, yet production is way behind. Benchmarking can help you and your organization see what processes internally are working best and to then transfer that knowledge to other departments. You can also look to the outside for best practices in different industries as well as processes within companies in such areas as new product development or supply chain management.

This knowledge would help to give direction to those involved so that production times can improve and customer satisfaction increases.

Conducting business planning is a complex area. The types of tools that are used and the process it can follow vary greatly. By utilizing your enhanced communication skills you can more effectively work with your team, others in the organization, and outside stakeholders to gather the necessary information in order to plan for today and tomorrow.

In the next chapter, you will look at one of the most challenging areas for the new and veteran sales manager alike. It is also a key factor in the success of you and your team. While in many respects it is a specific piece of sales planning, it also has many more implications and carries with it other long- and short-term implications. It is the area of territory planning and sales forecasting. However, before delving into this critical topic, you will first need to fully grasp the importance of managing your time.

TIME MANAGEMENT, TERRITORY PLANNING, AND Sales Forecasting

In order to truly gauge your sales team today and where it is heading tomorrow, you will need to have a full understanding of your sales staff and their accounts. Territory planning is a critical area for your team as well as for you in order to manage for the right results.

Here, once again, many skills will be necessary for both you and your staff. None is more important than time management.

TIME MANAGEMENT

Since account planning plays such an important role in sales, it should only be with the right skills and mind-set that the team goes into this process. Time management is most critical. Think of time management as being to territory planning what listening skills are to communication. In other words, you cannot even attempt to realistically, let alone strategically, analyze your accounts without understanding the value of time. What also makes time management so important is that it so often ranks as one of the poorest skills of not only salespeople but also managers.

In order to best maximize your use of time, there is a critical starting point—desire. By wanting to manage your time more effec-

tively, you will be able to bring many of the tools and techniques to follow into your repertoire. The good news is that since you are embarking on a new journey as a sales manager, you are in the position to have a fresh start.

Your time is affected by many influences:

- Corporate demands (senior management)
- Your manager's demands
- Your sales team's demands
- Other departments' demands
- Customers' demands
- Your family and friends' demands
- Other personal demands

What you should notice is that these are all based on the demands from others of you. This is commonly how we think of the forces that affect our time. However, if you look at them differently, in terms of your demands of others and your demands of yourself, you could begin to see time in a different way. In a moment you will see more relating to "Your Demands of Others." The latter, "Your Demands of Yourself," relate to where you are today and where do you want go tomorrow.

Looking back at the influences on your time, you will see that values come into the picture. For example, values can range from very "big picture" lifestyle areas such as, are you the type of person who values work above all else? Or is it family? Or is it a combination of the two, etc.? Values can also be as specific as do you value eating a sit-down lunch versus working right through lunch? Some people like to relate values to attitude. What is your attitude toward time? What is important to you might not be important to someone else. Typically a value is something that is more of a belief that you possess about something and whether or not it is right or wrong, at least as it relates to you and your life.

A good exercise to help you to sort through some of these questions would be to have a basic personal strategic plan done for yourself. This could include areas such as—Where are you today? Where do you want to be in the next three months, two years, five years, etc.? You could break down the categories into work, family and friends, sports and recreation, hobbies, volunteering, etc. How detailed you get is entirely up to you. While this seems like a very basic exercise, it is helpful to put into words some of the thoughts you have circulating about. Also, you will be surprised to see how this can change over the years due to age and circumstances, so this is something you should look at periodically.

Once you have a better understanding of what value you place on time and how you would like to spend it, you are able to work on some techniques to improve your time management. Below are some basics that you need to be comfortable with first:

- Make a daily to-do list.
- Organize your paperwork and projects and rank them by priority (A, B, C, or 1, 2, 3).
- Break down large projects into smaller parts.
- Set aside certain times during the day to check e-mail and phone messages.
- Set aside time for just yourself (quiet time).

If you are not versed and comfortable with all of these or have questions as to how to implement them, you might want to look at any number of time management articles, books, or training out there that cover a lot of these fundamental skills.

As a manager, you now have a whole new complex set of time management challenges. This is where that whole notion of "demands" from others of you could start to become all-consuming. When you were in sales, those "others" were a different set of people than you now face as a manager. Now you have a team of people who are looking to you for answers. And you can't just tell them, sorry, but I don't have the time.

You should first look at breaking your time down into the appropriate categories that match your new responsibilities and priorities, which could include:

Customer visits (joint calls or your own customers) Time for your staff Time to write your reports for your manager(s) Time to review reports from your team Time for planning Time for yourself

You could then estimate how much of your time each day should be dedicated to each. Of course, exceptions can be made-

for example, when you are on an extended business trip. However, you will find that even on the road you can keep to some of the time frames you have identified.

A good exercise is to, over the course of a week, keep a log or journal of where and on what your time is spent doing. Then you can see how close to plan you actually are or how much help and practice you need in this area.

After you have identified where your time is currently being spent and where you want to be, it is time to close any gaps.

Before getting into some additional time management tools that relate to your new job as a manager, you should understand that any problem or political situation is that much more delicate as you move up the corporate ladder. Also, realize that such issues as customer emergencies, corporate infighting, and a whining staff member comes with the position—to a point.

Drop-Ins

There are many types of office drop-ins. Some examples are:

- 1. Your manager needs you for something.
- 2. One of your salespeople is having a customer crisis.
- 3. One of your colleagues is looking to talk about the game or TV show last night.

While your initial reaction might be that one and two require your immediate attention and that number three is the only unproductive use of your time, the reality is that all three might be unproductive at this moment. Remember, you have set up goals and objectives in the planning process, and you need to make sure you are doing the appropriate activities to meet or exceed them.

This is not to say that at times your manager and staff do not require your immediate attention; they very well might. Just make sure you are asking yourself the question, how important is this versus what you are currently working on? And if you are practicing sound time management principles, what you are already working on might be of too high a priority. If that is the case, you need to be honest and then set up a mutually agreeable time to discuss the issue with them. A useful way to think of this is that if you put too many things into the funnel, you create a bottleneck, where nothing can get done. When that happens, everyone loses, including you, your manager, your staff, and the customer.

This thinking holds true for those so-called fires that need to be put out and what can be termed "Project of the Week." Both usually start off small and then seem to take on a life of their own. Some call this "Scope Creep," where the scope of your work seems to keep creeping up, or getting larger.

Putting Out Fires

This could involve anyone from an employee to your managers to a customer or other stakeholder. This is likely not a real fire nor or anything close to it. Assuming it is not a real emergency, remember, just because others are overreacting, you do not have to do the same. Panic can be contagious, and therefore counterproductive to all those involved. In fact, if others see you as too excitable, it usually will tarnish rather than build up your reputation. And remember, so-called fires can be thought of in terms of your plan and where they fit into it.

Other Projects

Often other projects will come up that don't take into account your time and priorities. Even if they are worthwhile, you may need to give some pushback. Again, the key here is to be truthful. Express to those involved that while it might have its merits, it will be setting you back in your other work. When these projects come up, you should talk to your manager and others involved to see what takes priority. Then you will hopefully be able to reduce the scope of work to something that is more manageable.

With all of this knowledge, keeping everything in perspective is still key. There will always be strategic projects outside of the realm of everyday that you will need to work on. You need to determine how each challenge and opportunity fits into your personal strategic plan. And when you do get more involved, especially in high-visibility assignments, look at them as exciting opportunities to let yourself shine as a new manager. Remember that similar to you, others have their own plans and certain priorities that, while not as blatantly evident to you, could be very important to someone else.

The Art of Delegating

So far you have looked at many of the responsibilities of a manager and ways to manage time more effectively to succeed at your new role. So much is expected of you, yet how can one person possibly fulfill the functions of a manager and still develop new ideas for growth? This is where the need to delegate becomes vital to your new career.

Delegation is something that you need to embrace. At first, many fear using it, believing that it creates tension between you and others. However, if done correctly, not only is it a tool to manage your time, but it can also help you to forge better working relationships and build up your staff as well as your own career.

Delegation is in many ways synonymous with Time Management. However, it is really a part or subset of time management that requires a great deal of attention. The following are some typical warning signs of someone who lacks sound delegation skills:

- Regularly taking work home
- Regularly working overtime
- Work not getting done when you are away
- Major aspects of the operation known only to you
- Your staff and others coming to you for most decisions, even on minor things

Now some of these are not always an accurate sign of lack of delegation skills. For example, working overtime could be something that you would like to do regardless (i.e., favoring work over personal time). However, whether or not you choose to bring work home or to spend your weekends playing tennis, there is always more of the "appropriate" or strategic type of delegating that can be done.

A major mistake of new, and even veteran, managers is to try and hold on to as many job-related functions as possible. This could be out of insecurity, believing that the more you have on your plate, the more job security you have. The other reason for this is that many managers feel that it is either too difficult to explain or that others are not as qualified or lack the competencies to get it done.

Well, the reality is that you are only as good as your team. If you feel that the team members are not able to perform a wide array of tasks, then there is in inherent problem—either in your thinking or that of the staff. Since the staff is not changing overnight, and you likely have some very talented team members, you should challenge yourself to not hold on to the reins too tightly. The objective is to get the team functioning well and producing results. Your job is to get roadblocks out of the way of the salespeople.

Delegation has several benefits, of course, one being that it gets the task complete. However, the other key benefit is that it helps both you and others grow. All in all, when done properly, delegating can:

- Lighten the manager's workload.
- Develop organizational efficiency.
- Provide a growth environment.
- Allow the manager to focus on other strategies.

Delegation benefits your employees as well, especially in terms of job enlargement and job enrichment.

Job Enlargement

The objective of job enlargement is to extend the duties that the employee handles. Keep in mind the limits that one person can do without feeling over worked. Once the person becomes proficient at these new tasks, you can expand their duties into other areas.

Job Enrichment

Assigning new responsibilities is the key to job enrichment. This should mean not just tedious work, but work where there is a defined purpose. If done well, self-esteem and confidence will build as people take on more responsibility and are successful at completing this work.

In Chapter 2, on communication, you saw the four types of communication styles. You have your main style(s), and certain characteristics are present to varying degrees. As a delegator, you need to think in terms of your style as well as others', to be sure that you use delegating properly, so something that should be a positive does not become a negative for those involved.

For example, as a Directing-style manager, you might have the tendency not to delegate because of how you view time. It is easier

to just do it than explain it. Also, when delegating, this type of manager might be rushed and even vague in explaining the task, leaving the employee to fill in too many gaps.

Couple this with the need to think in terms of the style(s) of the salesperson or other staff member to whom you are delegating. For example, when delegating to a Directing style, you might want to start with the goal. If they have questions, they are typically not afraid to ask. Also, be sure to establish boundaries with the delegation. Directing styles might want to take authority beyond the boundaries of what is being delegated to then.

Another example would be that of a Supportive-style manager. This is the type of manager who tends to be a team player and might feel uncomfortable delegating too much. She will therefore hold back on a great deal of the necessary information. The employee will then need to check in more often than would be needed, eventually getting enough information to complete the task.

At the same time, a Supportive style employee will want to see how the task being delegated fits into the overall strategy. They want to know how their efforts are supporting the team or company. They might actually prefer getting the tasks piece by piece instead of all at once. This way they feel more connected to the work and the outcomes.

Of course, there are things to keep in mind for each of the DISC patterns. Odds are that it will not be a Directing style delegating to another Directing style. It could be any combination of patterns and intensity of styles. So the more practice you have in communication styles in general, the better you can become at delegating.

Tasks That Can Be Delegated

The general rule is that any goal that is SMART can be delegated. Some additional considerations for delegating are:

- Those which are closely related to tasks that your team is already performing
- Tasks that are clearly defined through procedures and end results
- Tasks that are repetitive and that could be made a part of the normal work flow
- Tasks that enable your team members to develop personally or professionally

Tasks That May Not Be Delegated

Any goal that requires a judgment call on the manager's part cannot be delegated.

- Tasks of a highly sensitive nature (e.g., salary reviews, discipline)
- Tasks involving the settling of conflicts among workers
- Tasks involving confidential data (e.g., payroll)
- Tasks that are not clearly defined, or about which uncertainty exists

Some General Do's and Don'ts of Delegation

Accept the concept of delegation.

Delegation is not merely desirable; it is necessary for successful sales operations.

Specify goals and objectives.

Besides SMART, you can think of this in terms of the 5 W's and "How." Once specified, everyone involved knows their responsibilities.

Know your staff's capabilities.

If you have an understanding of your workload as well as that of your staff, you can delegate accordingly. Do not overload them.

Agree on Performance Standards

It is important that you and your staff agree on the standards against which their performance will be measured.

Provide Training

Delegating is more than simply turning tasks over to others. Coaching or training may be needed to ensure success.

Take an Interest

A manager who really cares about the delegated tasks will take the trouble to find out how the task is progressing, without looking over someone else's shoulders.

Give Appropriate Rewards

An employee who successfully completes a delegated assignment deserves recognition and praise.

What if you get pushback? If you are getting resistance it could require addressing the task being delegated and either modifying or reconsidering it. Pushback can also be indicative of a larger problem. For example, a staff member with great computer skills might feel that you are asking him to develop more and more reports and spreadsheets, and not balancing the workload with other team members. Falling into this trap is common when someone possesses a certain skill that is important to the task. Think before you delegate; you don't want to take make a star performer resentful and feel like you are taking his time away from generating more business.

Also, keep in mind that speaking the truth about the task you are delegating is important. For example, if it is an administrative activity that simply needs to get done, then say so. If it is something that could help the team overall (i.e. with morale, a new process, streamlining, etc.), then let them know that. If it is something that is asked of you from your managers, let them know that as well.

When there is a lack of communication, or details left out between you and your staff, they are likely already picking up on that. Also, always try to remember that the same challenges that you have when being delegated to by others, your sales staff could be facing as well, so be understanding and empathize.

"Delegating Up"

Just like you need to manage your manager's expectations and work well with him or her, there are times that you will need to delegate up. This could mean delegating something to your direct manager or to someone in senior management, including even your CEO. While this may seem awkward at first, it is not much different than any other type of delegating. Of course, you can only delegate things that fall primarily in their domain, and they should not be administrative tasks. That said, if you do not have your own administrative person and can utilize the administrative skills of others to some extent, then more power to you. This, of course, needs to be approached with caution, but if done correctly, it could actually raise your visibility and enable you a chance to interact more with various high-level officers in your company. You are likely being demanded of and delegated to by your manager, your peers, your sales team members, and customers. The time management tips provided in this chapter will have provided you with some ways to cope with unnecessary tasks and burdens placed on you as well as determining what is appropriate to take on and to what extent. Remember, the goal is to be able to properly manage your time in order to increase the productivity of yourself and your team. And again be conscious of your staff and make sure you are making the delegated task as achievable as possible for them. They, like you, have their own attitudes and values as it relates to the use of their time.

The other major reason to understand and improve time management skills is that it has been found to be one of the major differentiators between top-producing and low-producing sales professionals. Since one of your core responsibilities as a sales manager is to increase the productivity of your sales team, then by helping them manage their own time you have a great head start.

As we look at territory planning, you should see many ways to tie in time management with the managing of accounts. This might include anything from identifying sound prospects early on in the process, before too much time is expended on them, to looking at low-producing accounts and limiting your time with them, and possibly even dropping them.

SALES TERRITORY PLANNING

You could be in any number of industries and have a wide array of sales channels that you use. This might range anywhere from field and inside sales (telesales) to distributors and independent reps (those who do not work directly for your company and are typically paid on a commission-only basis). Furthermore, your customer service personnel might be more engaged in upselling rather than just handling transactions and troubleshooting.

Next, your accounts could vary from small mom-and-pops to global 100 companies. You could also be selling to different business units within the same company or to different locations or buying offices. Finally, you might be selling to multinationals or global accounts.

As such, there could be any number of ways to combine and integrate the different sales channels. Furthermore, determining

who sells what to who (commonly called the sales territory) can be done in various ways. Some of the more common forms are by:

Geography: By state, Zip code, region of the country, etc.

Industry: Selling to telecoms, pharmaceuticals, financial services, etc.

Product Lines: Selling X, Y, or Z products

Alphabetical: Assigning specific letters (A-F, G-L, etc.) to salespeople (not very common)

First to Initiate: Once you begin contacting an account, they are assigned to you (also not very common and difficult to manage)

Other unique situations:

Major Accounts: Separating accounts over X size or revenue potential into a separate account management structure

Global Accounts: Separating those global accounts into a separate structure

Team Selling

Most companies, especially midsize to large, will opt to use a combination of sales territory and account management strategies. Whatever the scenario, your role as a manager could again also vary from pure managing of your sales staff to actively managing your own set of accounts.

Team selling is very common today. Many salespeople are not expected to handle every part of the sales process, from initiating the sale to implementing a solution, training, and account maintenance. Therefore, team selling could be configured in many different ways depending on the industry, sales organization, and customer. For example, in many highly technical industries there are likely technical salespeople (some might even be engineers) who are part of the sales team. In other industries, such as consulting, it is common to have a sales representative who cultivated the business, and then an account manager, who takes over the ongoing day-to-day business with the account.

Ranking Current and New Accounts

Most salespeople, along with their managers, use some type of a system to analyze their current accounts and prospects for new business. In trying to identify and categorize accounts, it would be too cumbersome to constantly use words like "current business account" and "potential new customers." What you are looking to do is rank customer and prospects based on their value moving forward. This way, time, money, and resources can be dedicated to accounts with the greatest value to your organization. Furthermore, it puts everyone on the same page (you, the salesperson, your managers, other sales-related personnel, etc.) so that salespeople are not out there haphazardly calling on customers without the right direction and support of others.

You have the option to use any one of several types of ranking systems to determine where to maintain your focus. You likely have been exposed to or created some type of system that uses numbers (level 1,2,3), letters (A, B, C), words (Diamond, Gold, Silver, Bronze), and so on.

However, the important question is not what symbolizes their rank, but how to decide who belongs where. After all, depending on your industry, you could have in your territory anywhere from one account to hundreds of customers and/or prospects. The reassuring news is that it is really not all that difficult to prioritize accounts, assuming you follow a few simple steps. First, you need to consider some of the following:

- The industry that you are in—are there a limited number of large (major) accounts, many smaller ones, or a combination?
- How are your territories divided up—by geography, regions, product lines, etc.?
- How are your competitors covering their accounts?
- Who is involved in the sales process—your team as well as your customer's?
- What is the risk associated with your type of sales—very consistent or volatile sales?
- Are your sales cyclical—e.g., based on season, weather conditions, trends, etc.

As no two sales strategies and the factors that go into them will be the same for any two companies, it is incumbent upon you to determine what the relevant ones are for you to then consider. Once you have some of this basic analysis, one of the main goals of analyzing existing customers and new prospects is to determine their "overall value." Then, it will be in your domain to manage your time as well as that of your staff so that time is spent on those opportunities with the "greatest overall value." For purposes of simplification, let's break down accounts into the categories of "High Value," "Medium Value," and "Low Value." With this as a baseline, you will need to set up your own thresholds. For example:

Accounts greater than 1,000,000 = High Value

Accounts between \$500,000 and \$1,000,000 = Medium Value Accounts less than \$500,000 = Low Value

(Note: Numbers are used for demonstration purposes only and will vary greatly depending on your business.)

Yet what these numbers are really referring to is still uncertain. For example, does \$1,000,000 mean past business (e.g., for the prior year), current business (orders in progress), or future business (over the next six months, year, etc.)? Therefore, when determining the thresholds right for your accounts, you will need to keep in mind both revenue (or other measurement unit) and when it can be accomplished. Also, remember that while past business is important and can give you some indicators and insights into the future, for some types of sales, it is almost irrelevant. An example would be if you were selling an enterprise-wide software system to a company. Once you have completed the sale, the customer might not be in the market for a new system for many years to come. Sure, they will require servicing, maintenance, software upgrades, etc., but the bulk of the sale is complete. This type of an account, even though they might have accounted for one of your largest recent purchases, would not be a very high-value account, because additionally, business opportunities are limited. This is not to say that the company is not a very important customer to service and get referrals from, etc., but it might not require as much time and resource commitment as other accounts going forward.

Also, you could have everything from "core" customers (the day-in-and-day-out buyers of your products and services) to "wish" prospects (those who you are eager to sell to, but who might

never buy from you). Therefore, it is important to be realistic when prioritizing. Similarly, you could have two customers (both with growth opportunity of up to \$1.5 million over the next year) that could be ranked High Value and Low Value, respectively, because the first company has a much better track record or chance of success.

As you have seen, ranking accounts relates to both customers and prospects. If it were an existing customer, then it is referring to additional business, whereas if it were a prospect, then, of course, it is relating purely to new business. With respect to new business prospects, you can either meld them into the High, Medium, or Low rankings or they can be tracked separately as High P (for Prospect), Medium P, and Low P. This often depends on the amount of prospecting your company or a specific salesperson does versus working with mostly pre-established accounts. A good reason to include them is so that you can see more directly where to prioritize and devote your time. For example, a High P could be as important as a Medium Value or even a High Value existing account. While this is not likely—because as the age-old adage goes, it is ten times more expensive to acquire a new customer than keep an existing one—you could still have some prospects that are poised for accelerated growth.

The following is an example of where a prospect could fit into the account mix:

	Account Revenues (over the next year)
Customer X (High Value)	\$1,500,000
Prospect Q (High P)	\$1,250,000
Customer Y (Medium Value)	\$750,000
Customer Z (Low Value)	\$250,000

You will also notice that we are mostly ranking customers and prospects in terms of revenues. While revenues are often an important factor, they are not always the only nor necessarily the critical ones. Remember, business goals may vary from anything from profits and revenues to market share, quantity sold, brand recognition, and so on. Also, even within an account, the measurement might vary. For example, you might use revenues or profits for current product lines versus quantity of test orders for new products.

As evidenced, account value is not something that can be simply

made at random. Some additional factors to consider that can affect new business opportunities are:

- A new buyer has taken over, who could either slow down or speed up the buying process.
- Lack of customer budget to implement your solution until at least XX/XX/20XX.
- Prospect is under contract with another supplier until XX/ XX/20XX date.
- Customer is involved in a merger and/or acquisition, and new purchases are delayed.
- Multiple decision makers in the selling or buying organization who all need to approve the deal.

You will notice that a common theme here is that they all have something to do with the sales cycle or the sales pipeline. You will need to determine where accounts are in the cycle in order to ensure that the opportunities are prioritized. You and your salespeople can together determine where in the sales process you are. For example, has the salesperson gotten through the "discovery" (needs assessment) stage, and moved into making a sales presentation? Conversely, if she is in the discovery stage, the buyer is likely in the "evaluation stage." This could be determined because the customer has requested a sample of the product or asked her to come in for a demonstration.

Taking the idea of High, Medium, and Low Value one step further, you can break down these three levels into some more detail, as not every group of accounts will be a the same level either.

The benefit would be that you can more precisely prioritize. Similar to A, B, and C tasks in basic time management, you can further rank the A's (beginning with the High A's), then the B's, and finally the C's (the lowest C's, of course, having the least amount of time and resources dedicated to it then).

It is even prudent to add another level "Exit" or "Drop" accounts to the mix. Putting exit accounts into the analysis is a way to force you to focus on the right opportunities. You are likely aware of the 80/20 rule—80 percent of the sales time should be with the best accounts and 20 percent with the balance. However, as we all too often see, it is usually the reverse, where the lowest priority accounts are eating up the majority of our time and energy. This is, of course, a discipline and time management issue, and it can be managed more strategically by ensuring that you and your team stick to the account plans you have put in place.

By incorporating the exit account, you and your team are consciously choosing to find an exit strategy for certain accounts the effort expended to maintain them at such a low, unprofitable level. By intentionally moving your weakest accounts into this category, you are setting a stake in the ground, not to mention the fact that this can actually be measured during performance reviews. The strategy would then be to either discontinue selling to them or move them over to someone who specifically handles smaller accounts—for example, from a field salesperson to an internal one or even to Web-only status.

Of course, with certain accounts, it might not be appropriate to drop them entirely without a safety net. If your company supplies them with replacement parts that only you carry, it would be at a minimum unethical and possibly illegal to no longer provide them. A way to get the process under way though is to no longer take new product orders, but rather only reorders, or just continue to supply the disposables or component parts. Reviewing and adjusting the company policy on minimum orders might help to accomplish this fairly. Again, the intent is to not eat up the salesperson's valuable time with accounts of least benefit to both you and them.

Your time then begins to free up so you can give more attention to the High Value and some of the stronger medium value accounts. This will also become critical when you make in-person sales calls. Whether your sales territories are set up by region, product line, national accounts, or other strategy, your staff will have accounts dispersed in such a way that they either form a geographic pattern or it ends up being more piecemeal (scattered). Working with your salespeople, you need to ensure that they make customer/prospect visits in priority order. This would mean that a lower-value account is really a "nice to visit" or time-permitting account, whereas the higher-value customers/prospects are the "must-visit" accounts. Again, the specific pattern or sequence will depend on the territory, the amount of time needed for the visit, etc., but a sensible sales strategy needs to be made. Last-minute changes (e.g., a major customer cancels the meeting) and extenuating circumstances (e.g., a core product launch becomes delayed) could affect the strategy. Yet without a plan, you are operating in the dark. Furthermore, account values can change at any point. This can be to your benefit or detriment. Some reasons for this to occur could be:

- A major prospect's supplier has just gone out of business, opening the door for you and your company.
- A regulatory change is now enabling you to compete in a new market where you have a great deal of products/services to offer.
- A prospect has been given a major grant or funding that will enable it to consider your company as a new supplier.
- Your customer has a new CEO who wants to get out of (or into) a certain line of business, thus divesting of (or demanding) your products.

It is important to note here that account management techniques will need to be adapted in a way that fits your business environment. For example, sales strategies will vary not only due to customer versus prospect status, but also the quantity of existing versus new customers. Your sales team's accounts may range from anywhere from hundreds to dozens to just a few. Also, the balance between existing and new could range from an even split of customers and prospects to all of one or the other. And this could vary from salesperson to salesperson as well. Of course, much of this will have to do with your industry, corporate, and departmental strategies. For instance, your company may have decided to enter into a new market from the ground up. In this case, a great deal of prospects will need to occur in that particular market. Alternatively, the customer base may be so consolidated that focus is on a very limited amount of existing high-level accounts. Therefore, time and resources would need to be dedicated accordingly (e.g., via a high degree of team selling). Whatever the case, it will be incumbent upon you and your management team to align your people, time, and resources top fit the determined business goals.

Your salespeople, along with your input and direction, will need to determine the best use of their time. As a manager, you will also need to keep track and jointly agree on each member of your team's course of action, so having a solid understanding of their accounts and territory are critical. Furthermore, you will likely be making a percentage of sales calls with your staff, and quite possibly have some of your own accounts to visit—all the more reason to understand how to budget your time effectively. As you can see, time management is a critical skill as it relates to territory planning and account prioritization strategies.

Sales Reports

These are a great way to keep track of the progress or your team members and help them make any adjustments along the way. However, gone are the days of lengthy sales reports with detailed information that in actuality told you nothing. Today, reports should take your salespeople very little time (less than thirty minutes per week). After all, by reducing unnecessary paperwork, the salesperson can spend more time actually selling.

The following are some areas to consider for these reports:

- Progress on existing accounts (updates against quota)
- Progress on prospects (where they stand in the sales cycle, e.g., requested a proposal, samples or demonstration requested, etc.)
- Until what date a prospect is under contract with a competitor (date for when the contract is up for renewal or expires)

Contact Log

• This is usually a different report that is managed by the salesperson and that you can review periodically. Keep in mind that the volume of customer contacts is only as good as the outcome of these calls or visits. It should have some specifics, like initial contact made, next phone appointment made, inperson sales call scheduled, and so on. Remember, just making a large quantity of phone calls or sending out lots of e-mails or letters is not following SMART principles and might just be consuming valuable time.

Sales Forecasting

In actuality, sales territory planning lays the foundation for sales forecasting. However, sales forecasting typically refers to a corporate exercise by which target numbers are used and then budgets and resources are tied into them. The problem with many business sales forecasts is that they are typically guided from the top down, with little input from the sales manager and salesperson. For example, often a goal trickles down to you through the various corporate layers. The goal is \$115 million in revenue and \$17.25 million in profit for your department. How did upper management come to this figure? Well, last year you did \$100 million in revenue and \$15 million in profit, so forecasters merely marked each one up by 15 percent. This is far from the ideal, as it often is missing one of the core elements of SMART planning—realistic.

When taking part in forecasting, you again need to answer both corporate and departmental questions. The first step is to understand what is directly within your domain as a sales manager. This generally relates to your sales team, customers, and prospects.

Some of the many questions to consider are:

- Should a good salesperson be able to land an account in one, five, or fifty touches (touches being marketing outreach, phone calls, field sales calls, or any combination)?
- Approximately what is the value of each touch?
- What is the time frame for each of these prospecting activities (daily, weekly, monthly activity)?
- What is the typical time frame to arrive at X amount of business with each type of existing account (High Value, Medium Value, etc.)?
- How much time needs to be dedicated to maintaining accounts, and who, if more than one person, makes up the sales group—the salesperson, a technical sales support person, a sales coordinator, or any combination of people?
- Does the account have multiple customer contacts (purchasing agent, buyer, manager, senior-level officer, etc.)?
- Is there team selling involved (e.g., account manager, engineer, researcher, sales manager, senior-level officer, etc.)?
- What are your department/team costs associated with each type of sale (overhead, travel, samples, etc.)?
- What "special circumstances" are in progress or have tremendous growth potential—e.g., are there any major orders pending that could increase the entire department's sales by over 10 percent once finalized?
- Are there any new markets you will be tapping into with a new product launch with tremendous growth opportunities?

- 95
- What is your role in a typical sale? How much will it vary depending on the salesperson, account, etc.?
- How many, if any, accounts do you currently manage? Are you the sole contact or do you have any sales support staff?
- To what extent is your manager and any senior managers involved in selling?

Next you need an understanding of the role of other departments and how internal stakeholders will take part in business sales forecasting:

- What new products are in the pipeline (production, R&D, engineering, etc.)?
- What marketing campaigns are in place to drive demand? Is the marketing budget expected to be increased or decreased, and by how much?
- What is the financial stability of the business? Public or private company? Who are the investors? What is the guidance from your financial executives?
- What are the human resource requirements in progress? What is the company's hiring status (bringing on new employees, on hold, etc.)?

The crux of this is that forecasting cannot be done in a vacuum. There is no magic formula except the combination of past performance and future predictions that end up being "very educated guesses." Some try to make it an actual science, utilizing predictive models that look at historical data and many of these other factors. This can be beneficial, but it is still incumbent upon you to ensure that you have some involvement.

What you are really trying to avoid once a forecast is set are major surprises (at least of the negative kind). Here is where you also need to take into account the direction you are given by each of the following key areas:

- *Direction from the Top.* For example, an initial mandate to grow your sales by 15 percent, sometimes based on outside investors, and stockholders as well.
- *Direction from Your Manager*. Likely tied into direction from the top but could be somewhat more conservative.
- *Direction from Your Sales Team.* For example, grow by 5 percent, based on management's figure of 15 percent; this more conservative figure might be given in order to increase their chances of beating forecast.
- Direction from Other Departments Involved in Forecasting. Marketing, HR, finance, manufacturing, etc.
- *Direction from You.* How do you interpret what all of these factors are telling you?

Finally, external factors play a very large role in what the future holds. They include:

- *Competition*. What are they doing in terms of market share, new products, brand recognition, sales force expansion/contraction, etc.? Are there any new players in the market or are some bowing out?
- *Mergers and Acquisitions*. Are you or any of your competitors involved in any partnerships, buyouts, etc.?
- *Regulatory.* Are there any major changes in the horizon that could positively or adversely affect your plan?
- *Economy*. What is the economic environment? Growth, recession, etc.? Will interest rate hikes, commodity pricing, the unemployment rate, dollar fluctuations, and so on greatly affect your business?

Some say that you as a manager should adopt a philosophy closer to that of your salespeople—that "beating the numbers" is the name of the game. They are, after all, your front line to the customer, and their buy-in is certainly a key factor. A great deal of this has to do with the corporate culture that we discussed earlier. It might at first seem like a very good idea to try to "downward revise" any forecasts put before you in order to better your chances of coming in at the higher end, allowing you and your team to shine. However, other factors are at play here, since not only aren't you forecasting in isolation, but others are involved in their own forecasting as well, and ultimately everyone reports to the top. So you must be realistic. The important part is that you strive for as much say and collaboration as possible when forecasting so that all parties can accomplish what they need to satisfy their key stakeholders and constituents. After all, the best way for a company to succeed is through building stronger teams across the organization.

This is where motivation and incentives comes into play. No matter what the numbers are telling you or what numbers you are being told to reach, one of your core responsibilities is to make sure your salespeople feel rewarded for their efforts. You can help bridge the gaps by ensuring that there is a connection between the forecast and the incentives to then make or surpass the plan. Always keep in mind as well that incentives can come in the form of both monetary as well as nonmonetary compensation. The theory behind motivation and how to best implement compensation and other incentive and rewards programs will give you some greater insights into how to inspire your team going forward. This is how you can get the best out of everyone in order to achieve the results that you, your team, and your company are seeking.

RECRUITING, INTERVIEWING, AND HIRING THE VERY BEST

This chapter will guide you through the maze that ultimately leads to hiring the best candidate for the job. In this chapter you will see the process from finding sources for new recruits to the interview itself, extending the offer, and then signing on a new sales team member. In your own career, you have likely only been on the outside working your way in; here you will be on the inside looking out, identifying and incorporating new sales professionals to strengthen your current team.

ENHANCING YOUR CURRENT TEAM

You might think that in order to build the perfect sales force, you need to build your team from scratch. Unfortunately, you probably won't have that kind of luxury unless you work for a new business or a new sales unit within a larger one. The reality probably is that you already have a team in place and will need to enhance or adjust the current team. Firing the entire team is rarely an option, nor a good idea. Your recruiting realities may include a combination of hiring and firing; they may be done in a short time frame or in a longer, more gradual way. The good news is that while you might be inheriting difficult personalities or marginal or low performers, you are likely also getting some very talented sales professionals. Whatever the case, what is best for your team from this time forward will vary based on many factors. The following are some of the core areas to consider:

- Existing competence level of team members
- Changes in business direction (introducing new products/services or expanding into new markets)
- Regulatory changes (possible need for a new skill set)
- Corporate mandate (due to increased or decreased budget)
- Corporate culture (how the sales force fits in with the overall corporation)
- Economy (recession or growth)
- Major industry changes (mergers, acquisitions, expansion, contraction, etc.)

Add to this list by thinking about the areas that affect your sales team and what might cause the need for minor shifts or broad changes in your current staff.

Developing Specific Criteria for the Selection Process

You have heard the advice to "think before you act." When it comes to the recruiting process, this especially rings true. Too often sales managers post job descriptions based on the requirements of the position but then just select the candidate whom they feel they can get along with best. This is a selection based on emotion rather than reason. While it might have its place in your social life, you really need to remove the emotion and base your decision to hire someone on specific criteria that you have set up and that the candidate then meets.

Before searching for a candidate, managers must know whom they want for the position. A starting point would be to consider the characteristics best suited for the position, and how the person in the position needs to fit with the team.

In analyzing the territory, the sales manager must look at both functional skills and other requirements for the job. For example, the sales manager must consider the territory itself and the strengths and weaknesses of the team as a whole. It is only by having goals and objectives and sticking to the plan that you will hire the right person for the job, and as a bonus, you will also avoid turnover, which is just as important due to all the costs in money and time associated with hiring and training.

Some core questions to ask are:

- Is this a new territory?
- If so, is it similar to any other territory?
- Is the territory open due to either turnover, termination, or promotion?
- What worked with the person who represented the territory?
- What areas need improvement?
- What personality styles would best fit this territory?
- Will it require a significant amount of prospecting or will it require more servicing and relationship building?
- What technical expertise, if any, is required?
- Is this an isolated territory where the salesperson needs to be an independent self-starter?
- Is this a territory that requires teamwork?
- Has the candidate already offset any potential weakness?
- What training will be necessary (immediate and long-term)?

By proper planning, these and other questions can be addressed early on in the recruiting process. Sales managers with no plan usually make the mistake of hiring in their own image. This is only successful when it matches what is needed for the territory. So odds are that you are not getting the right candidate when you hire in this fashion.

One way to help you with this is to make a list of your specific criteria. Once you have this, it is critical to stick to it (assuming no major changes in the sales environment are taking place). Of course, you will never find someone who fits every single criterion to perfection. One way to help keep you on track is to rank criteria and to correctly weight the categories.

For example, if you are looking for someone who has specific technical knowledge, you can rank each candidate (1-10, with 1 being very weak and 10 being very strong). You could then give a

weight to technical knowledge (for example, 3) whereby it is 3 times as important as something with a weight of 1.

You would end up with something like this for a candidate:

Criteria	Rank (1–10)	x	Weight (1–3)	=	Total
Ability to Read Financial					
Statements	7		2		14
Ease at Cold Calling	8		3		24
Industry Contacts	6		3		18
Total:					56

This means that candidate X got a ranking of a 7 (out of a total of 10) for her ability to read financial statements, a job requirement. Of a total of 3, it is considered a 2 (of medium importance). When you run the numbers, you get a total of 56 for candidate X. Then you can see how she stacks up against the other candidates. We will look at the interview process more in a moment.

You will also notice that this criteria fits in nicely with the sales skills model (technical knowledge, business acumen, communication skills, market experience). This ties in to the fact that the exceptional salesperson is what you inherited, are training someone toward, and/or are looking to bring on board.

In fact, those companies that excel at hiring today are more and more hiring to plan. So if a candidate does not have X years' experience doing Y, then he would not be a strong candidate. While this may seem overly stringent and could keep some potentially strong applicants, it helps you to maintain focus and hopefully bring to the top of the list those with the highest degree of matching skills and background, thus lowering the burden on training, coaching, and other areas. At the same time, remember that in most cases you are legally required to allow anyone interested the chance to apply, and always be sure that each candidate is properly and fairly considered.

Before getting the posting out into the marketplace for candidates to see, the sales manager needs to take the time to ensure that she is familiar with all of the key elements of the position. Ideally you should have some part in writing the job description. Fortunately this serves you as a sales manager as well as the candidate, because the job description sets the stage for many things, including delegating, motivating, and counseling, among other areas. Below are some of the questions you should be asking to ensure an accurate job description that will be useful in the interview itself.

Education and Experience

What formal skills and knowledge are needed to function well in this job?

Why are these skills and sets of knowledge important?

Could someone without these skills do the job well?

Are there parallel skills that would substitute for what is listed?

Do the requirements coincide with the job description?

Are the requirements fair to all applicants?

What is most important of all of them?

Reporting Relationships

Where is the position on the organizational chart?

Who will the candidate report to, and will the candidate supervise anyone?

What compatibility is needed?

Are there also informal or dotted-line reporting relationships?

Work Environment

What will the working conditions be?

Is this job permanent? Will the description be changing soon?

Is there travel involved? How often? What is the duration?

Are there specific work hours? Do they rotate? Is there regular overtime?

Salary

What is the starting salary? Any flexibility or room for negotiation?

What is the commission structure? Is there a bonus plan? Merit versus across-the-board increases?

When is the salary review period? Are there opportunities for raises before the standard review?

Benefits

Is there health insurance, life insurance, dental insurance, auto insurance, etc.?

Is there a profit sharing, 401(k), retirement, or pension plan?

What is the vacation, holiday, sick day, and long-/short-term disability policy?

Do we offer specific training or other education programs as well as tuition reimbursement?

Growth Opportunities

What is the company policy on promotions, and are there interdepartmental promotions and/or lateral transfers?

Can a promotion be turned down? Will that impact future of-fers?

Special Requirements

What else is expected and/or provided—for example, company car, tools, uniforms, dress code?

Behavioral Analysis

What communication style did the previous person to hold this position exhibit? What were the strengths and weaknesses?

What type of communication style would work best for the opening? with the territory? with the existing sales team?

What are the probable strengths associated with this pattern?

Will this pattern help compensate and/or offset any weaknesses on the team?

Internal Motivators

What is the ideal internal motivator for a person in this job? What is a secondary motivator?

What are the internal motivators of others on the team?

Will they be compatible and/or complement one another?

Of course, the job posting will not need all the answers to these questions, only those most pertinent to the job. Think of them as the need to know versus the nice to know. For example, if travel is a large percentage of the time and requires a car (that the company will not provide), then this should be stipulated in order to be able to focus on the appropriate candidates. After all, omitting pertinent facts or responsibilities on the job description, while not always purposeful or misleading, could prove to be a waste of the candidates' time as well as yours.

OPTIMAL SOURCES FOR RECRUITING

The recruiting process is an ongoing effort and responsibility of most sales managers. Though a corporate structure may be in place vis-à-vis human resources to generate candidates and to conduct the initial screening, being aware of exceptional people is part of a manager's ongoing function. Successful sales managers will take a proactive stance when recruiting to support the larger corporate effort. That being said, there is no greater misuse of time than sorting through pages of unqualified candidates because the initial screens were not in place. Hopefully you have a human resources department that can help with this process. Either way, there should be some involvement on your part, so having a plan and maintaining the discipline to stick to it will be up to you.

Below are some of the major sources to consider for recruiting.

- Campus recruiting
- Contingent staff
- On-line job sites
- Company Web site
- Job fairs
- Newspaper ads
- Recruiting firms
- Trade associations and magazines
- Referrals by company employees
- Internal candidates

Campus Recruiting

The advantage of campus recruiting is that the candidate pool is wide and enthusiastic. A great opportunity exists to hire potential winners at entry-level salaries.

The disadvantage is the risk of early turnover because the candidate cannot do the job or discovers that the job is not what they anticipated.

Maximizing Campus Recruiting

• *The Internet.* Many online job sites provide a specific category for posting jobs for college students or recent graduates. Here you can fine-tune your search and post a position only with the schools you preselect. Also, you do not have to spend the time going from campus to campus posting a position, as it can be disseminated centrally to all the chosen schools via the site. It may also be a good idea to go directly to some of these schools, as they sometimes have a specific area where they post opportunities.

• *CD-ROM Presentations*. Most all campuses give students access to computers for job searches. A CD will give the candidate an overview of the company history, products, services, work environment, and frequently asked questions. CDs are excellent substitutes for the expense of a campus visit.

• *Video Conferencing.* Certain campuses today have facilities to interview candidates through closed-circuit video. The advantages are time and money savings, that several managers can observe the interview, and that the interview can be taped (with permission) for managers in remote locations to observe. One disadvantage is a lack of the human element. Students report being uneasy about the scrutiny on camera and feel anxious about being taped.

Contingent Staff

Certain staffing firms specialize in contingent staff or employees who work on temporary assignment. They are similar to more traditional temporary (temp) agencies, except that the candidate profile is often more specialized. Lawyers, teachers, accountants, and specialized consultants are a few examples. The employee works for the staffing firm, not your company.

This type of firm may also provide a complete sales force for special one-off projects. A company will use this option when adjusting for seasonal trends, national launches of products, trade shows, or spikes in business. The advantage is that there is no need to hire people and get them registered for employee benefits when it is a short-term project. Companies turn to such outsourced workers to control the ebb and flow without the hassle and expense.

The major disadvantage when working with contingent staff is training. Although the jobs that fall into this category might not require significant job training, there is likely still certain procedural and product training. Lack of employee loyalty can also be an issue. As you will see later in Chapter 6, the motivation level of different types of sales staff can vary, and it is up to management to come up with a plan to address all types of employees.

Maximizing Contingent Staff

It is important that the staffing firm's representative(s) understand as much as possible about your company's business and customers.

It is necessary to provide honest estimates as to the length of the employment or assignment. A sudden or abrupt cutoff can cause significant morale problems.

Make advanced arrangements with the firm for potential hire of a contingent worker. If someone is compatible and a full-time position opens, "stealing" the firm's employee could cause ethical and/ or even legal issues. Waiting until the opportunity arises is never the best approach, as it limits options and can only cause more problems.

Online Job Sites

This is where the "volume" of résumés comes from today. Limitless sites are available to advertise job openings. HotJobs.com, Monster .com, and Careerbuilder.com are some of the major ones, but they only scratch the surface of what could be out there for you to take advantage of in your industry and/or job function. Many industries have specific online job sites (i.e., those that specialize in financial services, the entertainment industry, etc.). Glocap.com is one example of a site that offers jobs with a special emphasis on the financial services industry. You are probably already familiar with those that are in your industry and just need to decide where is the best place to expend your time and money. There is also an array of job Web sites that are based on functional areas (e.g., specific for marketers, human resources professionals, project managers, accountants, etc.). SalesLadder[™] (sales.theladders.com) is a job site that specializes in opportunities for high-level salespeople as well as sales executives.

Advantages

- The cost is low.
- The cost for job seekers is typically nothing, or a very low cost. A job seeker can send out an infinite number of résumés.
- Job postings are easily categorized. This is convenient for the recruiting company and the candidate.
- Electronic transfer eliminates the waiting time for a response to a newspaper ad via regular mail.
- Paperwork is dramatically reduced. Many government agencies require that companies hold résumés for a certain period of time. Storage of paperless résumés is obviously more convenient.
- The target market is extraordinarily large.
- On these sites you can take one of two approaches. You can either post a job, then see who responds, or search for candidates yourself, selecting your own determined criteria and then browsing through résumés that are posted.

Disadvantages

- While almost everyone in the workforce today works to some extent on a computer, it is possible that a great candidate does not feel comfortable searching for hours through Web sites applying for positions of interest.
- A disproportionate number of unqualified candidates respond due to the ease of résumé submission. A job posting can get hundreds of responses.
- There is typically a cost to companies to post positions and to search for candidates (this can vary greatly from service to service).

Company Web Site

Companies that utilize their own Web site and include a job opportunity section can dramatically increase their chances to find qualified and motivated candidates.

Also, you can utilize your own Web site as well as linking your career opportunities page to online job sites, getting both those who seek you out directly and those who do not. The great thing about having jobs located on your Web site is that candidates that already have an interest in your company have direct access to apply for any open positions. They can also readily search your site for more information, company background, etc.

It is likely that your human resources department will have certain information to provide and also that needs to be filled in for all candidates. It is a great way to keep track of them and maintain the information for future reference (e.g., should a more appropriate position become available). Some of the information typically requested is about the candidates' educational background, current and former employers, references, salary history, special skills, and so on.

Maximizing Company Web Sites

• *Make searching for jobs easy.* An "employment" button in a prominent place on the home page should be available. Offer a résumé builder or a form that is compatible with the database management system.

• *Make the site navigable.* Speed and easy access are crucial. Slow loads and dead ends are frustrating and will lose even an experienced browser.

• Respond quickly to the applicant. A confirmation of receipt, a rejection due to lack of qualifications, or a "next step" response should happen right away.

• *Continually update the Web page*. Leaving already filled jobs online creates a series of unnecessary problems.

• Screen out unqualified applicants. Utilize a candidate profiler so that you can automatically help to identify those candidates who most closely match the criteria.

Job Fairs

One of the most proactive methods of recruiting is the use of job fairs. Companies can interview numerous candidates over the course of a few days. Generally the candidates are specialized and motivated.

Often, companies sponsor their own job fairs. Most companies participate in fairs hosted by others. In this case the company pays a flat fee to participate. Job fairs are often sponsored by colleges and universities.

Maximizing Job Fairs

Limit the time with each candidate. The objective is to use the fair for screening interviews as opposed to hiring interviews. Limiting time allows the recruiter to see more people.

When applicable, have full job descriptions made available. If you have set up a schedule to meet with people (in advance or onsite), be sure to stick to it. This demonstrates professionalism to the candidate, and a follow-up can always be scheduled if a mutual interest is evident.

Newspaper Ads

The main advantage of a newspaper ad is that it can get a fast and large response. But a newspaper ad can be expensive and, depending on the state of the economy, could elicit varying results. For certain positions they are more useful. But, for highly technical jobs they are not usually the best resource. Blind ads, ads where the company name is absent, generally generate the poorest results.

Maximizing Newspaper Ads (Advertising Costs)

- Use a headline to get the job-hunter's attention.
- Select a prime location for the ad.
- Use graphics where possible.
- Allow for "white space" in the ad so that it is not too cluttered.
- Display the company logo.
- Use color if the newspaper provides that service.
- Put in enough information to dissuade the unqualified candidate and to stimulate the interest of the qualified candidates. The main categories are duties, responsibilities, and requirements.

Recruiting Firms, Employment Agencies, and Search Firms

The main advantage of using an outside firm is the ability to fill a position quickly and from a labor pool that would otherwise be inaccessible. They can also provide a service for which your company does not have the internal resources to adequately handle. Costs can vary depending if they are on retainer (retained search firm), or they are paid on a commission by the employer when the right candidate is located (contingency search firm). Retained firms generally work with an exclusive agreement, whereas employers often use more than one contingent firm. Some companies choose to work almost entirely with outside firms like this, and others use a mix of their own hiring function complemented with one or more of these additional resources.

Maximizing Recruiting Firms

Develop explicit guidelines for the job requirements. The recruiting firm can screen to very specific criteria or be more open to exceptions based on your guidance.

A long-term relationship with a recruiting firm allows the firm to get a good understanding of the company operations and environment.

Invite agency representatives to tour the company facility and meet people from different departments.

Note: Retained firms are generally used to fill higher-level positions or more intricate roles that require more research, which a contingent firm would not have the time and resources to handle.

Trade Associations and Magazines

You are likely already familiar with the publications and associations that relate to your industry. Sometimes the field is very specialized, and other times it is a very broad community made up of buyers, sellers, vendors, dealers, and so on. Assuming you have a relevant association for your industry it is always a good idea to stay involved with it.

An association should be able to provide you with insights into what is happening in the field and can serve as a resource for finding talent. In fact, many associations are starting to have their own online job resource centers. The National Automated Merchandising Association (NAMA) is one example of a resource that serves the vending, coffee service, and food service industries.

Trade publications fit into this category as well, and many have either a print and/or online version of their magazine with a career section. *The Hollywood Reporter*, serving the entertainment industry, is an example of this. Other magazine resources are *Selling Power* and *Sales and Marketing Management*. Both serve the sales professional and have online resources as well.

Referrals by Company Employees

Employee referral programs are used to recruit prime employees. The program can have the added benefit of boosting morale and increasing employee loyalty, as employees feel their suggestions are valued by the organization. In fact, many firms go as far as offering a reward or monetary compensation for referring an employee who is ultimately hired. Typically the new hire must stay for at least a prespecified amount of time (e.g., three months) before the compensation can be paid.

The sales force itself is one great place to get referrals, but this could also include those in other departments as well. A salesperson who makes a referral is in the unique position of actually knowing the positives and negatives of working in the sales department. The main challenge with employee referrals is that it can be awkward if you do not hire that person. Not to worry, though; most people understand if the referral does not pan out. If you stick to your criteria, the right candidates will rise to the top of the list.

Internal Candidates

The potential for internal candidates is of course dependent on the type of sales position and whether or not there are well-qualified candidates in other sales roles looking to make the change or other department members looking to get into sales. However, it is also a corporate culture question. Does your company prefer to promote or reassign from within or does it more often than not look to the outside? If the latter is true, you might want to challenge this policy. It is usually a smart idea, not to mention a morale booster for employees in general, to know that additional opportunities are available within the company should their current position not be optimal for them. Your company will likely have requirements around timing for how to post jobs both internally and externally in order to accommodate corporate strategy and the law.

That said, depending on whether you are looking for a highlevel sales representative for national or key account sales or just someone eager to hit the pavement selling, your strategy for recruiting will vary greatly. For example, in some instances the person might need to be so specialized that you have only one or two places to really look for solid candidates. At other times you can utilize a broad mix of resources for new candidates. A note about posting the salary range: This is often a sticky point for many companies. You will find examples of both out there. If industry and title in that industry already dictate a range, then it is not necessary to post but still an option. Also, your company might not want to invite attention to what you are paying for everyone to see, including competitors, vendors to your industry, customers, and other stakeholders. Also, if the range may vary dramatically based on experience, then you might opt to leave it out. Furthermore, your company might have a policy about this, or the requirement to post or not may be governed by law.

In the absence of these situations or mandates, you might want to consider including the salary range. Furthermore, you can also identify the base and potential commission. This could help either attract or reduce the amount of inappropriate candidates. After all, it is tough enough narrowing down the search already, so why add one more challenge to the process?

If you do choose to include salary information, be sure to be accurate in your wording, so as not to mislead. Also, make sure you have some standards in place as to what you mean by *experience*. There is also the question of whether or not you ask for the salary history from the candidate right away. If you do post the salary and choose to ask for their salary requirements up front, you will likely find candidates who state that based on their experience they are entertaining positions in a specific range (this will more often than not be on the high side, if not slightly above your range). If you do not post the salary range yet still ask for their salary requirements, you will at least be able to match this with the reality of the job. There is no exact science to this, as human nature often has both parties trying to maximize their negotiating position. Always remember to be as fair, up-front, and consistent as possible, and everyone will benefit in the end.

THE NUMBER ONE RULE IN RECRUITING: CONSTANTLY RECRUIT

Managers should not rely on knee-jerk reactions to fill an unexpected vacancy. Good managers already have a list of people in their database to call. These may be people they have met on a plane, on a train, or through a casual conversation. You might have found their background and experience to be well suited, but there were no openings at the time. They may not be interested in your position for themselves, but there is a chance they know someone of equal caliber who does. These can be some of the best referrals you will receive.

Also, when networking at industry events like conference and trade shows, make a mental note of anyone who is visible and impresses you. You may hear a speaker in your industry who possesses great public-speaking skills, something that is part of your criteria. You might wish to either approach her at the event or follow up with her afterward. At the same time, keep in mind any noncompetes she may have or other legal/ethical considerations if she works in the same or a related industry.

ENSURING A POSITIVE INTERVIEW PROCESS

A well-run interview benefits everyone involved—you, the candidates, your team, the organization, and the customer. The number of highly qualified recruits will only increase if your company has a good reputation, as you find more and more candidates will be seeking out your organization as their desired place to work.

Reviewing the Résumé

Depending on your human resources department, you may or may not have an active role in the selection of candidates. If you are a part of the first screen phone interview in conjunction with human resources, you will likely eliminate certain candidates even before the actual interview. In either case, reviewing the résumé prior to both the first screen and actual interview is very important. The review might just be a refresher to the candidate's background and qualifications or it can help you to prepare for questions to ask during the interview.

In a way, résumés are like a sales pitch sheet on behalf of the applicant. It is important that you take them very seriously. Someone who cannot sell himself well on a résumé has a lesser chance of stellar selling for your company. That said, be careful not to judge certain nonessential elements of the résumé. For example, style and layout will vary from applicant to applicant, so don't think there is one best approach.

When screening résumés, you will certainly find red flags. These will not necessarily rule out a candidate but can cause some concern

or at least trigger the need to question. The following is a basic list of what to look for in a résumé:

- Overall appearance
- Typos or unprofessional use of language
- Blanks or omissions (e.g., missing dates or education information)
- Gaps or overlaps in time
- Frequency of job changes
- Job titles and responsibilities (lack of progression)
- Consistency or inconsistency between career experiences
- Vague job description

Again, it is common that either you, your human resources department, or both conduct an initial screening interview by phone. This is typically not the time for in-depth interview questions.

The purpose of the telephone screening interview is typically to:

- Determine if the candidate's qualifications match job requirements.
- Establish the interest level of the candidate.
- Set up a face-to-face interview.

If it is determined that an in-person interview is warranted, this is where your more elaborate preparation and interviewing skills will be required.

Conducting the In-Person Interview

There are typically three parts to interviewing: finding out about the person and how they react to certain situations; going over their background (as it relates to the position); and making the offer. All three parts could be handled in the same interview; however, this is rare. For example, with higher-visibility positions, the interview process will more likely require several meetings and could spread out over days, weeks, or even months. Also, depending on the position, it could require that anywhere from one to numerous people in the company meet with the candidate to give their feedback and/ or approval. Of course, this could be for a new sales position or an existing one where the territory has been left open and the customer could suffer, so timing and urgency may vary.

The interview is not just a method of hiring; it's an important tool that managers utilize to build an effective organization. It also further establishes the corporate image.

The first part, finding out about the person, is probably the most important. It allows sales managers the opportunity to learn about the individual in terms of judgment calls, internal motivators, and her behavioral style.

Interview Styles to Avoid

• Sticking to the Résumé and Nothing Else. Typically, an interviewer will take the application or résumé and start asking questions that relate to that information. The applicant then repeats the same information on the résumé, and the interviewer discovers that the interviewee knows or seems to convey only what relates to the application. This offers a 180-degree understanding of the candidate at best.

• Giving Away All of the Answers. Another style that managers often use is to first describe the intricacies of the position, the work environment, and the corporate/department culture to the applicant. However, in this case, the interviewee will likely pick up on what the interviewer expects him to match up to, and will then try and become that person. Then the manager is surprised to later find that the person she hired is quite different from the person she envisioned, and his performance is not at all what she expected.

• *Boring and Canned Interviewing Questions*. You have likely heard of questions like these:

Can you tell me a little about yourself?

If you came to work for us, what assets would you bring to our organization?

What is a weakness that you have that you would like to change?

While these questions will elicit some helpful information, they are not going to get to some of the nuances and potential concerns, nor will they necessarily help you get to the behaviors you are looking for in the ideal candidate. This is where the idea of "behavioral interviewing" comes to be so important.

The premise behind this style of interviewing is that past performance in similar situations is the most common predictor of future performance. Behavioral interviewing is a way to delve deeper into the candidate's decision-making process. The style of questions probes in a way to elicit a far greater amount of useful information than a traditional interview would. Not only is it important to become better at this approach, but keep in mind that many candidates have likely practiced this as well. The good news is that it is difficult for the interviewee to practice, and if an interviewer uses this approach correctly, no amount of practice can help certain weaknesses or areas of concern from coming to the forefront.

Below are sample behavioral interviewing questions. They should, of course, be modified for your organization, but they will give you a very good idea of the types of questions that you should be looking to use.

- Tell me about a situation when you had to sell an idea internally to your coworkers.
- Describe a time when you disagreed with your boss and how you handled the situation.
- Tell me about a time when you had to think creatively in order to get a job done.
- Tell me about a time when you were overloaded with responsibilities and how you prioritized the work.
- Describe a situation when you tried to achieve something and it failed.
- Tell me about a time when you had to conform to a corporate policy that you did not agree with.

It is also beneficial to relate some interviewing questions to the criteria you are seeking in an exceptional sales professional (one who posseses strong technical knowledge, communication skills, business acumen, and market experience). For example, you can try and gauge the interviewee's communication skills through questions such as:

• Tell me about a time when you had to make a presentation to multiple buyers.

• Describe a time when you had an objection from the buyer and you found it to be unreasonable.

The other key to this interviewing technique is to utilize the information you received to probe even further. For example, if the question is, "Describe a time when you tried to achieve something and it failed," and the candidate says that her boss was a roadblock to achieving the goal, you could ask why, how, and so on.

As mentioned, though candidates might have had some training in answering these types of questions, the main benefit to this technique is that it is very difficult to practice. Questions are unpredictable in nature, so the answers are difficult to have prepared. That said, you will find that some candidates attempt to use a similar answer to different questions because it is within their comfort level. Here is where having a list of questions in different categories will be helpful.

One other category of questions that is very important is motivational questions. While the overall style of behavioral interviewing will lend itself to identifying what motivates a sales candidate, there are certain more specific questions you could ask as well. The following are some examples:

Tell me about a situation when you outperformed your peers.

Describe a time when you were able to make a difference within your company.

Here you will find out how important pure monetary compensation is versus status, public recognition, or other motivators.

Some additional considerations to be aware of and practice (or avoid) during the interview are:

• Make sure the environment is very professional and not distracting. There has been some debate over the type of environment in which to best conduct an interview. Some have even suggested trying to catch the candidate off guard by using tricky tactics like making an interviewee uncomfortable. While some useful information could come of this, it is not recommended. The interviewer should try his best to set a favorable environment for the interviewing process. There is no need to create any unnecessary stress or uneasiness on the part of the interviewee. Also, by acting professional, you enhance your own as well as your company's reputation.

• Don't react too quickly. The answers that the interviewee gives may not be the same answers that you would give to the questions. However, that does not make the applicant wrong—it makes her different from you. That difference may be exactly what you need to offset a weakness that you may have and to fill a gap on your current team or a particular territory. Remember, you are trying to hire based on the preestablished criteria. You are not looking for your mirror image; falling into that trap almost always backfires.

• Avoid prejudging or stereotyping. Similarly, trying to categorize or lump people together too early is a surefire way to damage the integrity of the process. For example, because applicant A is neatly dressed and well groomed, it cannot be concluded that this person is a detail-oriented, careful worker. Similarly, because applicant B is a football star, we cannot conclude that he is aggressive or competitive in a work setting. In both cases, more information is needed in order to reach such conclusions. Again, sticking to the plan is what will help you get past any preconceived notions you may have. You will find that you will often be way off base and pleasantly surprised by taking the more disciplined approach.

• Always seek sufficient information. Frequently, interviewers reach conclusions about people's abilities based on insufficient or invalid information. For example, many managers make false assumptions related to the interviewee's current salary. At first it might appear that the candidate is earning 15 percent more than the company is willing to pay. The candidate, however, may be paying personally for benefits that your company would be covering. Conversely, the candidate might be earning a significant percentage less than you are willing to pay. In this case, many hiring professionals might discredit this person or value them less. Keep in mind that while salary history and current compensation have some weight as to an applicant's current market potential, it is not necessarily an accurate indicator of future success. In fact, a candidate might possess all of the qualities you are looking for and is in looking to move out of his industry into yours specifically for this reason, to increase his earning potential.

• *The interviewee should do most of the talking.* This is perhaps the most frequent interviewing error. When the interviewer does most

or even half of the talking, the interviewer cannot be effective in gathering pertinent information, observing the interviewee, and truly learning about them. Otherwise, as the majority of people who lack sound interviewing skills find, there will not be enough information to draw valid conclusions and then not enough time to accurately interpret and evaluate the candidate. You will then feel pressured and make impulsive decisions.

Keep in mind that this is similar to the "discovery" or "needs assessment stage" in the sales process, where you should be listening a great deal more than speaking. This still requires discipline because many people have a tendency to comment on every response and then go off on a tangent from there.

You can counteract the tendency to talk too much simply by asking a great deal more open versus closed-ended questions. This should automatically get the interviewee to do most of the talking. Also, as you saw in the behavioral interviewing examples, you will get more information out of open-ended questions.

The Résumé Has Its Limitations

While having a list of questions to begin a dialogue is important, reading directly from it is very limiting. In fact, you will likely skip right over important need-to-know information or other clues or red flags that you should have picked up on.

Furthermore, by asking too many questions directly relating to the résumé you are getting a minimal amount of new information and likely playing right into the strengths of the candidate. After all, he wrote or worked with someone to write it in that way. Furthermore, it tells the interviewee that you have not done your homework and are not interviewing based on a plan.

So while you might have specific questions that you must ask based on corporate policy or the résumé at hand, don't get so caught up in routine that you forget the true goal: to find the best candidate for the job.

Avoid "Leading" the Candidate

It doesn't take the smartest of candidates to realize that you are looking for a certain response. Asking a question like "Tell me about a time when something was really going wrong with a sales call and how you handled it" is fine; however, if you continue with the question by saying: "And did you need to think out of the box to handle it?" you are giving up the right answer.

To further clarify, in the first instance, you will be able to determine how organized the candidates are and what they consider to be most important, and you will likely get responses that go well beyond what is provided on the résumé. In the second example, the interviewer has in essence told the interviewee to discuss a certain topic (in this case out-of-the-box thinking) that may be important to the interviewer but not necessarily a strength of the candidate. However, now the candidate knows to make it a priority. Remember, you are trying to hire a sharp salesperson, yet the irony is that almost anyone can catch on to this.

Rushing the Final Decision

Of course, the opposite holds true with. You might have the urge to immediately dismiss someone you feel is different from you. This is something of great concern. For example, it might be something as simple as someone who worked in a certain industry or for a certain company that you were not very fond of, and for that reason you are more apt to discredit the candidate. However, at the far end of the spectrum, this practice is either subconscious or overt bias or discrimination. I do not have to tell you here how wrong this is, morally, and it is very possibly illegal as well.

On the other hand, you might find that the interviewee has something in her background that you really appreciate or can identify with, and this seems to resonate with you even before you have gone through the full interview process. This is a tendency that must be brought to a conscious level and guarded against. There are many examples of interviewers saying, "I liked this guy the instant I met him. I think we should hire him." Odds are, their behavior patterns were exactly the same. People like people who are similar to themselves. This is where the expression "hiring in one's own image" comes from. Another example is when the job vacancy might just seem so important to fill that you feel pressured to move quickly. Remember: A hasty decision is rarely a good one.

Rather, we must continually remind ourselves that effective personnel selection is in the best interest of both the applicant and the company. In fact, harm can be done both to the individual and the company when an unqualified person is hired and set up for failure. It is simply not in the best interest of anyone involved to place someone in a position for which they are poorly suited and that will ultimately end in failure.

The purpose of this part of the interview is twofold:

- 1. To observe obvious discrepancies in the candidate's image or personality, according to the intended plan and criteria.
- 2. To determine what areas might be needed in order to further train, develop, and motivate the individual once hired.

Unless there is an obvious mismatch, managers should, at this point, avoid either hiring or not hiring.

The other area to explore relates to specifics about the individual in terms of work, school, and any other pertinent information that could relate to the position. Here you can use the résumé or application to ask about certain specifics, for example:

- 1. Clarify those "red flags": gaps between jobs, horizontal moves, several moves, major salary changes, etc.
- 2. Clarify positions held: job description, duties, accomplishments, etc.
- 3. Some useful questions to ask that relate to his job (if currently employed) are:
 - What do you like about your job?
 - What do you dislike about your job?
 - In what areas do you know you excel and how?
 - What is the greatest challenge for you, and how do you try and overcome it?
 - How do you think your coworkers would describe you?

Answers to these questions could further help to expose the concerns, strengths, weaknesses, and motivational factors of that individual.

Of course, while a candidate should feel comfortable asking a question at any time, it is at this stage that you would more formally solicit questions from the interviewee. Keep in mind that her list of questions might very well shed even more light on her. For example, an interviewee might ask questions such as: Does the company have and contribute to the employees' 401(k) plan?

How many vacation days are there in the first year?

Is there opportunity to move to other departments within the organization?

These questions might demonstrate to you a candidate's additional concerns or motivators, and, at the same time, could either strengthen or weaken your interest in her as the right fit for the job, assuming her questions go counter to the objective criteria you have in place for the position.

After answering any questions and finding that there is still mutual interest by both parties, you will move on to the next area of the interview. Here is where the candidate will likely want to know what the company really has to offer him and if this is a place he could see himself working. Not at any time should you embellish or try to overglorify the job. The object is to reiterate the mutual benefit of the position for both the candidate and the company. At the same time, if as a manager you have handled the process well so far, you should know the applicant's key desires and motivators. By using this knowledge, you can explain the position and the opportunity in terms that are most relevant to the applicant.

Now you have reached the time for the more formal offer. In many circumstances the position will warrant a written offer. The formality of it will often depend on the position being filled. The procedure could also be governed by law or corporate policy. Furthermore, other parties might have a vested interest, such as a contingency search firm.

THE WRITTEN OFFER

The offer typically covers the total package and not just salary, including any and all of the other benefits that are being offered. In fact, it is important to show the total package as opposed to just salary, as it could further validate the benefits of the position versus another offer she may or may not be considering.

The Job Description

A complete and thorough review of the job should be reiterated at the offer, in order to be sure there are no last-minute surprises. Again, be careful not to try to oversell the position here. A major complaint of those who leave the job within the first ninety days is that if they would have known in advance about certain responsibilities of the job, they would likely not have accepted the position. You could end up losing what you felt was an ideal candidate at this point. However, if instead you hired this person and she then either chose to move on very quickly or just never did produce up to expectations, then much of the effort put into recruiting and hiring was for naught.

Furthermore, when factoring in the cost in time and money to hire and train an employee, mistakes like this can be very expensive. Also, even if the employee for whatever reason (lack of other opportunities, financial security, etc.) chooses to stay, low productivity and cynical, negative behavior could result, and will be a major issue for not only the new employee, but will affect you, others on your team and around the organization, and your customers.

Performance Forms

Some companies choose to give an example of their company's performance review, evaluation, and or other measurement documentation at this time. This form or forms are typically used to set objectives that the employee will be expected to achieve in a certain time frame, and then results will be matched up to track performance and evaluate their work.

Other Important Interviewing Considerations

Multiple Interviewers

When others are involved in the interview process with you, be sure they understand the criteria you have in place and what you are looking for. All too often, they are not prepped and merely come back with a one- or two-word opinion on the candidate. Not only does this lead to inappropriate subjectivity but could even lead to unethical or unlawful consequences. Make sure that others in the process are a benefit, not a threat, to sound hiring practices.

Embedding the Candidate

Some companies choose to test out the candidates either on a trial basis or through formal or informal interactions with the sales team

in their working environment. While this is usually with good intentions and could help both the company and candidate get to know one another better and see if there is a fit, it can also raise additional legal concerns, as it is more difficult to ensure objectivity in the process. It is therefore also something that should not be implemented without sound human resources and legal consultation.

Screening Tests/Exams

Testing candidates up front is becoming more and more common in the interview process. These tests take anywhere from a few minutes to even a full day. In fact, some companies even pay the interviewee because of the lengthiness of the process. There are many companies specializing in preemployment testing, and while they cannot gauge everything—like attitude, passion, and determination—they can help to weed out many candidates that do not possess the types of skills or even ethical standards that you are seeking. Like everything else in the interview process, be sure you are consistent, and if you implement a test, do so across the board for all applicants.

Checking References and Credentials

Diligent verification of references is typically in the domain of the human resources department. However, in certain companies it may be left up to the managers themselves. References are tricky in that personal ones, from friends and relatives, are typically not very useful. Also, certain employers are not able to give out any information that isn't strictly factual and are therefore not able to share any opinions about your applicant. In any case, you should do your best to verify the facts and ask some open-ended questions if allowed to try to get what you are able to. Furthermore, at the end of the reference check, ask if there is anything that was not covered that they would like to add about the candidate.

The Basics of the Law

Always stay current on the law. This chapter is intended to give you many of the core skills and practices for recruiting, selecting, and hiring top candidates, but it is not intended to substitute in any way as legal advice nor for any company policies with which you must comply. It is your job to stay abreast of current law through your human resources department, company legal counsel, and any other governing bodies associated with your industry and business. It is typically the role of your human resources department (possibly in conjunction with the legal department) to educate you on the interview and hiring process. In fact, in many cases these departments are not just there for training but to work with you during the entire process, and they often take the lead in certain if not all parts of the process.

The law prohibits you from asking questions relating to certain topics such as:

Race Age Religion Marital status Sexual orientation Physical disability (certain exceptions apply) Criminal history Country of origin Financial status Veteran status

Another important piece of advice worth reiterating is consistency. When participating in the interviewing and hiring process, it is critical to maintain a level of consistency so as not to bias or favor unjustly one candidate over the other. Each person should have a fair chance and be assessed according to the standards that your company has put in place. You would not want to show up for an interview and find that you are being judged according to a different set of standards and practices than another interviewee, and nor should anyone who you are interviewing. Not only is it just plain wrong but it could very well be illegal. So be sure to maintain consistency and act on objective standards as they relate directly to the position, not on any personal or other non-job-related predispositions, biases, or prejudices. You, your company, the new recruits, and your customers will all be the better for it.

FIRING IS INEVITABLE

Firing someone can be a traumatic experience for both parties involved. It is something that everyone fears, whichever side of the drama they fall on. Keep some core things in mind that might make the process somewhat easier and will hopefully put the inevitable into perspective.

First of all, excluding the case of across-the-board layoffs, in most cases a termination should not come as a complete shock. Employers are asked to document problems along the way. In fact, documentation on all employees is important. This is twofold; it gives the company a record of any discipline issues and also it allows the employee a chance to improve or rectify the problem. Of course, there are issues that by law do not require either verbal or written warnings. Some of these categories are:

- Stealing
- Destruction of company property
- Criminal behavior
- Extensive absenteeism
- Gross insubordination
- Falsifying timekeeping records

However, most other problems require that the employee is given the benefit of the doubt and has sufficient time to comply with standards and/or improve performance. This could even be the case with "at will" employees (those that the company has hired and have less of a responsibility toward, should management wish to terminate them). Performance review forms often will contain pertinent information and maintain a record of performance or other issues as well.

Human resources and/or legal counsel should play a very active role if termination becomes necessary, not only to train you, but quite possibly to handle certain parts, if not all, of the process, depending on the situation or severity. Never engage in firing an employee without their direct involvement.

While firing may be extremely difficult as well as emotional, it is a necessary part of management. Also, keep in mind that it is being done for the good of the company and is intended to be of benefit to the entire team in the long run. In most cases, improved performance, productivity, and team morale are the result.

Recruiting and hiring is a great challenge to managers. Yet if done correctly, it can be a very rewarding activity and one that you might even look forward to participating in. Always remember that you are working to bring on new talent, with the objective of improving productivity of both the individual contributors as well as the overall team. Later we will look at ways to ensure that both new and existing employees are trained and up to speed on all necessary aspects to perform their job at a high level. Now you will take a look at motivation and the critical role it plays in the success of you and your staff.

BUILDING THE ENVIRONMENT FOR MOTIVATION: COMPENSATION PLANS, RECOGNITION, AND REWARDS

One of the most challenging areas for managers is motivation of sales professionals in order to maximize their performance. Also, since maximizing your team's performance is so key to your own success, it requires a great deal of attention.

What makes it so challenging is that there is no one-size-fits-all formula to increase the motivation of your staff members. What motivates one person might not motivate someone else. If fact, it might do just the opposite.

This chapter will take you through the theory of motivation and all the major ways to increase the chances of motivation. Most important, it will give you insights as well as specifics that can be applied to your various team members. Keep in mind as we go through this section that you are not actually motivating someone else. Only that person can motivate himself. You, on the other hand, can provide an environment that will increase the odds of someone being motivated. We will also look at the area of compensation and incentive planning and the importance that motivation has in the overall plan. Finally, you will learn more about core motivational techniques (monetary and nonmonetary) including the tremendous importance of recognition and rewards.

CLASSICAL MOTIVATION THEORY

Several different classic theories guide us today in terms of motivating, or setting up a motivational environment. Most are based on the notion that internal motivators need to be tapped into in order to bring out the best in people.

Before delving into some of these internal motivators, it is necessary to look briefly at the works of two psychologists who you might already know something about.

Hierarchy of Needs

Back in 1943, in an article titled "A Theory of Human Motivation" in the *Psychological Review*, Abraham Maslow proposed a progressive, hierarchical, pyramid approach leading to the ultimate internal motivator: self-actualization (Figure 6-1).

At the base of the pyramid, physiological needs are a priority. Here basic survival instincts such as the need for food and water are evident. These are what people will seek out in order to exist.





The next level up the pyramid is safety and security needs. These include the need to protect oneself from the elements, enemies, or imminent danger.

The third level from the base is belonging needs. With some exceptions, people are social animals, and they need others like family and friends to be a part of their life.

The fourth level includes ego needs. This is the need to be distinguished from others. The formation of a personal identity is important to people because no one wants to be exactly the same as anyone else.

The top of the pyramid is self-actualization needs. This is the point in life at which people are fully satisfied and have "found themselves." It is said that this need is never actually fully satisfied but is actively pursued once the other needs have been met.

When considering these categories in their purest sense, one needs to assume that the other elements of the hierarchy of needs have already been satisfied in order. For example, without your basic survival needs being met, it is not likely that you will be looking to form social groups. If you then look at this from the top down, self-actualization can not take place without the existence of the other preceding motivators. That said, one could say there are exceptions to that rule. For example, someone might sacrifice her own safety or well-being for that of someone else, say a child or loved one. In this case, she is actually motivated by self-actualization before safety and security. While this hierarchy sheds some light on motivation, and stresses the importance of self-actualition as a motivator, it has its limitations.

The research findings of Frederick Herzberg, published in the book *The Motivation to Work* in 1959, illustrated motivation from a somewhat different perspective, and considered motivation in tandem with what he referred to as hygiene factors. Hygiene factors include categories such as company policies, working conditions, working relationships, and salary and benefits.

Under motivation you have such categories as the work itself, achievement, growth opportunities, and recognition. In the absence of hygiene factors, the setting becomes demotivating, although the presence of these factors do not motivate in and of themselves. That is to say that categories such as salary and benefits are not considered motivators, whereas achievement and recognition are.

Graphically, Herzberg's theory could be depicted as follows:

Hygiene Factors or Potential Demotivators	Motivators
Company Policy	Responsibility
Salary, Benefits	Growth Opportunities
Relationship with Boss	Recognition
Safety on the Job	Rewards

As you can see, the factors leading to satisfaction or that motivate employees are different than those that could lead to dissastisfaction or that demotivate someone. One other way to think of it is that the hygiene factors are the baseline in order for the motivational factors to be able to play their part. In essence, they are two very different yet important categories in their own right.

With these two theories in mind, it is necessary to now look back in time a bit to the work of another psychologist, Eduard Spranger. Back in the 1920s, Spranger's work helped to identify six core internal motivators:

- 1. Theoretical
- 2. Aesthetic
- 3. Social
- 4. Political
- 5. Structural
- 6. Economic

Two things to points out:

- 1. There is no particular order to these motivators.
- 2. You will see other similar words used in place of these over the years. For example, sometimes you will see *order* in place of *structural* or *power* in place of *political*.

Although originating before Maslow and Herzberg, these six motivators have some similarities and correlate to those later findings in certain ways. However, the body of knowledge around them and what has evolved over the years looks at motivation from a somewhat different perspective.

You can think of these six motivators like behavioral styles or DISC in that they are very important and help you to identify ways to work with your team and others around you. However, whereas
DISC patterns guide you on how to work with others and look introspectively at yourself, motivators are based on the why or what that leads someone to act or react in a certain way. To a greater extent it takes into account your values and deep-seated beliefs those that not only are represented through your behaviors but also those that guide them. So a primary focus of these motivators is on what people strive for or are seeking out of their work.

Theoretical

People that highly value the theoretical strive for knowledge. The more one knows, the stronger one is. Theoreticals have an insatiable appetite for knowing and understanding. They have an intellectual curiosity that is systematically satisfied. They constantly ask questions to fill in blanks. They are incisive, logical, objective, and unemotional in their pursuit of knowledge.

Probable Strengths of the Theoretical

Likely to be an expert in their field Curious about a wide range of subjects Questions and challenges logic Patient Incisive

Potential Weaknesses of the Theoretical

Methodical approach sometimes delays results Answers questions with questions May come across as too intellectual or a snob May be absentminded

To Motivate the Theoretical

Theoreticals tend to move toward jobs that entail a lot of analysis or mental stimulation. In the absence of this, it is important to try to assign tasks that require research or investigation. When delegating, be extra conscious of providing measurable goals with specific deadlines. This will keep Theoreticals from wandering off the subject. Use their analytical ability to develop other uses for the information they gather. For example, a salesperson may need to turn in a monthly competitive pricing report. Writing the report may not be stimulating. If an additional challenge is given to look for patterns or investigate alternative pricing strategies, then the report becomes part of the knowledge motivation.

Aesthetic

People who place a high value on the aesthetic seek balance and beauty. Aesthetics have a need to enjoy and respect objects of beauty. The beauty can be a great work of art or something in its natural setting.

Aesthetics also seek balance, symmetry, and harmony. The Aesthetic person experiences each event separately and on its own merit. Experiences are not necessarily linked nor do they need to be relative to anything else in life.

Aesthetics are sensitive people who are keen observers. Aesthetics tend to want to enthusiastically share their experiences, especially with those who appreciate the harmony and beauty in life. They tend to be or at least aspire to be in more creative roles. Money is not the prime motivator for Aesthetics. It is the enjoyment of creating something that brings them ultimate pleasure.

Probable Strengths of the Aesthetic

Creative Artistic Excellent sense of symmetry Above-average spatial/visual intelligence Alert observer

Potential Weaknesses of the Aesthetic

Perceived as a dreamer and not a doer

Perceived to be on the edge of societal norms (dress, lifestyle, etc.)

Temperamental

Very sensitive

To Motivate the Aesthetic

Aesthetics work best in a hassle-free environment. Since they enjoy beauty, their physical surroundings need to be pleasant. They may not just want nice furniture and works of art on the walls, but also to work with "pleasant" people. Aesthetics function well when allowed to be creative with projects. Something as simple as being allowed to design a new format for a report makes the report a motivating task. Personalizing tasks are important to Aesthetics since to them each event is its own experience. Ill-mannered people, cluttered offices, and volatile circumstances will be depressing or can slow or impede Aesthetics' performance. And while Aesthetics may prefer room to work freely, a manager may need to follow up with a bit more frequency.

Social

A person who values being social tends to put others first. They delight in working with and assisting others. They do not typically seek gain or a great deal of recognition. They do not have hidden agendas. Socials will give time, talent, and money to further what they see as a worthwhile cause. Socials tend to be in jobs or aspire to work in places that allow them to fulfill their desire of helping others.

Probable Strengths of the Social

Charitable Benevolent Concern for others Empathy Team player Good teacher or educator

Potential Weaknesses of the Social

May be taken advantage of May neglect self for the sake of family and others Has difficulty saying no May be too trusting of others

To Motivate the Social

Put Socials in an environment where they can help. If their sales role does not always lend itself to this, assign projects that might accomplish the same goal. Encourage them to work on teams within your department and across the organization. Also, encourage any extracurriculars, such as volunteering in organizations outside of work. At the same time, you will need to keep an eye out that extra work does not cause productivity to drop. Give them time or support in their projects. Socials are usually pragmatic, so they can distinguish between outside activities and career.

Socials also want to feel and actually be needed. Although this is true for everyone, it is especially important for Socials. Put them in a position where they can see that they have made a difference.

Political

Those who place a high value on the political seek out and desire power. Politicals look for a variety of ways to gain control. If there is a lull or gap in the leadership role, the Politicals want to step in and take charge. Although it is not always true, Politicals are often viewed as leaders.

In some ways, Politicals want to be elevated over others. They enjoy center stage and public recognition. Titles, positions, and lofty status symbols are typically more important to them than to others. Politicals are usually self-centered and need that extra special attention. Politicals have been known to take positions with a lower income if it gives them more authority.

Politicals are very responsive to competition. The bonus money associated with winning a contest is secondary to the win itself. Of course, the caveat is that the money may allow them to attain more status symbols that demonstrate power or authority. Politicals move toward fast-track jobs. Upward mobility is important to them, and they either seek it within the organization or need to move on to another one.

Probable Strengths of the Political

Industrious Competitive Accountable for actions Desires to lead Passionate

Potential Weaknesses of the Political

May appear superficial Seen as egotistical At times may be merciless Lacks patience

To Motivate the Political

Place Politicals in leadership roles on projects or teams. Be aware of titles for job positions. Although not always feasible, a wording change in their title could increase motivation. Office position or workstation placement is also important to the Politicals. If possible, give them a prestigious place to work. This cannot be done in an arbitrary way. Performance must be associated with the work area or job title. The Politicals want glory, yet at the same time they are willing to earn it.

Structural

Those who highly value structure seek order from life. Organizational charts, strategic plans, measurable goals, and benchmarks are all motivators. Salespeople motivated by structure tend to have high moral and ethical standards. They also will rely heavily on standard operating procedures. Go by the book whenever possible. If the book's procedures require modification, make changes cautiously and respectfully. More than others, they will focus on the importance of SMART goals. In fact, achieving a goal in a sequential and orderly fashion is more motivating than what the goal achieved. They tend to pick up on superficial motivation or manipulation and will quickly reject it.

Probable Strengths of the Structural

Honest Direct Dedicated Hardworking Systematic

Potential Weaknesses of the Structural

Overly strict Tunnel vision Limited comfort zone Overly zealous on minor points

To Motivate the Structural

The Structural individual works best for someone who is honest and has a high degree of integrity. This person does not respond well to threats or false bravado. They are turned off by those who are overly enthusiastic and impetuous. Give the Structural person a working environment that requires order and systems. Training a person with this style to prospect requires a very specific approach. Do not expect them to cold-call impulsively; they will opt to be more methodical.

Economic

People who place a high value on the economic strive for material rewards and practicality. They desire to accumulate wealth and possessions, not necessarily for just themselves but for their family and others as well. They strive to accumulate accomplishments in clearly identifiable forms.

Practicality leads to a concentrated concern for the bottom line. If an idea cannot bring a "tangible" return on investment, then the idea may be worthless to Economics. An Economic has little need for knowledge that cannot be readily used. Economics are constantly comparing and contrasting, and measurement devices are consistently analyzed. Observation, desire, and acquisition are the processes Economics use in accumulating material rewards. Economics are not afraid to work for these possessions, and they believe others think likewise.

Probable Strengths of the Economic

Dedicated worker Competitive Goal-directed Profit-oriented

Potential Weaknesses of the Economic

May want to win at any cost

Could be seen as greedy

Workaholic

May become overextended trying to keep up with societal standards

To Motivate the Economic

Provide them with opportunities to accumulate materialistically. Again, this is not always just in terms of money, but other possessions as well. The faster the accumulation, the greater the motivation; for example, a commission is more motivating than profit sharing. Therefore, Economics typically want rewards associated with a known quantifiable value. Economics expect to be paid for their skills. Once Economics have something, they tend to not want to lose it. They will be motivated to keep what they have and then continue to want more. Economics can sometimes move forward with fearless abandon. At the same time, managers must be careful not to push the Economics beyond their means.

A note here to try to clear up any confusion about financial rewards (primarily money) as it relates to motivation. As was theorized by Herzberg, the financial aspect (salary, benefits, etc.), while a core component of any organization's strategy, is really just to satisfy the core needs of your staff. Once these needs are met, it is necessary to find out what will motivate each individual salesperson. The confusion arises in that one of the six motivators identified by Spranger was Economic. So how can these two be justified?

The answer is that they cannot. The theories and studies out there all take a look at motivation from a slightly different perspective. What is important to realize is that financial rewards do play a role in motivation, whether they are the motivator in and of themselves or whether they are more of a means to get to the true motivators; what is consistent is that they are not the sole or primary driver of motivation. Many other factors come into play, and it is incumbent upon you as a manager to try to tap into these other factors.

Additional Ideas About Internal Motivators

Just as in the AMA DISC styles, internal motivators are prioritized. According to some of the work around this theory, everyone has all six. Some are just more important than others to the individual. Generally, people work with internal motivators two at a time two that they are currently striving to satisfy, and two that are waiting in the background in case of or for when the first two get satisfied. Regarding the remaining two internal motivators, there is a limited desire to satisfy.

For example, an Economic who has already built great wealth

Building the Environment for Motivation

may then set up trust funds for charities or provide scholarships for schools. Thus he is moving on to satisfy his Social need.

It is important to recognize that no one actually reaches the top of the pyramid nor satisfies all needs. Everything is really about the quest for total satisfaction. Furthermore, each of the six internal motivators have different thresholds for different people. For the Economics, what amount of money or material possessions are enough? For the Aesthetics, when does beauty end? For Theoreticals, is there nothing left to learn? And once people reach one threshold, another is then generated.

It is fair to say that everyone wants utopia. Everyone wants to be self-actualized. Everyone wants to satisfy their particular needs. The good news for managers is that everyone wants something. The manager's job is to find out what that is. If this discovery can be made, managers can now help to motivate their people by guiding them in the right direction.

There is a saying: "Help enough other people get what they want, and you will get what you want." The trick is to know what people want and, more important, why they want it.

Now that you have much of this basic knowledge around the six internal motivators, it is important to do two things. First, identify the primary internal motivators of your team members. Second, lay the foundation for an environment that brings out the best in them.

Identifying Motivators

Of course, various instruments exist that seek to identify your internal motivators. They can also be identified through observation and questioning.

For example, to determine an individual's internal motivator, you can ask a very basic, straightforward question, such as: "What would you do with the extra income from an increase that was above and beyond what you were anticipating?"

Sample employee responses could be as follows:

- *Theoretical.* I have been looking to take some classes that the company reimbursement policy does not cover. The raise will cover my expenses.
- *Aesthetic.* I would like to buy a new piano. The more I play, the more I realize how bad my current one is. Also, I believe

I was brought in at the lower end of the salary range, and while I do not expect nor need to be the highest-paid in the department, it should help balance things.

- *Social.* I am thinking about adopting a pet from the local shelter. If the raise comes through, it will help offset some of those expenses. Either way, I still plan on making the commitment.
- *Political.* I am not sure yet, but what I can say is that this is long overdue. I deserve it, as I am one of if not the single largest contributor to the team.
- *Structural.* I am not yet decided, but I am glad this is taking place. I believe that company policy states that I am due for this type of increase.
- *Economic.* This extra money is necessary so that I can add to my investments. This will help to further compound my rate of return.

Remember that while the above responses will help clue you into likely internal motivators, you would still not want to rely on just one indicator, so additional questions, observation, and other assessments would help to give you a more accurate picture.

For example, at first pass you might confuse the following Structural versus Social distinction:

A Structural person who has a real concern for the well-being of others would tend to think logically and long-term. A Social would be more focused on the here and now. The Social would therefore look to give a hungry person the fish, and a Structural would likely want to teach him how to fish.

To sum this up: *What* people do is behavior; *why* people do what they do is their internal motivator.

Now that you see what types of things drive motivation, the balance of the chapter deals with actually creating the environment in which it can flourish.

Sales Compensation and Incentives Planning

The sales compensation and incentives plan is an integral part of the planning process. Like the core elements of the sales plan discussed in prior chapters, the comp plan needs to tie the sales department into the overall corporate strategy.

A well-thought-out plan helps to measure, reward, and align

Building the Environment for Motivation

the team. Also, while it can at times seem focused on mostly the financial aspects, it opens the doors to the vast category of nonmonetary rewards that can very much enhance the plan and fill in the gaps where necessary.

Since you are a new sales manager, you may not feel you have much say in this part of planning. You do, however, have a major stake in the behaviors driven by your departement's plan and the results that follow. Therefore, whatever level of involvement you have in preparing the plan, you can still find numerous ways, direct and indirect, to get involved.

Some of the key benefits of a well-developed compensation and incentives plan are:

- A clear link to corporate and other departments' plans
- A defined role for sales in the organization
- A defined role for the salesperson
- A defined role for others compensated or incentivized under or tying into the plan
- The ability for the company as a whole to attract and retain some of the best employees
- The ability to encourage/discourage certain behaviors
- The image of the sales department, both internally and externally

You and your sales staff are operating in a larger environment that affects your level of motivation. This not only encompasses the culture surrounding you, but the policies, procedures, and business practices in place. Let's take a look at the three categories (corporate, departmental, and individual) and what can be affecting you and your staff in each of these areas. Then you will learn ways to address each category through an enhanced plan as well as rewards and recognition programs.

The first level is "corporate." Corporate is responsible for things that reflect the general work environment and company image such as:

• Company Brand Name/Reputation. Do people on the outside speak highly of your company? Is reputation and the company missing something that affects your team's motivation and/or drive for success?

- *Cross-Functional Teams*. Is the culture interactive? Does your staff have the opportunity to work with people of other departments and levels across the organization?
- *Benefits Package*. Does your company offer a good health plan? Are there additional services offered such as gym membership, child care, etc.?
- *Working Conditions*. Is it a safe and clean environment to work? Is your human resources department and IT (help desk) very helpful in answering questions and resolving issues? Does your company provide food or beverages?

The next level is the department. The department level has many areas that cross over with corporate, but your department likely has its own nuances and cultural norms. While you might not have as much leeway with the corporate policies and areas affecting all employees, you should have a greater say in what affects your department, or at least your direct team members.

- Do you have sales contests, employee recognition programs, or other programs different from the rest of the organization?
- Is your dress code the same as corporate or is it more formal/ casual?
- How close or far apart does the motivation or level of ambition seem from one department to another?
- Is your sales staff expected to participate in general corporate meetings or are you more autonomous?
- How are the players in your department being compensated? Are there differences in the pay packages and what are some of the guidelines?

The third level is individual. As you saw, while you can work to have an environment that taps into the motivation of your team, it can never be all things to all people. This is where specific tailoring of rewards and recognition will come into play. Of course, you should not play favorites when it comes to rewards (monetary or nonmonetary), as this could be discriminatory and possibly even illegal, but as you now know, there are many different ways to engage different team members. A solid plan is meant to get the most out of your star performers and not carry the weaker players on their shoulders. The Sales Compensation and Incentives Plan: Where to Start The "comp plan" needs a starting point, and what better way than by looking at the competition? As we mentioned before, benchmarking can be used to compare yourself to the competion. If you are in a start-up business or beginning a new category, you can look to similar industries for examples.

Before you can look to improve or enhance your current plan, it is critical that your plan be competitive with the industry. People within industries talk, and at times take a look at the competition, so it should be known industrywide that your company has a solid, if not the best, plan in place. That is not to say that you are directly sharing information with the competition but rather that when one of your staff shops around, they should not be surprised and find a significantly better compensation package with one of your key competitors.

You should, of course, only attempt to obtain competitor comp information through legal and ethical channels. This might include past salary information from new hires, studies on your industry by independent sources, trade association research, and so on. Also, your competitors might actually post their salary ranges directly on their job listings.

The competitor's compensation and incentives package would also include programs the competition engages in, such as sales contests. In this case you might have just heard that salesperson at X competitor won a trip to Aruba or that the top twenty producers at Y competitor went on an all-expenses-paid trip to a resort in Palm Springs. What is important to know is that word gets around on what is and what isn't a "good" place to work, and the comp plan is very much the foundation for this to happen.

The Elements of the Comp Plan

The compensation and incentives plan is meant to encourage the right behaviors as well as discourage the wrong ones. What those behaviors are needs to be determined. However, it is necessary that they take into account the salesperson, you, the department, and the company as a whole.

The comp plan should also address both the short term and the long term. For example, while revenues and profits might be necessary on evergreen products and services you provide, certain new product launches (the future of many business strategies) might be a longer-range initiative without the immediate payback or return on investment. In this case, you would need to be sure that everything (not just revenues and profits) are spelled out in the plan, and compensated for as necessary. Salespeople more than anyone else in the company, will work for what they are getting paid for, and not much else.

This need to motivate salespeople to carry out nonrevenue/ profit tasks can be carried out through specific performance measures, which look at both volume measurements and other activities that are being carried out to reach what ends. In sales planning we looked at the various inputs needed to ensure SMART goals and objectives. Since the comp plan is an integral part of the larger sales plan, it should also spell out many of the expectations.

Relative and Ambigious Terminology

One of the keys to measuring the success of a salesperson, or really any employee, is to be as specific as possible. If you are going out into the field and are told you are being paid X commissions on sales revenue, you have a clear understanding of what your pay will be. However, as mentioned, it might be other activities that are necessary for the long-term success of the sales department and the company as a whole, and those need to be accurately measured and compensated for.

For example, what happens if someone said that you are being paid for your "best efforts in thinking long-term for the company"? This rather farfetched example helps to give you a more clear idea of something that is impossible to measure. For example, what is meant by "best efforts," "thinking," and "long-term"? While these words might mean one thing to you, they could mean something entirely different to someone else. In addition, they do not live up to the SMART standards discussed. Since every business is different and has its strategic priorities, it is up to you, along with your management, to determine what activities are to be measured and rewarded. Following are some examples that companies commonly put in this category:

Sales calls to defined national accounts Presentations to senior executives Prospecting calls to prequalified accounts Sampling of new products Proposals requested by customers

Unfortunately, it is typically only performance in terms of revenues and profits that companies are able to measure effectively. That is because they have not taken the time to set up a strategic comp plan, and even with some of the basics in place, that plan might still not be communicated or monitored effectively.

Furthermore, even those companies that try to include important activities into the plan are likely not capturing one very key element—productivity. For example, you might find that one of your salespeople is completing everything ahead of deadline and even surpassing some of the numbers targeted in areas such as prospecting calls and national account visits. However, that person is falling far short of meeting her monthly sales quota and is falling behind on getting in her sales reports. Therefore, she might be working "hard" but not "smart," or what is really happening here is that she doesn't know how much value to place on each area of her job. Three questions are important to answer here:

- 1. Which areas hold a greater weight in the compensation plan?
- 2. Does the salesperson understand the goals and objectives?
- 3. Is she qualified to achieve the stated goals?

The answer to this first question is what truly separates the good and bad sales organizations. Remember: Since salespeople are working for what they are being compensated for, it is up to you if you want to drive certain behaviors, making sure it is in the plan. If not, you will be left scratching your head, asking, "Why didn't they do X or Y?"

As you saw, besides revenues and profits, sales activities such as prospecting calls and sales proposals could be a part of the plan. However, consider measuring several other key areas, such as sales skills and product knowledge. All told, you can end up with several categories that are determined based on your strategic priorities, including:

• *Revenue/Profits*. Is the salesperson on course to meet quota for existing and/or new products?

- *Sales Activities.* Is he involved in the right activities that lead to the desired results?
- *Sales Skills*. Is he working as a solutions provider (partner) with the customer?
- *Cross-Departmental Communications*. Is he working well with others in your organization?
- *Product Knowledge*. Does he understand the ins and outs of the current product line and new product launches?
- *Competitive Analysis.* Does he understand what the competitors are offering?
- *Financial Understanding*. Does he understand the numbers side of the business?

You can break each one of these into subgroups as necessary as well. For example, under sales skills you might have:

- Presentation skills
- Closing skills (different from closing ratios, which could be an activities measurement)
- Discovery techniques or needs analysis

Another major category of measurement that has grown in importance over the years is customer satisfaction. After all, most sales today are not transactional in nature, they are long-term. Even the purchase of a consumer item like a suit, which might take only an hour or so, still has the potential to be that of a long-term customer. Therefore, customer satisfaction is not only a measure of today but of the future as well.

You can then rate your team members against each of these categories and specific factors. For example, Salesperson X might rate a 7 out of a possible 10 in presentation skills, and 3 in product knowledge. Keep in mind that there is almost always a way to apply objective measurements to these. For example, with presentation skills you can monitor whether or not the salesperson completed a course on presentation skills. Also, it is an extremely useful tool for deciding how best to train and coach each team member when there is a deficiency (to be looked at in detail in Chapter 7).

You would then need to look at weights for each factor. While revenues and profits typically have the greatest weight, the others, especially in certain industries and with certain types of sales roles, might have as great or even greater weight than dollar figures. Whatever the determined weights are for each factor, they will likely tie into some type of performance management system.

Performance management has several purposes:

- To set goals and objectives
- To see where you meet, surpass, or fall short on agreed-upon goals and objectives
- To formalize (make official) the measurement process
- To have in writing areas mutually agreed to by the employee and employer

Note that performance management and performance reviews vary greatly from company to company. Sometimes the goal setting is part of the same process, while other times it is separate but ties into the process. Also, some companies have additional or other forms of reviews such as 360 and peer reviews, so that not only does a manager review her employee, but an employee also can review his manager, and/or multiple people are reviewing multiple people (customers can even be included in the process) to get a broader range of inputs. There are pros and cons to each, and you likely already have one in place with which to work and that is mandated by your human resources department.

How Salespeople Are Paid

Since financial rewards are still always a core component of any plan, how salespeople are paid should take into account many factors. First off, what type of an organization are you? Are you a startup in a growth industry in need of attracting an entire new sales force or an established company in a more mature market with a great deal of existing talent and a cadre of new talent from which to choose? The reality is that there are many ways to set up a compensation package, and not any single package fits every company. Some of the most common formats are:

Salary (Base) Only

This is when you pay only a salary to a salesperson and without variable pay (commission or bonus). This is typical of the "maintainer" (the person maintaining the account) and/or when the salesperson is more of a coordinator of a team and is not the initiator and closer of the sale. It is not very common to have a salary-only plan, as typically salespeople are involved to some extent in increasing business through opening new accounts or building existing ones, and would therefore require some form of variable pay based on their performance.

Commission (Variable or Incentive Pay) Only

This is the other extreme from a salary-only plan. Here the salesperson is paid a commission on the percentage of revenues generated. Also, the commission can be derived not just as a flat percentage of revenues but also might include other variables such as profit margins, number of units sold, or other factors. Furthermore, the payout can vary and have what are known as "accelerators" or "decelerators," whereby the percentage goes up or down with increased volume. It is important to pay commissions as frequently as possible in order to further drive results. Commission-only plans are more common when the salesperson acts very independently and the consummation of the sale relies on her almost entirely. "Gogetters," those salespeople who go out and get the new business, would often fit into this category. Typically this type of salesperson is willing to take on a great deal of risk with the intention of benefiting from a high upside potential. Like salary-only plans, commission-only plans are not the norm either.

Salary Plus Commission

Some type of mix between salary and commissions is typical in the sales arena today. Here the salesperson receives a base pay for his work in maintaing accounts and conducting other non-revenuegenerating activities, but he is also compensated through commissions for generating additional business. The mix can vary from anywhere from a high base with limited commission potential to a very low base with a very high commission potential.

Salary Plus Bonus

A salary-plus-bonus system is very similar to a salary-plus-commission type of comp strategy. The main delineation is that a bonus typically signifies a percentage of the salary (as opposed to a percentage of sales) that will be given based on achieving the predetermined objectives. The minor difference from that of the commission program is that the salesperson under most bonus plans typically has a lesser degree of influence on the sale. As in the commission program, the payout could accelerate or decelerate; however, it would be based on salary percentage and not revenue, profits, or other volume factors.

Draw

A draw is another form of salary. In this case the company loans or advances the employee the money, and the employee repays it out of future earnings. In most cases this is a legally binding loan owed to the company. There are other types of draw structures stipulating that if the employee does not earn enough to repay the loan, the loan is forgiven. They are often used to help ramp up a new employee where sales potential seems very likely.

Of course some plans combine all three of the major elements base, commission, and bonus. Also, some plans start off with a higher base and then it is lowered over time as the salesperson gets up to speed and the higher commissions start to kick in. Whatever the specifics of the plan are, make sure it is clear to all parties involved. An overcomplicated plan can only detract from its original purpose. If goals and objectives are clear, your staff will know where they stand at any point.

A note about caps: Putting a cap on the payout to salespeople should generally be avoided. After all, a more driven salesperson can be to everyone's benefit. However, although it might sound somewhat harsh, the sales staff works for the company and not the other way around. So if there are certain controls that need to be put in place, in order to not give away the ranch should a major unexpected order come to fruition, then by all means do so. This is why some companies or industries favor a bonus over commission variable pay, as it helps to mitigate this type of risk. Besides growth versus mature industry, several other factors go into deciding on the best suited strategies for an organization:

Competition

What are they doing? How do they compensate their salespeople? Again, always strive to have the best comp package in your industry.

Consultative Sale Versus More Transactional

How much impact does each person have on the actual sale versus account maintenance and administrative duties? Typically the more involvement in the actual sales process, the higher the variable pay compared to straight salary.

Length of Sales Cycle

This can vary greatly by industry. For example, is your business selling airplanes (an extremely high-ticket, long-term sale) or are you a wholesaler of consumer products? In the case of the former, it is difficult to commission on such a long-term, complex sale with purchases in the hundreds of millions of dollars.

Type of Salesperson

Different people should be compensated in different ways depending on their involvement and direct ties to the sales process. For example, a sales coordinator should not have the same compensation structure as an account executive.

Length of Service

This is one of many specific factors relating to individual team members. A salesperson can have a more advantageous comp package due to their years with the company (or years of experience for a recently hired salesperson).

Size of Territory

The package can vary depending on the geographic area or other territory distribution. If it is a larger, more challenging territory, then compensate for it.

Type of Account

Some companies have a different structure set up for what they classify as major accounts, so the comp package for them can vary as well.

Team Selling

Even in a true team selling environment, it is likely that team members have very different roles. Again, the variable part of their pay should vary according to their closeness to the actual sale.

The Role of Other Departments

This is perhaps one of the trickiest parts of sales compensation planning. The best organizations tie compensation plans corporatewide. Remember, "People will do what they are paid to do." Then, depending on how closely tied to the sales process they are, they should share in the rewards to some extent.

One final note of clarification: If someone is doing the same thing as someone else with the same amount of experience, pay him accordingly. That is what differentiates them, and the one who performs better will then earn more.

However, if circumstances are different and you decide that warrants a different approach, then change it. Keep in mind again that it cannot be discriminating in any way to one or more of the employees. You will find that while many companies have different structures for different employees, you must always err on the side of caution.

Again, there are many structures for the compensation plan to follow. The key is that whichever one your company has chosen or is in the process of working on, it needs to be administered effectively. The plan should always take into account both attracting and retaining the best salespeople. A good plan should get the best to rise to the top, and the weakest links will be exposed. It will also take into account both the veterans and the newbies.

Finally, make sure the plan is fair to all. A plan that plays favorites might benefit some and not others, thus only serving part of its purpose. This is not to mention the fact that certain parts of the plan could end up being not only unfavorable but also illegal.

BENEFITS AND THE TOTAL COMPENSATION PACKAGE

Remember that the total package does not only consist of salary, commissions, and bonuses. The benefits that your company offers can greatly enhance (or reduce) the total value of your comp plan. In fact, in many ways they all have a financial component to them. While you do not directly take advantage of all of them, those that the company does offer are costing the company money to service and administer. Some of the benefits companies make available are:

Health Insurance. Medical, dental, eye care (typically at some cost to the employee).

Life Insurance/Disability Insurance.

401(k) plan. Some companies will match up to a certain percentage of what you contribute.

Stock Options.

Vacation Pay/Sick Pay.

Child Care. Some companies even have facilities on the premises.

Company Vehicle/Auto Allowance. More common with salespeople and in certain industries.

Flexible Health Care Spending/Commuter Reimbursement. These are where a portion of your salary is put aside before taxes for you to then get reimbursed upon usage.

NONFINANCIAL INCENTIVES—REWARDS AND RECOGNITION

As mentioned earlier, you can energize employees in countless ways. This can be either via monetary or nonmonetary rewards and incentives. The balance of this chapter deals with low- or no-cost ways to reward and recognize your employees. Keep in mind as you go through these ideas and examples that the only thing holding you back is your imagination.

Nonfinancial compensation typically falls into two main categories—recognition and rewards. Due to the fact that there is so much crossover between the two, we will categorize them by cost and time to implement, starting with easy to implement, small-ticket ideas.

Praise (recognition) is the most undervalued reward. As the expression goes, "a little praise can go a long way."

There are so many things to recognize someone for. It can be something as large as landing that big deal or as small as getting that first face-to-face appointment. It does not have to tie directly into sales results, either. For example, you can praise someone for helping you configure a report or making a nice internal presentation.

No-Cost Ways to Praise

- A kind word/short note
- Congratulations in a team or corporate meeting
- Recognition as "Employee of the Month"
- Recognition on the corporate intranet or in a company newsletter

Low-Cost Rewards

- Give an achievement award.
- Award a certificate of excellence for something the employee accomplished.
- Award time off. This one can be tricky and should always be done in coordination with your human resources department, as company policy may dictate how this works and if it is even allowed.
- Give a dinner for two at a nice restaurant, a \$100 gift certificate to a department store, or tickets to a concert or other event.

Work Itself as a Reward

As you have seen, some people feel recognized by just getting more new responsibilities. Of course, this needs to be new and exciting work. One way is to assign someone to a special cross-functional task force (one that high profile would be even better).

Empowerment, or letting an employee take the lead in something, can be a great reward. This not only gets your team to notice her—making her feel good in the presence of her peers—but could also give her more visibility among others, including managers and senior management.

In many cases, promotion is the ultimate recognition for a job well done. Of course, this is usually coupled with financial benefits.

Taking this one step further, not only is more responsibility and an actual promotion a motivator, but so is a career track. When allowing employees to see the future within the company, they can feel they are working toward something long-term.

Provide training in the areas that not only you feel they need, but also that they want. In fact, to many, a training program in and of itself is a reward. This could hold especially true for the Theoreticals, who are constantly striving for more knowledge.

Reward Programs Requiring More Time, Money, and Planning

Sales Contests

Sales contests are a great way to boost sales. They are especially useful when a particular type of product/service needs that extra push. The key to remember with sales contests is that they work best for short-term sales results. Also, don't implement them too frequently.

The prize for winning a sales contest can be anything from a small gift to an extravagant trip. Trips are typically in the form of a trip for the individual (or with a guest), or companies sometimes have more elaborate programs where multiple winners take part. For example, the winners go to a resort where they can network with their peers and enjoy the atmosphere and festivities.

Sales Meetings

Sales meetings are often used to build up your staff. There are two types of sales meetings. One is the sales update meeting (typically either biweekly or monthly), and the other is the large team meeting (usual either annual or semiannual). Both are great venues to recognize and reward individuals or the group. In the larger meeting, there is the added benefit of time (they can last anywhere from a day to a week) so that sales training sessions, team-building exercises, motivational speakers, and other activiities can all be incorporated.

Expense Management

Since salespeople generally have a higher amount of expenses than many other business professionals, it can be important to help manage this. In fact, there are ways to actually reward salespeople for how well they keep expenses in check. Some companies have been so creative as to have set up contests to see who manages such expenses as airfares and dining the best.

Some additional considerations:

Think of the Individual

Remember, someone who places a high value on Social might be motivated by getting extra time off to volunteer. However, an Economic might be just looking for the financial reward and put less value, if not a negative value, on the other types of rewards.

No to Public Recognition

While not common with salespeople, it is possible that someone does not want to be recognized publicly. It could just plain embar-

rass him, and it would go a longer way to recognize him one-onone. Again, take the person into account.

Teams Need Recognition, Too

Since your salespeople are probably not working in isolation and are often part of a larger group effort, team recognition and rewards could be desirable to many. After all, some people feel very comfortable in a team environment and want to see their colleagues shine as well.

Think Out of the Box

Since what energizes one person might demotivate another, it's all the more reason that when you are not exactly sure what is motivational to whom, you should mix things up. Besides, doing the same thing over and over will likely start to bore your staff. And by far the most creative way to determine what potentially helps motivate someone? Just ask him or her.

Don't Skimp

Whether it is a T-shirt or a free sales trip, the reward will lose its importance if you cut too many corners. For example, if it is a team trip to Orlando, make sure the expenses cover what is customary for such a trip. If you book in July and eliminate alcoholic beverages and any recreation, you could have more disappointment than if you had not offered the trip at all. So if cost containment is key, rethink the type of reward.

Don't Make a Reward a Punishment

Similarly, if your annual sales meeting is in a resort destination, let the staff enjoy some of it. Don't schedule meeting after meeting until all hours. There's nothing worse than looking out at a golf course all day and then having time to tee off only when it gets dark.

Consistency

Similar to compensation, rewards and recognition must not unfairly play favorites. Rather, it should be based on specific evidence of achievement, however small or grandiose that may be.

Make It Fun

If you give a gift, don't just buy something boring that's a safe bet. Think about what your team members might really like. It could be more interesting items like a new gadget, luxury goods, personal care items, and so on. After all, if you are trying to motivate, it is not always just "the thought that counts." You might even be able to inconspicuously poke around for ideas first. In the end it shows that you went that extra mile.

Tapping into internal motivators is one of the keys to success for any manager, both today and in the future. It is also a skill that you can carry with you wherever you are in your career. Remember, it is not about what inspires you, but what inspires *them*.

In the next chapter (on training, coaching, and counseling), you will see many areas where motivation is important, and how this knowledge can make you a better manager. As a manager, it is in your hands to get the most out of your staff, and by following many of these techniques, what you will get in return is the best from them.

TRAINING, COACHING, AND COUNSELING: When and How to Apply Each

The topics in this chapter are all paramount to the sales manager's career. In fact, similar to communication skills and motivation, these skills are applicable to any position in management, so they will benefit you as you advance up the management ranks. It is also important to realize that while certain theories, skills, and techniques apply specifically to training, coaching, or counseling, there is also a great deal of crossover. You will find that right off the bat you are charged with some of each, depending on the person and the circumstances.

You will begin by looking at the area of training, which then directly ties in to coaching. Then we'll cover the topic of counseling and special circumstances including legal issues.

Methods of Training Based on Learning Styles

Every one of us has the ability to acquire information, store information, and call on that knowledge at any time. This ability is generated by a combination of factors unique to each of us. In the past, many teachers and trainers had limited their instruction to a traditional method of telling you something and hoping that you then absorbed that information.

Today, training is a far cry from that old method. The days of sitting in long lectures are being replaced by an array of new adult learning techniques. Before delving into core training methods, it is important to understand how we learn.

The Four Levels of Awareness

The way we learn is a process of four stages: unconscious incompetent, conscious incompetent, conscious competent, and unconscious competent.

Unconscious Incompetent

This is when someone does not know that a particular behavior, piece of knowledge, or skill exists. For example, a child too young to write may not be aware that the writing skill, exists. You might not have the skill nor be aware of it, or it is possible that you might just deny its importance or usefulness.

Conscious Incompetent

This is when someone realizes that he does not possess a specific skill set. This person might then decide to seek out this knowledge or not. Assuming it is a necessary skill you will hopefully be inclined to learn the skill to improve yourself.

Conscious Competent

This is when someone knows a particular skill, but must think about that skill in order to accomplish the behavior or activity. She might not require assistance, but more repetition and practice are still necessary to fully develop the skill. This is often a difficult level to fully surpass, as certain skills require a great deal of time to master.

Unconscious Competent

This is when a person does not stop to think about a particular skill. She is able to do it automatically. It is what is often called "second nature." She may not even realize that she is doing it nor how to explain it to others.

Each of these levels could pertain to any one of us at any given time, depending on the circumstances. At the same time you could

be at the unconscious competence level and then a particular related skill is brought into the picture and throws you back a stage or two. As a new manager, you are learning certain skills that you did not even know existed, as well as handling tasks and accomplishing certain things with ease. While the topic of training is primarily about improving the skills of your staff, you must first understand the basic training methods, and how and when to apply them. It is also your responsibility to continually move your staff forward in the learning stages.

Multiple Learning Styles

The human brain has a tremendous capacity to multitask. Therefore, we are able to learn and be at different levels of awareness for different things all at the same time. The ways that we get people to learn will vary, and there are a plethora of tools to make this happen. Today, the emphasis is on the receiver of the information or a learner-focused environment.

Learner intake can be done via stimulus impacting any of the five senses (hearing, feeling, sight, smell, taste).

The three traditional learner intake styles are depicted in Figure 7-1:

Auditory Kinesthetic Visual

The other two—olfactory (smell) and gustatory (taste)—are not as important in the types of training you will be involved in.

As it relates to the primary styles, some learn by using auditory skills that enable them to process information that is heard. Others like being part of the experience, feeling, touching, or working with a product or service. Still others prefer to use their sight to process information being provided to them. Of course, we all can learn by using a combination, but typically one style of learning is most suited to us and provides the best environment for us to learn.

Auditory

Auditory learners gain knowledge through hearing. The interpersonal intelligence is extremely important since auditory learners like to have someone "talk them through it." They prefer listening to a



Figure 7-1. Different learner styles.

tape instead of reading a book. The auditory learner will remember what is said over what was seen.

Auditory learners might expose their style by frequently saying things like "I am listening to you" or "That sounds good."

Ways to help train the Auditory:

- Converse with him often.
- Give presentations (more lecture style).
- Allow time for Q&A after a presentation.
- Ensure a conducive setting for open discussions and dialogue.
- Provide tapes or videos whenever possible.

Kinesthetic

Kinesthetic learners are sometimes called tactile or physical learners. They absorb information through moving, doing, and touching. Kinesthetic learners will think best as they are pacing. They have a tendency to gesture frequently or have exaggerated facial expressions during conversations. Kinesthetic learners can remember subjects or locations best when they have had a lot of involvement with the subject and spent time at the subject's location. For example, the kinesthetic learner would tend to be field-dependent. They prefer to learn in the contextual environment. Field trips, hands-on experiments, and real-life applications are most important. Kinesthetic learners want to try it first, then read about what they just did. Textbooks and lectures are of limited value.

They might express their preferred style by asking to participate in a demonstration.

Ways to help train the Kinesthetic:

- Paint mental pictures.
- Use metaphors.
- Show videotaped demonstrations of a subject.
- Observe or participate in role-playing.
- Allow them to work on flipcharts.
- Ask them to imitate or practice something.

Visual

The visual learner processes information through seeing. Visuals like to follow the pictures and read the directions. They prefer art to music. They might memorize through visual associations. The visual learners tend to accept things for how they look. They may buy something based on how it looks, even if they don't fully understand its applications. Visual learners can learn in a flexible environment. Noise is usually not a distraction. The exception to their flexibility is someone in their space or blocking their view.

Employeees might offer clues as to their learning style by looking for more descriptive examples of the subject matter being presented.

Ways to help train the Visual:

- Use colorful and visually appealing presentations.
- Handouts and overheads are desirable.
- Provide charts, learning maps, posters, etc.
- Have them take notes on a subject being taught (the act of writing it down can be useful).

The objective is to expose the new salesperson to as many of the techniques as possible to ensure that what you are training is compatible with the salesperson's learning style. You can also look for other clues in advance from the salesperson as well. For example, the better presenters and public speakers on your team will tend to be more auditory learners. And those that tend to explain things to others by allowing them to fully participate in the learning are likely more kinesthetic themselves.

It is also helpful to think in terms of personal styles (DISC) when training. For example, if the employee is a High "C" (Contemplative), it will be best to train him using concise, detailed data, attempting to fill in all of the pieces of the puzzle. A High "D" (Directive) might be more impatient and just want the core information, not all of the explanation around it.

Furthermore, some prefer a slower pace, allowing for more time to absorb all of the information; moving too fast could overwhelm them. Also, keep in mind that within each style of learning there are those who prefer to work independently and those who prefer to learn more in a group setting. Therefore, it is always good to mix up the amount of interaction (i.e., individual learning, group in pairs, team learning, and so on).

Also, don't forget one of the best but most often underutilized ways of discovering a preferred style—to ask! We have all been trained over the years, and many of us already know what style we prefer, at what pace we like to learn, and in what type of setting, so why fight it? If you are already training someone on something that is potentially a weakness, why make it that much more difficult? It can only lead to more frustration on the part of the learner.

With this knowledge, it is up to you to try to work into your sales training various methods of the three learner intakes, deciding when and with whom to provide these different approaches—sight (visual), sound (auditory), or more hands-on (kinesthetic).

THE CORE CONCEPTS OF REINFORCEMENT

Now that you have some basis for how people learn best, it is important to couple this with behaviors that promote and support the training. Behavioralist B.F. Skinner (1904–1990) was a pioneer in the subject of reinforcement, and his theories form the basis of much of the work and techniques used today.

Reinforcer. Any stimulus affecting the individual that he seeks to experience.

Aversive Stimulus. Any stimulus affecting the individual that she seeks to avoid.

In the work setting, for most people, reinforcers and aversive stimuli usually come from the behavior of other people. Examples of this are as follows:

Reinforcer	Aversive Stimuli
Praise	Inconsiderate treatment
Recognition	Reprimands
Attention	Being ignored
Being liked	Being mocked
Understanding	Criticism

Also, what may be reinforcing to some people may indeed be an aversive stimulus to another. For example, as you recall from the topic of motivation, some people enjoy a great deal of public recognition. However, some find that type of recognition embarrassing.

Supervision is another example. Oversupervision on a project may demoralize the individual attempting to complete a certain task. Remember some of those traits of a micromanager? On the other hand, there are those that prefer a certain amount of supervision, and it could be an aversive stimulus if they are not being paid attention to.

Pairing

Any stimulus can become a reinforcer or aversive stimulus through pairing. By this we mean that something like praising can become aversive by pairing it with criticism. For example, "That was a good job you did creating that sales proposal, Fred, but why did it take so long to get the printing done?"

As a manager, it is up to you to get to the bottom of what is affecting your salespeople, both negatively and positively. You may find that a salesperson has been avoiding a certain customer because that customer is aversive to the salesperson. Recognizing that information about the salesperson could help you think of certain areas of training that will hopefully offset the avoidance behavior. For example, it could be that the person is always trying to present new products when a needs analysis has not even taken place yet, and this is turning the customer off. In this case, more training on how to probe and ask discovery questions to get to the customer's pain points might be helpful, and then the presentation can follow.

You could also find that just by getting more involved with the salesperson and understanding his challenges, you are providing reinforcing stimuli.

Therefore, it is important to recognize on an individual basis what is reinforcing and what is aversive to that individual. Attention must be focused on the individual's action or reaction to any outside influences that seem to be affecting her in a reinforcing or aversive manner.

Principles of Reinforcement

Any response followed by a reinforcer has a higher probability of occurrence in the future.

This means that it is important to catch people doing things right and then recognizing that activity. When recognizing people for doing things right, be specific in describing the correct behavior. Tell them exactly what they did right and why it was right. Conversely to what some novice managers think, encouraging employees and telling them what a good job they did will not make them lazy or overconfident but rather sets the stage for them to continue with the positive behavior.

However, a negative action can also be reinforced. For example, consider the person in a meeting who complains about everything. That person is usually reinforced by attention. When you allow that person to dominate the floor or constantly recognize her, you have reinforced the complaining, and the behavior will continue. One option here is to just ignore it. Of course, a deeper behavioral issue might need to be addressed directly with her in a more appropriate setting. We discuss this in greater detail later in the section "Coaching and Counseling."

Any response not followed by a reinforcer has a lower probability of occurrence in the future.

Assume, for a moment, that a certain salesperson has excellent presentation skills. When observing him making sales presentations,

the manager forms a positive impression but for whatever reason says nothing about the positive behavior (as in complimenting or congratulating him on a job well done). After a while, there will probably be a slight drop in the efficiency of that salesperson's presentation skills. This could be because the salesperson feels that either his presentation skills are not important or his skills are not actually very good. Neither assumption by the salesperson is accurate, but could, unfortunately, be the end result. Again, holding back on praise is not the answer.

Any behavior followed by an aversive stimulus has a lower probability of occurrence in the future.

In one example, a salesperson who complains constantly about other employees can be told that talking about others behind their backs is not constructive, and, in turn, he takes on a more positive outlook. Another example would be ideas that are given to management that are completely ignored, which could reduce the odds of additional new ideas being presented—two completely different stimuli, the latter of course being a result that was not intended.

To decrease the probability of a behavior controlled by a reinforcer, pair the reinforced behavior with an aversive stimulus.

Let's return to the example whereby a salesperson likes to be center stage because he finds recognition in meetings reinforcing. On a one-on-one basis, the person is told that other people in the group find this to be disruptive and unproductive and that if he continues in this fashion that he will not be included in future meetings.

An aversive stimulus (taking away recognition) was paired to what that person considered a reinforcer (attention in meetings, even though the attention was negative). In turn, that threat of no attention at all will decrease the probability of the disruptive behavior occurring in the future.

Now consider the salesperson who reaches 150 percent of his quota only to be told that the quota "must have been too soft." The odds of that salesperson reaching this high a percentage of his quota again will be reduced. Here the unintended result could be taking away some of the motivation or foundation previously built up.

To decrease the response controlled by an aversive stimulus, pair that aversive stimulus with a reinforcer.

Because many managers have been programmed to catch people doing things wrong, those managers have a tendency to become an aversive stimulus to the salespeople. In order to provide reinforcing stimulus to these people, managers must focus their attention on reinforcing behaviors. Again, the simplest way to do this is to not only catch people doing things right, but also by make it known at the right moment.

Here it is important to note that timing of the response (or lack of a response) is critical to reinforcement theory. As you know, something can lose its affect with the passing of time. For example, when you find that your salesperson has just done something well, it is better to commend her right after the occurrence as opposed to waiting some time. Also, not just the length of time, but the amount of times, can affect this as well. Reinforcing someone one time and then not doing so on subsequent instances can turn into an aversive stimuli.

Giving feedback or criticism is one of the more challenging areas for a manager. However, keep in mind that when criticism is presented in what is perceived to be a positive way, it can actually become constructive and productive.

Take the following example:

Manager: On that last call, you positioned the third benefit in a negative way. If you reword your approach, it will be even more effective. I know you can do that because the rest of the presentation was done very well.

Similar to this, remember that you hold the keys to turning around a negative sentiment and making it something more positive. For example:

Salesperson:	Boy, I really messed up that contract with the XYZ account.
Manager:	Do you mean the XYZ account in New York? I think they've kept up business well with us, even with the price increases we were forced to pass on to them due to our rising costs in raw materals.

The Problems with Using Aversive Stimuli

• When people constantly pair themselves with aversive stimuli, they eventually become aversive by reputation.

Training, Coaching, and Counseling

- Employees withhold information from aversive managers.
- Using aversive stimuli to reduce the probability of an undesirable behavior does not necessarily increase the probability of desirable behavior.

As managers and leaders, it is vital to utilize the correct reinforcers at every possible opportunity. Again, pay attention to when your staff is doing things right, and reinforce that positive behavior. Positive reinforcment can help to improve the environment for the individual to be motivated from within.

Reinforcement in Training

The rule when training new salespeople is simple: Always use positive reinforcement on positive behaviors. Looking at it another way, never think of punishing someone for something they do not know how to do. Even when making corrections, always finish with a positive. This gets the salesperson focused on making the correction instead of dwelling on your feedback. In the long run, a series of small positives will add up to a larger positive, and the result will be better performance.

The Development of Winners

Training sometimes appears to be more complicated than what it really is. In fact, training follows a very basic cycle. The objective is always to get to a specific goal of development.

The Training Cycle

Tell: The first part of the cycle is to tell the individual what should be done and what will be expected, based on a specific standard of performance.

Show: Demonstrate the procedure or process to them.

Try: After the demonstration, allow the trainee to try the procedure while being observed.

Evaluate: While observing performance to evaluate what was learned, focus on functionality and not personality. Evaluate based on the goals.
Correct: Get the trainee's opinion of the performance. If the trainee did not perform properly but knows it, learning has still taken place. Practice will now improve performance.

Keep in mind that the norm is to start with "Tell." If, however, there is uncertainty as to the trainee's capabilities, it is best to start with "Try."

For example, if a person goes to a golf instructor to take golf lessons, one of the first things the instructor will do is to ask the person to hit a few balls on the driving range. Once the instructor has observed and evaluated the person, she can now correct, and the cycle continues.

The New Team Member

Rarely is any direct stair-step approach or system found in dealing with human behavior. Developing winners will still follow a very distinct pattern. Some people will move faster than others, but all go through certain phases.

Of course, a new hire will have his own distinct challenges, which could include the following:

- Learning about the products/services
- Learning about the organization
- Getting to know his colleagues
- Learning about and getting to know the customers
- Learning about the competition
- Learning new systems (CRM, Sales Force Management software, etc.)
- Understanding the business processes and working relationships
- Other

This is a time to really step up as a manager and get involved to make a new hire's training and acclimation to the work environment as smooth as possible. A few suggestions would be:

• Have a plan for her (first day, week, month, quarter, etc.). This doesn't have to necessarily cover all the details of her job, but it should hit most of the core areas.

- Networking. Let him get to know the people he is going to work closest with in a stress-free environment. No need to have someone start in a "trial by fire" atmosphere if it is not necessary. Again, training is tough enough for most people.
- Rotate her about the core departments. If at all possible, let her spend some of those first few weeks meeting and talking about the roles, responsibilities, and challenges in other departments.
- Give him time. While you might operate in a very aggressive sales atmosphere, realize that some people are ready to pound the pavement on day one and others need more time to grasp things. That does not necessarily mean the latter has less potential; it could be just the opposite.

Your Existing Team Players

It is time to look at the level of competency and skills of each individual salesperson. This is where many managers categorize their staff as A, B, and C players (or something similarly straightforward). In a perfect world you would have a team of all A's. However, as you probably realize, that is not the case. You likely have a staff that fits into a classic type of curve:

A Players—Low Percentage B Players—High Percentage C Players—Low Percentage

If your systems are properly in place (especially the sales and comp plan), it should be easy to identify where your team members fall. If not, your job is a bit more challenging. However, you still have the ability and insights to identify those who shine in the field and those who seem to be setting everyone back.

Whatever the percentage of each (Å, B, C breakdown), the task is the same, to maximize overall productivity. So the critical question is: Where do you spend your time?

If you think back to the basics of time management and prioritizing, it seems intuitive that you would want to focus on the A tasks (then B and, only if time permits, C). This same idea holds true for training your team, with certain exceptions. Another way to think of this is like the 80/20 rule in account management. With your team, you can easily fall into the trap of spending 80 percent of your time with the players that show the least upside potential. Meaning, the incremental gain to focusing on C players is often minimal, whereas the gain by enhanced training of the A ones could be exponential.

The following are some of the common reasons why new managers spend too much time with the C's:

- Productivity is down with the C's.
- The C's are always at your door.
- The A's are rarely at your door.
- The star players intimidate you.
- If it isn't broke, don't fix it (A's).
- Poor time management.

All of these reasons in a way lend themselves to why you should spend *more* time with your stars and less with those that are tying up all of your time with little gain. Now that you have some tools in place to better manage your time and ways to increase motivation in your team, it is time to focus your attention on those who will benefit you the most. Sure, training your best producer might seem awkward at first, and you will likely get some resistance, but it could be more advantageous than focusing on all those C players combined. Here is an example the typical A verses C upside potential.

Revenues/Past 3 Years	3 Years	2 Years	1 Year	This Year
	Ago	Ago	Ago	
Тор	1,350,000	1,300,000	1,275,000	1,400,000
C Producers	1,000,000	975,000	1,110,000	1,220,000

In this not so uncommon example, by providing the right training to your star, you have increased her sales by 10 percent. While working with the few C players you manage, sure you have also increased sales by 10 percent, but it took up a significantly greater piece of your time compared to working on maybe one or two extra skill enhancements your star player was missing. Also, you will notice in this scenario that the top producers' performance (or at least revenues) was deteriorating slightly year over year. This could relate back to the reinforcement examples discussed; a lack of the

Training, Coaching, and Counseling

right stimuli under the right circumstances will only set them back. Even someone who by all appearances wants to be left alone has internal motivators that can be tapped into and deficiencies in certain skills.

One particular situation you might find is that your A players give off the impression that they are very engaged and eager to learn and participate. While this might be the case, it can actually be a smokescreen. For example, they might be eager to communicate with you and others and flex their own muscles or brag about their successes. Their confidence can put a new manager on the defensive, feeling uncomfortable approaching them for training. Well, you will at some point need to approach these top performers, similar to colleagues who have been your friends. And just like in these other unique situations, if you do so in as objective a manner as possible, focusing on goals (theirs, yours, and the organization's), you will be able to make these breakthroughs.

Now for an important caveat. While there are certainly those A's who deserve your attention, there are going to be B's and even some C's that have a great deal of upside potential as well. This is where your job can get even more intricate, identifying the right internal motivators and types of training necessary and then getting a sense of how valuable this could prove to be.

This is where you need to be sure to identify all the strengths and weaknesses of each of your team members. You can then conduct a gap analysis and see where your most likely benefits can come from. For example, if you determine a weakness in a solid B performer getting referrals, you can determine how far off he is from really grasping this art and then map out the appropriate training to get him there. Or if more praise or recognition is what a C player needs, you might find that this alone can dramatically change her eagerness to perform. The golden rule—like they say about picking stocks in the market, "the upside gains need to outweigh the downside potential." As you can imagine, an eager salesperson is still just a starting point. In order to take her to the next level, she needs skills, and training is the way to make this happen. Also, keep in mind that you can train in many areas, but the primary ones that will impact performance relate back to those skills that make up the exceptional sales professional—communication skills, business acumen, technical knowledge, and market experience. Through your efforts, a salesperson needs to possess two things:

- The necessary skills and knowledge (four categories)
- A motivational foundation that will drive her forward

If she is low in both, she will of course require more guidance in both.

If she is high in one—say, skills and knowledge—but the motivational factors are not there, then you will need to work on the environmental ones.

If he has the motivational factors but not the skills and knowledge, then of course you will need to work on the latter. However, keep in mind that, as we have been discussing, they can both go very much hand in hand. For example, how can you expect someone to be eager to receive more training when he is demotivated? Also, as you have seen, it does not have to be a broad-based motivational issue, but rather one that touches on a particular area that is posing a challenge to the salesperson. In this case, be careful not to push too hard in that area, as the problem could get worse.

This is a very difficult level of learning, especially for a new hire. An extreme example is when responsibility after responsibility seem to compound themselves, and then the realization strikes that the job or position is far more complicated than originally thought. All the information that has been given during the earlier learning phases has now become scrambled. The employee's confidence level drops. He questions his own ability to handle what he thought looked very attainable in the interview.

This is when you need to slow down the information flow while at the same time building esteem and self-assurance.

One useful way to build up confidence without overwhelming the salesperson is to get her more involved in the decision making. If the salesperson can do just a small piece of a project or new task well, let her do it. While something may seem insignificant to you, it could actually be significant to the trainee.

For example, if an important report is due immediately, let the trainee help with the design. Although the content of that report may be significant, the design or outline (although an integral part) is probably not as significant. Even if the salesperson's input into the design is small, if it is remotely close to something you can use, you should consider it. This will allow him to feel part of the report and at the same time have his confidence bolstered by your willingness to give him credit.

The trainee will be able to learn about the report more quickly because he is involved and because he feels appreciated and that his input is valued.

Also, how a salesperson responds to a particular activity is typically based on her past training as well as other, sometimes tricky to identify, factors. Your staff might avoid activities for several reasons:

- It could be a behavior conflict— high D's don't like paper-work.
- It could be a value conflict—learning a computer spreadsheet program doesn't relate directly to selling.
- It could also be a lack of proper reinforcement on the manager's part. A particular report may sit on the your desk for several weeks before being read, and therefore the salesperson assumes it's not important to you. Here you could be inadvertently reinforcing a laissez-faire attitude. After all, why should the salesperson care about the report if you don't seem to? This can only be compounded if you were the one to initially ask for the report and stress its importance. While some of these examples have demonstrated subtle ways of changing behaviors, reprimands are often more direct.

An important note regarding reprimands: Always remember that reprimands must be saved for people who absolutely know what they are doing, but who are not doing it or not doing it well. Do not use reprimands for people who do not know what their job is or how to do a specific function of that job. Even if they know how to do it, make sure you have tried to motivate them and that you have worked through the training process carefully before you resort to reprimands.

A final level where a saleperson could be is both high in motivation and strong in the necessary skills. Time to let him coast, right? Wrong. If you are working with someone who possesses both the eagerness to produce as well as the skills and knowledge, then your challenge is to keep making both stronger.

One caution as it relates to your star players: If as a manager you turn to your thoroughbreds more often, knowing they are the ones

to usually come through, the results could ultimately turn into a "piling on" or "dumping" syndrome.

If the workload gets too high, the winners will begin to prioritize their work. That prioritized schedule may or may not be the same priority as yours. If it is not the same—the wrong reinforcers, aversive stimuli—ultimately reprimands often become the result.

As the frustration grows in both camps, the high achievers now become less motivated and less eager to perform.

The object is to let the winners stay winners. This does not mean that winners are to be ignored. It means to set short-term and long-term objectives, add parameters to any goals, and let the winners take it from there.

Keep in mind that winners, like all of your team members, will always need to improve upon existing skills and learn new ones. It is often a veteran salesperson that is used to the systems in place and prefers the status quo. This new level of training could set her back in this area. The trick is to not let it affect other areas of her work.

Remember that if you can keep her moving in the right direction, nothing could be better than a star player exemplifying positive behaviors.

The Catch to Training

There are two distinct challenges with training. The first is recognizing the speed that people take in learning. The second is the fact that one person will be in all four training stages at the same time depending on the skill.

Some people will move faster than others through the training cycle. Again, much of this depends on past experiences. In other words, if people can relate to something, they will absorb it faster. If a job or project is not relative to a past experience, the brain has to search for a place to store or connect that information. That search for relativity takes longer.

The answer is to take the time to understand all team members in the interview or goal-setting process. Know what they relate to and give them information during the training cycle that is conducive to their thought process.

The second problem, being in different stages of development at the same time, further complicates your role as trainer. This is a problem eventually because of the negative effect it can have on the salesperson over all.

Training, Coaching, and Counseling

Let's look at using sales automation software again as a skill. Someone may be excellent with a specific contact management program; however, if a new one is introduced that is mandatory to use, this person will automatically move a step backward. The desire may be there, but the understanding of the new program may not.

The new program will not work just like the older one, and if the salesperson is not introduced to it properly, getting to the next stage could be very frustrating. Even worse, the salesperson may develop contempt for it, and maybe even for you. Clearly something that if gone unchecked can hurt you and the rest of the team.

At this point, a good idea would be to relate the old program as much as possible to the newer version, highlighting the like features as well as the the differences.

As the person relates specific functions old and new, the new program becomes less complicated and the person becomes more comfortable.

The salesperson is now accomplished with the new program. It is now time to raise the bar and introduce him to the more advanced features that it offers. Of course, this means going back to the beginning in this area, so you need to start all over with tying in something that will help to motivate him.

Happily, the process works. Almost every training demand or problem has a solution. As a sales manager, you take responsibility for the training in order to move all people in the direction of your star performers.

Just imagine an entire staff of winners in all categories.

It is now time to focus specifically on one of the major functions of the sales manager: on-the-job training.

"Ride-Withs" or Joint Sales Calls

As a sales manager, you will likely have to be out in the field making joint sales calls with your salespeople. While your amount of time in the field may vary, the idea is to have your planning and reporting done in such a way that will still provide you with a great deal of time to be out on the road. Many argue over the optimal percentage—15 percent, 25 percent, 50 percent, or even up to 80 percent of your time—but it is really more dependent on your industry, your specific role, the type of sale, and your staff's capabilities.

No matter what the target for your time on the road, you will need to look back at the territory plan with your sales team members and make sure that you interweave your own plan, accounting for how your time will be spent. For example, if X sales rep is scheduled to see Q, R, S, and T accounts, then you need to plan accordingly if you are making any or all of these calls jointly.

Some of the factors to consider when deciding on whether or not to make a joint sales call are:

Distance. Is there major travel involved (by rail, cross-country, overseas)?

Organization of Territory. Is it by geography, where there is a more systematic approach to the visits, or is it more piecemeal, where a route needs to be developed from scratch?

Rank of Account. What is the overall value of the account (e.g., are they a must-visit or a nice-to-visit only if there is extra time to spare)?

Importance of the Sales Call. At what stage is the customer in the sales cycle?

Players Involved. Will the account have multiple contacts at the meeting, and are there other players from your company that are needed (e.g., technical specialist, financial specialist, etc.)?

Extenuating Circumstance. Is the salesperson having big problems with a key account or has a recent development just lifted an account from a Low to a High Value status?

Once you have laid out your own plan, there are several rules (do's and don'ts) to follow when making the joint sales call.

Far too often, the problem that many sales managers have is the urge to take over the sales call. When a manager sees a salesperson starting to lose ground, jumping in to try and save the day is what most managers believe is their role; however, it is often the worst thing you can do.

The rule in field sales training is to train during the "routine" calls. Do not set up on-the-job-training for must-get orders, dropin/unannounced calls, or even emergencies (which may be necessary but are not part of training).

Give the salesperson plenty of warning that you will be riding along. One argument for short notification is that you can catch her off guard and see what she is really doing when you are not looking. The problem with that argument is twofold:

- If she does not perform well, you cannot be sure if the reason is because of your unexpected presence or not.
- It sets up a level of distrust or unnecessary anxiety in the salesperson.

Others might still argue that if you give the salesperson plenty of notice, a "milk run" of the best customers could be set up. In other words, he knows the accounts where he has the soundest relationships and could steer you toward making joint calls to those accounts. Keep in mind that if the salesperson takes you to what he considers to be his best accounts, issues will still surface, especially with a B or C performer. They may not be glaring, but they will exist.

Therefore, if you give the salesperson plenty of notice and the performance is lacking or subpar, you will now be able to specifically target areas for improvement.

Choreographing the Joint Sales Call

Each call should be well planned. According to the experience level of the salesperson and the particular circumstances of the call, establish a leadership role. The general rule is that the salesperson should be the leader whenever possible. This can only help her confidence and increase her credibility with the customer in the long run. Of course, as a sales manager, you will inevitably have those really struggling team members where a routine sales call is never routine. This could also be the case with a new hire, who at some point needs to get his feet wet. Barring these two cases, the leader's job is also to decide who is going to do what during the call. For example, the leader can decide who will handle the product features part of the call versus the pricing and terms.

As a sales manager, once your plan is determined, you must stick to it. Do not jump in or interrupt unexpectedly, do not correct (unless, of course, a critical error was made), do not let the salesperson give it back to you, and do not take over the call. If the salesperson falters, you can train after the call. Again, the idea is that together you have selected accounts and situations where the outcome is not highly at risk. By trying to take over the sales call, you not only lose out on valuable training needs, but it could possibly end up hurting the customer relationship with you and/or the salesperson.

If, as part of the plan, you have already established that you can step in from time to time to clarify information, a great way to be in sync is to establish subtle signals. By tapping on his notepad, for example, the salesperson could indicate to the manager that her help is needed here, or, in the event that you have already stepped in, that it is time to give back the floor to the salesperson. Another approach is for the salesperson to finish whatever he is saying and then turn to you to ask, "Is there anything you want to add?" Again, after adding or clarifying anything, turn the call back over to the salesperson.

After the call (yet before the next call on your schedule), coach the salesperson using the reinforcement techniques and techniques given based on the training stage she is in. If you find that the training points you wish to discuss will require a great deal of time and effort, you could wait until the end of the day to review. However, if at all possible, never wait longer than that. Remember, delayed feedback can only increase anxiety on the part of the salesperson.

As soon as you can, reinforce what the salesperson did right first. Then you can seek to correct what the person did wrong. After that, always finish up with another positive.

You will also want to establish a follow-up time to ride with the salesperson again. Here you might want to have the salesperson plan accounts that will allow practice and demonstration of what was learned and hopefully improved on from the previous call. Again, this can only help to set her up for success.

To summarize, before training people, managers need to know how to transfer information in an efficient manner. Knowing a person's learning style allows you to take into account where he is in the learning cycle and apply the training accordingly. Reinforcement must be properly used to help bolster confidence and selfesteem.

The learner must also be eager to learn (motivational environment) and then will need to possess those skills and knowledge necessary for success. Always remember that people can be in different stages based on different skills and activities, and it is your job to go at the appropriate pace with each individual to ensure that they are moving in the right direction.

Some key ideas to keep in mind:

- Train based on the learning styles.
- Always reinforce positive behavior.
- Train at a level and pace where transference can take place.
- Work through the learning cycle; do not skip steps.
- Guide your staff through stages of training.
- Ultimately you will generate winners.
- End the day with a stronger team than you began with.

COACHING AND COUNSELING

While we have separated much of the theory and practice of training from coaching and counseling, there is also a great deal of crossover. In fact, the whole category of on-the-job training (making joint sales calls) is often called "sales coaching." One way to think of it is that during the entire process you are acting as a sales coach, whereas the specific skills that are taught before, during, and after the sales call is the training.

Furthermore, there is also a fine line between coaching and counseling. The line here is between functionality and motivation. If a person has no knowledge or only partial knowledge of a particular job function, then that person needs to be coached toward competency. On the other hand, if that same person knows how to perform a particular job function and is just not doing so, there is another issue. This issue could range from a simple motivational one to a more complex one where counseling needs to take place. Another way to look at it is that coaching has to do with the performance and the standards set, and counseling has to do with a problem that is affecting the employee and that could be affecting others as well.

For the most part, they can both be looked at through the process of goal-setting. Because, as you have seen, in the absence of goals, you have nothing to be working toward.

GOAL-SETTING SESSIONS

There are six basic steps to developing specific goals for your team members.

- 1. Set your own goals.
- 2. Set the stage.
- 3. Get opinions and facts.
- 4. Relate your opinion and facts.
- 5. Develop specific goals with specific plans (together).
- 6. Follow up.

Understanding the importance of these steps is key to being able to carry them out effectively. In both motivation and training you learned that it is necessary to develop salespeople in a way that will allow them to be motivated from within, thus maximizing their capabilities. Goal setting is often a core building block in this process.

Goal-setting sessions are a key component to coaching your team. They should be positive and growth-oriented. Design them to help people develop in areas of weakness in a win-win environment. Therefore, be sure to not use these sessions to reprimand people, as this will defeat the purpose. As you learned, reprimands do not work when training; save them for those who already have task knowledge and skills and refuse to use that ability to develop the territory or to help the team.

It is your job as a manager to help salespeople develop specific goals with specific plans to achieve them. Many people do not succeed because they do not have a specific goal nor the necessary direction. If you assist your team members in identifying and achieving what they want, in turn you will get what you want.

The Process

With this purpose in mind, the steps are as follows:

1. Set Your Own Goals

This is the point to develop a strategic direction for the session. The situation may be dealing with a weakness in someone that needs to be strengthened. Another scenario may be to work more with someone who could be developed for a promotion. The goal could be as simple as showing someone how to develop better habits, or the goal may be as complex as helping the salesperson control outbursts of anger.

Whatever the reason, have a specific direction in mind before entering the goal-setting session. However, do not get so locked into your own goals that the individual's needs end up being ignored. In setting your own goals, eliminate personality and deal with functionality. A good way to think of this is to always ask yourself the question of how the goal relates to the job, rather than what is your personal opinion of the individual. It is helpful to keep in mind the person's DISC style and his internal motivators, as you will need to communicate effectively as well as tap into the right motivators along the way.

Plan a meeting date in advance with a mutually convenient time and place so there can be no interruptions. By not allowing interruptions, you're establishing the importance of the session.

Prior to the meeting, review any materials appropriate to the session, including previous meeting information, job description, articles, books, growth areas, etc.

Take into account everyone's time. As you know, experienced managers realize the importance of both their time and their sales team's. Often having the goal-setting sessions back-to-back with several people is not the best use of anyone's time. Pick the number of goal-setting sessions per month that you feel comfortable with. For example, if you have a core of six people, you could set time aside for one-hour sessions with each of them. You could then schedule one session every two weeks for twelve weeks in a row. The other benefit to doing this is that managers will get constant feedback from their people. Managers can develop their own coaching skills, and get better at goal setting and planning.

2. Set the Stage

Since these are meant to be growth sessions, the environment should be friendly and nonthreatening. The physical surroundings should be professional. Inform the person as to the purpose behind goal setting and how the session will be conducted. Also, stress the importance of the session itself.

At the end of the session, put a plan in writing. Taking notes during the discussion has its pros and cons. If you feel you need to take notes in order to keep track of key points, then do so, but keep in mind that it can be distracting and for some might add a level of anxiety.

The first meeting will be slightly different than the subsequent

meetings. The first meeting will involve a lot of discussion about goals and performance. Subsequent meetings will likely involve clarification of goals and interim checks.

It is not always necessary to prepare a detailed agenda for each meeting. In fact, in some cases you may not know in advance which skills the employee needs coaching in.

3. Get Opinions and Facts

Find out what the other person is thinking first. This is a two-way conversation that requires reciprocity. In order to know which way to take the goal-setting session, it is important to get further direction relative to the employee. Therefore, often the agenda for the second session will be established at the first, the third session agenda from the second, and so on. Coaching is similar in some ways to the interviewing process. You want to extract a great deal of information from the salesperson.

Ask questions that are open-ended and not leading:

- What do you like about your job?
- Is there anything you would like to change?
- What do you think you do best in your job?
- Where do you feel you would like to develop?
- Ideally, what would you like to be doing?

Generally speaking, the last question will directly relate to what you planned during the first part when setting your own goals for the session. If it doesn't, you need to ask more probing questions.

Here again are a few of those core interviewing tips to apply:

- Do not interrupt.
- Do not jump to conclusions.
- Keep an open mind.
- Listen, listen, and listen.

You will find out everything from "I hate to do paperwork" and "I am having trouble with certain customers" to more complex situations like "I don't know if I am cut out for sales" and "I do not like working with X, and something needs to change."

4. Relate Your Opinions and Facts

Review what the person's perception is about personal strengths and weaknesses. Reinforce the positives first. Agreement and recognition of the strong points will aid in the dialogue. On the items where there is no agreement, you need to ask more questions for clarification. Determine whether there's a discrepancy in your perceptions versus the employee's—for example, if the person thinks he does the job well when, according to preestablished standards, he is not doing the job appropriately. You might then need to provide clarification and once again relate everything back to the job description and performance standard in place.

Explain yourself. Any agreement or disagreement should be completely discussed. An honest discussion could reduce a very complicated subject to a simple one. It could also surface much larger, unknown problems that need to be solved immediately. Break the large problems down into smaller ones if necessary.

During the explanation, mentally get on the other person's side. Do not attack or try to put someone in the hot seat. On items of disagreement, be direct. Spending too much time posturing will dilute any message and distract from the subject at hand.

By being direct you must also be explicit. For example, the word *attitude* is an example of a term that has a variety of definitions and is used way too liberally by inexperienced managers. In dealing with someone that you feel has an "attitude problem," the first step is to define the behavior that is taking place that is causing that attitude. Definable problems have a much greater chance of being solved than those that are vague. By using more concrete terms and having specific examples or supporting evidence, you'll help to center the discussion around facts and objectivity rather than personality. This will avoid putting someone on the defensive or provoking anxiety, resentment, or even anger.

5. Develop Specific Goals with Specific Plans (Together)

A SMART goal now must be established for the salesperson. And the only way to reach that goal is with a plan. Also, as you learned in Chapter 3, when identifying goals, they could relate to corporate, departmental, and/or personal-level goals.

Be sure again to avoid relative terminology. If you ask someone to "communicate better and be more cooperative," you do not have a SMART goal in place. If that salesperson comes back the next day and says a big "good morning" to everyone, who is to say that that does not constitute improved communications?

Most important is the need for the session outcomes to be agreed to jointly. Both parties should know what the objective is and how it relates to job performance. If you cannot do anything to help the salesperson reach that goal, then you might be doing just the opposite. Remember, problems do not typically go away by themselves.

Have the salesperson write down the plan that was jointly developed and keep it in a place accessible for her. Then track the daily, weekly, or monthly activities as needed to see that what is being done as it relates to the goals that have been set.

Inspect What Is Expected—Periodic Check-Ins

Be sure to check in as needed, especially on any specific milestones. It shows that you care, and, at the same time, if you don't follow up, it gives the impression that you do not care, or even worse, that it just doesn't matter. Again, keep in mind the balance between checking in and micromanaging. Also, the profoundness of the goal and the employee behavioral pattern may vary, so you may need to act accordingly. For example, checking in on very minor activities can be seen as belittling or condescending to many people. Also, unless you have reason to believe otherwise, there is no reason to not give your staff the benefit of the doubt.

6. Follow Up

The official follow-up should have everything to do with what was done in steps one through five. The major difference is that the first session starts with questions such as: "How do you think you are doing in your job?" and the main question to address in the followup session is "How did you do against your plan?" Responsibility is directly on the employee's shoulders.

Follow-Up Scenarios

There are three scenarios that can happen at the follow-up session:

1. The employee completed everything to complete satisfaction.

- 2. The employee partially completed the goals.
- 3. The employee did nothing.

In the first scenario, the manager should reinforce the success and then move on to the next set of goals. In the second case, the manager needs to probe and investigate. Why did the person not perform to satisfaction? The answers could be:

- Lack of knowledge that would require more training
- Lack of time created by other projects
- Lack of motivation or another more serious problem that might require counseling along with potential consequences

Whatever the reason is, the employee needs to be accountable at some level. Unless you were informed in advance of something unforeseen that impeded her completing the goal (and it was a legitimate reason) or you did not follow through on something that you said that you would do, then it still should be addressed. After all, two-way communication is key, and, assuming you are doing your part, it is incumbent upon the salesperson to communicate openly and accurately as well.

The third scenario mentioned above could be lack of motivation or plain insubordination. This is where the process turns from coaching functionality to counseling motivation. While the six steps could still generally apply as well, they require extra care, and you need to determine how and what your role should be.

Some problems are sensitive subjects that you might need to address, such as absenteeism, tardiness, and rude behavior, whereas others can go beyond the scope of your responsibilities and include more than just motivation and minor behavioral issues. No matter how severe you feel the problem might or might not be, it is necessary to first check with your legal and/or human resources department and get their input on how to proceed.

If the problem even remotely seems of a more serious nature, such as some type of psychological dysfunction, the manager's duty is to turn the employee over to a professional at once.

These categories would include areas such as:

Drug or alcohol problems Physical threats Harassment of any kind Signs of abuse

Additional Legal Considerations

Remember, when in doubt or when something seems like a fine line, err on the side of caution. The information in this book is meant to be a guide and give you many of the core tools to help you succeed. However, it cannot delve into all of the specifics, nor can it stay current nor substitute for the law or your company's policies. Remember, as a sales manager, you have many new responsibilities, and one of them includes getting help when needed.

Of all of the job functions and skills needed as a manager, training and coaching through goal setting are some of the most important and widely used. They are not only something that you should not avoid, but something that you should embrace. Like other skills, they require a great deal of practice, so give yourself some time to allow them to build. This will increase your confidence as well. Also, as you have seen, they rely on many of the theories and techniques that you have been exposed to thus far. For example, they comprise a great deal of what was learned in interviewing, communications, planning, and motivation. In the long run, training, coaching, and counseling can be one of the most rewarding areas of sales management.

STEPPING UP TO BE A True Leader

It is only after having developed many of the fundamentals of management that you can begin to become a true leader. Managers help to bring out the best in others; leaders do so as well. However, leaders will, in turn, possess not only the tools of a great manager, but other characteristics as well. It is the combination of factors that encourages others to follow.

Why leaders need to possess the principles of management first is because the skills and techniques are so intertwined. Communication skills form much of the foundation, and as you have seen are critical in planning, hiring, motivating, training, coaching, and counseling.

Above and beyond this, a leader needs to exhibit certain core values that inspire others and help garner respect from staff, peers, and customers. As we mentioned in Chapter 1, you are now on two teams—that of a team player, working in tandem with other managers; and a team leader, developing your team for the long run.

With respect to your customers, you might find yourself on either one of the two teams, depending on the circumstances of the sale. As a sales manager, you may need to be a team player during a conversion project within the customer's operation and then the team leader, ensuring that the training is implemented in order to get the customer's operation fully up and running. Also, while you are often leading individuals to higher performance and productivity, you are also very often leading teams, small and large. Before looking at various types of teams, it is important to first understand what teams are all about.

The Characteristics of a Team

We have all been involved in teams from a very young age. This might have been in school, on the playing field, at home with family, or with friends. No matter what the team, the successful ones have certain commonalities.

Team definition: Groups of people with common skills working together toward a set of common goals, whose members communicate with and trust one another.

Types of Teams

There are two types of teams that need to be considered: the relationship team and the transactional one.

The relationship team is the one concerned with the ongoing responsibility for the project. This team is program-oriented and is consistently communicating potential solutions and improvements. A relationship team does not typically have a specific timetable associated with it, but rather it is a long-term team with an indefinite end point.

The transactional team typically has a start and stop point for an identifiable projects. Like a relationship team's goals are specific, measurable, attainable, relevant, and timely; however, once the project is complete, this type of team will often disband.

Teams and Planning

The foundation for establishing teams often comes out of the planning process. That is, it can be a strategy used to achieve an objective or goal. At the same time, just like in planning, a preassessment is necessary, in this case to see what type of team it should be and who should be the members.

Assessment—Where Are You Now?

Assessing the strengths and weaknesses of the individual team members is key to putting a team together. It then allows you to assess the strengths and weaknesses of the team as a whole.

Some questions on a micro (individual) level to consider are:

- What are the DISC patterns of the individuals?
- What are the probable strengths and potential weaknesses associated with those patterns?
- Have the individuals offset those potential weaknesses through a conscious effort?
- Based on job function, where are the salespeople in relationship to the training cycle?
- What training is needed to move the salespeople through the cycle?
- What is their level of eagerness (motivation) and knowledge and skills (four areas that make up the exceptional sales professional: communication skills, business acumen, technical knowledge, and market experience)?
- What coaching goals are already in place for the potential team members? What will the next set of goals require?

Other macro (team-level) areas to consider are:

- What strengths need to be brought to the team?
- Are the territories properly aligned?
- Are there any gaps where new hires or recruiting efforts need to focus?
- What team training needs to be implemented?

Mission

Because you have established a mission statement for your department or area of responsibility, the direction for the team has a baseline from which to work.

SMART Goals

To move everyone toward the mission, you will need to set goals for the individual salesperson as well as the team. The goals must move the team toward the mission's completion.

Responsibility

Each team member has been assigned responsibility and accountability for the tasks and functions needed to make the team successful. Of course, involving people from other departments within the company is also important to enhancing many sales teams. Manufacturing, finance, distribution, IT, and other departments could easily play a part on a team. In general, people from outside of one area (cross-functional) work especially well on transactional teams.

Tracking

All goals and action items need to be tracked properly, including time frames associated with them that are tied to the responsible parties. This allows everyone on the team to know when the deliverables are due and who is the primary responsible person for any particular project or task. It also should include checkpoints and/or progress reports along the way.

Action Items

Again, responsibility needs to be assigned to each action item the team needs to complete along the way in order to reach the goal(s). Each action item needs to be clearly understood and communicated to all involved.

Flexibility

Finally, establish contingencies, not only just in case, but also because change is inevitable. Being too rigid can only stifle growth.

The process around internal team planning has now been identified. However, teams can also include others outside of your organization, and, as you know in selling, it is critical to team up with your customer. This is how true long-term partnerships are formed.

MATCHING YOUR TEAM WITH YOUR CUSTOMER'S TEAM

Teaming up with customers is a process that helps establish joint goals and strategies. Many of the same concepts for developing your internal team apply to developing a partnership with your customers. Before creating external teams, determining what the customer considers important will ensure the success of the team relationship.

The planning stage is the best time to do an assessment and establish the foundation and the customer's expectations. Some questions to consider are:

- What is the political climate of the customer's business?
- Who in the customer's organization wants to be a team player? Who does not?
- Who is best for the relationship team?
- Who is best for the transactional team?
- How deep in the customer's organization are you going to be allowed to go?
- How high up in the organization are you going to be allowed to go?
- Will you have access to certain internal customer meetings on related projects?
- Are there backup or substitute team members?

Answers to these and other related questions will help establish the structure and operation of each team.

Once the customer's environment has been established, the next step is to pick the relationship and transactional teams. Keep in mind that usually the transactional teams cannot be created until the project has begun. This is because transactional teams often are designed to solve a current problem or offset a known future problem.

An initial step in deciding on team members is to brainstorm all of the departments that are involved. As you saw in Chapter 3 on planning, the more aligned you become with the customers, the stronger the relationship can be. Remember to think "out of the box" here, as you might find that a department that you least expected is actually a primary stakeholder. IT, for example, is key in so many new initiatives, as technology plays such a pivotal role in analyzing, managing and communicating information and data. Here are some of the main corporate departments or functions to look to team up with as it relates to both organizations—yours and your customer's:

- Sales
- Marketing
- Purchasing
- Legal
- Finance
- Engineering
- Corporate executives
- Operations
- IT
- Customer Service
- Manufacturing
- R&D

Once this has been identified, the next step is to create crossfunctional teams.

A note of caution for teams in general: In the beginning managers tend to establish a "committee of one" versus team approach. In this case, the manager tries to become the hub for all communications. This centralized control can generate departmental barriers, which tend to hurt the team. Again, keep in mind the team definition: *Groups of people with common skills working together toward a set of common goals, whose members communicate and trust one another*. This means that while you may be taking on a leadership role, you should not make yourself the centerpiece of the team, whereby everyone is either relying on or resenting your authority. Rather, you should communicate that you are still a member of the team and have the same goals as everyone else.

Selecting the Team Players for Cross-Functional Teams

This type of relationship team will be made up of key players, not necessarily management, from the predetermined departments. The objective is to get a team that is closest to the issue, product, or operation. The players selected need to:

- Be a knowledgeable representative of the respective department or area.
- Meet the motivation requirements from the earlier set of questions.

- Be willing to work with or even lead transactional teams.
- Be solution-oriented.

Once the players are determined, each player needs to be assigned a specific function as a team member based on expertise. It is also important early on that each team player describe to the other members her respective job function and responsibilities. In other words, do not assume that everyone knows what everyone else does. The more understanding that team members have of one another and the roles they play within their organizations, the more solutions-oriented the team will be.

Also, by assigning specific tasks along with accountability to each team player, buy-in for the project is created for the players as a whole. The more team members understand the importance that they have for the team, the more motivated those team members will be. In addition, it tends to be best that one person is ultimately responsible for the completion of an action item. This does not mean that others do not have their say, nor that their involvement is not expected. Rather, it is difficult to spread accountability too thin. When this happens, everyone tends to point fingers.

Influencing Your Customer's Team

The best way to influence the customer's team and to become a partner is to find the common denominators between the two. Although most of this would have been done in the planning stage, reminding the customer of the common elements is significant in convincing him to become, and stay, a partner. For example:

- 1. Both partners have certain common objectives (e.g., profit improvement, improved quality, cost containment, etc.).
- 2. Both have an equal risk, which includes something to gain and something to lose.
- 3. Both add value to one another.
- 4. Both are supportive of the other instead of being competitive or territorial.
- 5. Both are reliable and straightforward.
- 6. Both enjoy the relationship and work at making it even stronger.

Sometimes companies choose to keep a progress or feedback form that encompasses all of the updated information on work being done with the customer. The feedback form helps to keep your plan, your team players, and the customer's team players on track. The written document could be distributed at regular intervals, for example, weekly, biweekly, or monthly.

The Evolution of a Team

Remember, teams can be of different sizes and types and can take on a personality of their own. The one unifying factor is the progression that they follow:

Stages of Team Development

In 1965, Dr. Bruce Tuckman developed a theory based on the four stages of team development as a way to look at the process that teams go through when working together. Then, in the mid 1970s, he refined the theory, identifying a fifth stage to team development.

- 1. Forming
- 2. Storming
- 3. Norming
- 4. Performing
- 5. Adjourning

In the *Forming* stage, team members are introduced and become acquainted with one another. They often share information about themselves, and some of their strengths and weaknesses are either shared or become visible.

The second stage, *Storming*, is often the most difficult. Team members find out, not just through information sharing but also by actual actions and behaviors, who is willing to contribute and at what level. Any preconceived notions members had about one another become amplified or altered (positive or negative) as they become more familiar with one another.

In the *Norming* stage, team members have worked through some of the initial challenges and differences and begin to set up processes to complete the tasks and project. A consensus is reached as to who

Stepping Up to Be a True Leader

is responsible for which deliverable and how and when it is to be accomplished.

In the *Performing* stage, the strategies and tactics are carried out in pursuit of the objectives and goals. Relationship issues are, for the most part, cleared up, and every member begins to carry out his or her duties as they relate to the role they play on the team.

In the final stage, *Adjourning*, the team will share their results with others and formulate the next steps. Those next steps could be that the team applies the knowledge or action and then moves into the next round of activities, or that the outcomes are transferred to or used by others not relating directly to the team and the team disbands.

As you look at these five stages today, keep in mind that they can actually relate to anything from a short-term transaction team to a long-term relationship-oriented team. It is the amount of time and intensity you spend in each stage that will vary. The key is that from all of the planning already done to be able to limit the extremes in order to save more time for productive team involvement as opposed to spending too much time in the "storming" stage, which is often the case when teams are not well thought-out and expectations and goals are vague or unclear.

While teams do not always have a specific team leader—that role may rotate among different team members—there will be times now and certainly going forward as you progress in your career as a manager that you will need to step up and answer the call of leadership.

Time to Lead

Now that you have an understanding of what it takes to develop a team, it is critical to exhibit the leadership qualities that will allow you as a team leader to thrive.

Leaders Are Made, Not Born

While there has been a long-standing debate about this, there is no denying that leadership is a skill that needs to be cultivated. While some more than others grow up showing a propensity to lead at an earlier age, circumstances can also greatly affect leadership growth, and factors will come into play that push many in the right direction. For those that argue that people are born with innate talents, it is true that there are "natural athletes" or prodigies. On the other hand, if a natural talent is not developed or fostered, that talent will atrophy. Also, it is often those who show the greatest potential who work the hardest. These are the ones who progress to the next level of their sport or career. Eventually some of those that exhibit the greatest talents can become legends.

By believing that there is no such thing as "pure" born leaders, the paradigm shifts to believing that skills, confidence, and selfimage will determine leadership performance. Those who have the desire to achieve their mission in life, and who can use strengths to offset weaknesses, can have unlimited leadership potential.

Managers of Power

There are generally three categories of power: fear-generated, gaingenerated, and sincerity-generated.

Leaders that use fear-generated power are interested in control. Their followers are afraid that they may lose out spiritually, emotionally, physically, or mentally if they do not follow the leader. Losing the sense of belonging is a significant fear generator. Followers are intimidated by the consequences of not following. "Go along to get along" is the motto. Do not question their authority because the consequences might cause some measure of pain.

Leaders that use gain-generated power are also interested in control. Followers look to the leader to provide for them if they do something for the leader. "Do A and B for me, and I will do X and Y in return for you." Similar to a fear-generating leader, this type might even tap into a specific area such as an emotional or spiritual desire or some weakness in the person that they know they can't resist. Therefore, they are really deceiving or coercing the person into doing something as opposed to getting authentic buy-in.

People will follow leaders that use sincerity-generated power, because this type of leader allows the followers to make an educated commitment to the mission. Followers believe in the leader's vision because it is communicated clearly and openly. They are not being manipulated by the leader, as is the case in the other power styles. Leaders that use sincerity-generated power build long-lasting relationships with their followers. This type of leader is serviceoriented, trustworthy, and inspiring. Leaders that use sincerity-generated power are, in effect, aspiring to as well as teaching the corporate values and providing guidance as it relates to them. They bring people together for open discussion of these values, which in turn fosters a sincere desire to move in the right direction.

It is really the true leader that uses sincerity-generated as her only power style. Other leaders are short-term and will not create any long-lasting devotion nor trust and respect from others.

The following are some core examples of what a leader is, including some common traits and characteristics, along with some ways you can continue in the direction of becoming a strong leader.

Visionary

Leaders have a vision of what can be. They go beyond themselves to consider possibilities that others cannot see. Often they have a desire to be the best, which generates excitement and enthusiasm for the people who are following them. This sense of purpose and direction unites the team and maximizes the team's capabilities.

Part of the reason many leaders are so successful is because they provide a safe environment that allows the people to be motivated from within. It is what some call the "passionate workplace." You now have the ability to develop the vision for your team as well as marshal your staff around it. It is a surefire way to get both you and your team moving in the right direction—together.

Strategist

A vision without a plan is merely a dream. Leaders are constantly thinking through and planning the next move. What are the consequences? What are the rewards? What changes can be made to strengthen the team? They constantly question strategies and tactics and strive to improve upon the past.

Leaders also know that a strategy without action is the same as having no plan at all. They realize that execution or implementation is key to making any strategy come alive. Leaders innately feel a sense of urgency and then react expeditiously to the opportunities as they take shape. Leaders will stay in the offensive mode at all times with the strategy. Even when their plans are criticized or uncertainty begins to present itself, leaders have the patience to stay the course because they are confident in themselves and their team. You are a leader in setting the strategy for your team going forward. If you waver, then they will too. Trust in them, and you will get the same in return.

Mentor

Whether you realize it or not, you are not just a manager and coach, but also a mentor. Remember that a real leader is constantly encouraging and empowering his people. This inspires trust, confidence, and commitment to achieve the stated goals. A sense of loyalty is developed toward the leader and the leader's mission because of her willingness to involve her followers.

Leaders believe in the potential of others. In fact, leaders are not afraid to loosen the reins and allow their team to shine. Far too often a manager tries try to take credit for the work being done by his staff. A true leader deflects much of the credit and places it where it belongs, with the team members. The more a leader looks out for the well-being of his employees, the more the commitment will be returned.

Remember that being a mentor comes with your new role. Think about the great mentors you have had over your lifetime. It is your time to step into that role yourself. So don't forget, your staff is looking to you for your input, guidance, and reassurance. Treat them right, and they will not only be looking at you, but beginning to look up to you.

Honesty

Honesty is at the core of management and leadership. If a leader demonstrates her commitment to being truthful and forthright, it can become contagious. Honesty in a leader is always a sign of strength. Believing it is a weakness is actually a character flaw in an insecure person, who will remain a follower at best. Also, remember that it can take just one lie or deceptive act to lose the trust of your staff forever.

But honesty is not just about telling the truth; it is about being candid and up front with your team. This is more important than ever because, in the face of rapid change and uncertainty, people long for truthful and full disclosure of information. That is not to say that there might not be certain information that is not appropriate to share at any particular moment, but whenever possible,

Stepping Up to Be a True Leader

provide the maximum rather than "just enough" information. Furthermore, lack of open sharing of information can also be a demotivator, and people are very perceptive and will see through mixed messages.

The more you express yourself—your concerns, desires, and expectations—the more you will get openness from your team in return. So if you feel your team needs to know something that could affect them, address it, even if you don't have all of the answers. If not, the uncertainty and fear will only build, making a problem that much more difficult to handle later on. Your team will surely respect you more in the long run, and you will all reap the rewards of closer working relationships.

Work/Life Balance

Another age-old question that has garnered a great deal of discussion and debate by thought leaders in the area of leadership: "What is the quintessential balance between work and free time?" Typically we think of great leaders as working seventy-hour weeks, on weekends, and so on. However, these are not necessarily great leaders. A true leader knows how to weigh the various aspects of her life, including what is most important to her, and then set her own priorities and stick to them.

Therefore, some leaders will inevitably fit into the category of "workaholic," putting his career and the business first and foremost, while others value their family and downtime as much as or more than their work. Great leaders know how and where their energy and time needs to be spent in order to achieve this balance and, in return, they as well as those around them all benefit.

Again, no right or exact prescription works for everyone. Both types of values have culminated in excellent leaders. So think about the balance you want in your life, and stay true to it. Also, at the same time remember that your staff has their own set of needs and values, so be sure to respect them as well.

Innovative Thinkers

Leaders ask themselves, "Where can we go from here?" They look at roadblocks and hurdles merely as challenges in the course ahead. They are also able to use creativity and imagination to overcome the obstacles. In fact, by surpassing a barrier, you are one step closer to achieving a goal. Some have even gone as far as calling leaders paranoid, meaning they are not only looking ahead at the road in front of them, but over their shoulders to be sure that competition and other influences (both external and internal) are playing to their favor. If something is off course, they look to themselves as well as others for ways to get back on track, never saying, "But this is the way it has always been done."

You should always look for the new, better approach, and ask that your team does the same. Also, know that progress comes from unexpected places. Therefore, look out for the unexpected from your competitors, and encourage new ideas from your staff.

Another way to look at creativity and innovation is to not only encourage debate but even disagreement. The mark of a confident person is one who can accept the differences of opinion of others. You are building a team of high performers. Don't just ask for their input when you feel it is in line with yours. Challenge them to challenge your thinking. No one has all of the answers, let alone all of the right ones. Value this way of thinking, and then look for ways to reward it as well.

Committed to a Win-Win Mentality

Because their focus is constantly on winning, leaders never look backward. They do not waste their time looking for someone to blame. Leaders are dedicated to excellence and quality. This means that they do not look for ways to break people down, but rather, constantly look for ways to build people up. They also have the ability to be introspective. They recognize their capabilities and limitations. Through their positive energy they are able attract compatible competencies. Their team then feels this energy, and they are uplifted by it, especially during difficult and trying times.

A leader should always give her people the benefit of the doubt. First challenge them and then trust in them. Anything else would be stifling them and, in turn, yourself. It is commonly believed that your team members can only live up to the expectations that you have for them. If you have low expectations, you will get that in return. You'll be pleasantly surprised at what your team is capable of when you set the bar high and allow some freedom for them to reach their goals. Have confidence in your team; it will be returned in spades.

Excellent Communicators

You have already looked in depth at the importance of communication in building your careers in management. Leaders exemplify the best in communication, with all, not just select, business relationships. Leaders can articulate their vision at will. Furthermore, the goals and direction that they have put in place are made clear and understandable. They constantly communicate their standards, ideals, and values, and relate them to every task and accomplishment. This is because they have put their goals in definable terminology.

Leaders are also considered very approachable. They realize the importance of being highly visible to their staff and readily available to those who need them. Some of the greatest leaders spend a major portion of their time on interpersonal skills. It is their people-development focus that in turn opens others to them. Because of this style of consistent interaction, leaders get regular, timely, and applicable information.

By being a great communicator, you can then encourage open communication among others. When you communicate, remember that all of the players on a team, including yourself, are equals; you just each have different roles and responsibilities.

Excellent Listeners

You have also learned the importance of listening in order to be a great communicator. Great leaders have the uncanny ability to actively listen, focusing not just on the person with whom they are speaking, but also on absorbing the commonality of messages that are coming from their staff. Because of their listening skills, leaders have a tendency to learn a great deal about what is going on with people at all levels of the organization, as opposed to just the thoughts of a few. This allows them to make adjustments through consensus.

You will need to practice the skill and art of actively listening. It will be evident to your staff, showing that you care, and it will also help you to make sound decisions. After all, you need to gain the trust of others in order to get the necessary input and cooperation from them. The more you listen, the more you can expect others to listen to you.

Self-Awareness

Leaders not only analyze the abilities of others, but are constantly reviewing their own strengths and weaknesses. They know their own abilities, and they strive to constantly build on them. Leaders are honest with themselves, and they are not afraid to look to others with specific strengths to offset any of their own weaknesses. A leader is able to analyze those areas that cause self-doubt, and work to improve themselves.

Leaders are at the same time sensitive to others who act out or react based on their own insecurities or fears; they attempt to help those people find direction and purpose. Remember that just like your staff, you are not perfect either. Sometimes the more you feel you are running up against a wall, the more the solution is with you and not with others. Don't overdemand, but instead realize that the best way to address the shortcomings of others is to be in touch with your own.

Leadership by Example—Walk the Talk

Leaders inspire the team by showing their willingness to pitch in. True leaders do not live exclusively in an ivory tower, but rather spend a great deal of time at all levels of the organization, getting to know the staff and letting the input of others carry substantial weight, as opposed to just paying lip service to their staff. They realize that the foundation of the organization is not the corner office but rather the people on the front lines who develop the products and services, interact with customers, and ensure that the processes run smoothly along the way.

Show your team that you care by talking with not just them but all stakeholders in all areas in your organization and at the customer sites as well. Show that you are not afraid to roll up your sleeves and get your hands dirty. People want a leader they can respect and who understands things from their point of view, not someone who is out of touch with their needs. So be the first in line to take part in a training program or a team-building exercise that involves your staff and others.

Also, in setting the right example, hold yourself responsible first and foremost. The sign of a true leader is someone who can stand up and take the credit when something went right and take the blame when something went wrong. Businesses without leadership have a plethora of finger pointers. Before you look at who did what wrong and why, look at who did what right and how.

Risk Takers

If an organization is to grow, it needs to accept failures as a distinct possibility. A leader does this and asks others to not fear it either. In fact, leaders go by the philosophy that a failure or mistake can only help get you that much closer to a success.

When Thomas Edison was asked how it felt to have failed more than 10,000 times in attempting to invent the light bulb, his reply was that he never failed; instead he successfully figured out 10,000 ways not to make a light bulb.

You need to show your team that you are willing to take risks, and that you have the ability to ask the right questions to mitigate them. When someone comes to you with a new, unproven idea, don't brush it off. Allow him to think it through and see if it really seems to make sense. If it does, look for ways to make it happen, rather than excuses to not take on something new. And if it is not a complete success, latch on to the good that came out of the experience and the learning for the next time. You will then be encouraging more risk going forward.

Ethical

While all of the above are central to being a great leader, being ethical is perhaps the most important characteristic of our greatest leaders. A lack of high ethical standards is why some of those who we thought were at the top for good came tumbling down. The leadership role is first and foremost based on a foundation of trust and credibility. Leaders are not afraid to voice what they believe in. At the same time, they keep their promises to both their followers and to everyone they touch. Leaders set very high standards of integrity for themselves and their organization. They always err on the side of fairness, which could, at times, seem like it is holding the company back. Yet in the long run the organization will be that much stronger for it.

As a leader, you will have to make some very tough decisions. Realize that it is impossible to make everyone happy all the time, but it is possible to be fair to all concerned. While business is very competitive and difficult decisions will need to be made, the decisions you make will stay with you and your team for a long time, so make them ones that you can be proud of.

Positive Attitude

One cannot say enough about the importance of attitude. Great leaders have a positive attitude that is infectious. They exude confidence and have the ability to bounce back in the face of adversity. The more it seems that the odds are stacked against them, the more they are able to rise to the occasion. In fact, many of the greatest leaders have made a name for themselves by being resilient during the toughest of times. People sometimes describe them as unwavering or unflappable. This does not mean that they are putting on an act and not being true to themselves. A great leader, more than others, can ask for help when something is wrong or they are in need. This is only the more proof that they are continually committed to the betterment of themselves and those that surround them.

Also, your attitude is evident in everything you do. Your team is always looking to you to see how you react. Even when everything is not moving on all cylinders, be the first one to build them up, to congratulate the team and the individual contributors on a job well done.

One great way of maintaining a great attitude is through the use of positive visualization. See yourself as someone who can take the lead and address challenges that will inevitably cross your path. You already possess many of the core characteristics of a great leader. It is now only a matter of time and commitment.

Steps Toward Leadership

1. *Decision*. You must make the decision to do what it takes to move into a leadership position. This means to start embracing the characteristics of great leaders now. This can only help you to grow in your new role as a sales manager.

2. Determination. Accept the responsibility of leadership and feel the driving need to want to experience that leadership role. Be tenacious when others attempt to question your desire. Passion and drive are not only the mark of a true leader, but the mark of a person who endeavors to become one.

3. Study. Become a student of leadership. Read about the subject, listen to tapes and speeches, and take classes on leadership.

Stepping Up to Be a True Leader

There is an array of learning tools on the market. Take the best ideas out of each and begin incorporating them into your daily activities and way of thinking.

4. *Role Model.* Select your favorite leaders. They could be modern-day leaders or figures from history, or both. Then begin to work with the combination of styles that fits you best. You may also have mentors that you know personally and can learn from them along the way. Listen and observe; while they will approach leadership in different ways, they all have something valuable to share.

5. *Discipline*. Becoming a leader requires a change of habits that were acquired as a follower. Self-control and constant effort are needed to implement leadership characteristics. Don't try to exhibit every characteristic so dramatically that it comes across as superficial. As you saw, leadership is based on sincerity; give it time, and it will come.

6. *Practice*. Learn the basics and then consistently work until you begin to master them, adding some new element or level of consciousness all the time. Eventually, not only will you come to master the art of leadership, but you can teach others how to better lead as well. You yourself will ultimately become that role model that others will want to emulate.

All of this leads you back to the first statement about leaders being made, not born. It might not always seem so easy, nor loads of fun, but it is well within your reach. This book will hopefully prove to be one of many great tools you utilize as you continue through this journey. You will certainly be assisted by other people and resources along the way as well.

Some say that it is not the end result but rather the journey that contains all of the rewards. You should be commended on taking the time to reward yourself. It is with this proactive attitude that you are already exemplifying your ability to lead. Above all else, be patient with yourself and others. Managers, new and old, all face similar challenges and have the same horizon full of boundless opportunities. You have already proven that you are a success, and you are well on your way to even greater accomplishments. This page intentionally left blank

INDEX

accounts

change of value of, 92 core customers vs. prospects, 88 exit strategy for, 90-91 high- vs. low-value, 89, 91 ranking of, 87-89 adapting, to other people's styles, 38 adjourning stage, of team development, 195 AMA DISC Survey, 24 audiovisuals, proper use of, 46 auditory learners, 159-160 aversive stimuli, 163 disadvantages, 166–167 awareness, levels of, 158-159 behavioral questions, 116-117 benchmarking, 73-74 internal vs. external, 73-74 benefits, types of, 151-152 brainstorming, 72 business assessment, 70-73 benchmarking, 73-74 campus recruiting, 104-105 through CD-ROM presentations, 105 through the Internet, 105 through video conferencing, 105 candidate selection, 99-100, see also interview; recruiting and job description, 102-103, 122-123 and sales skills model, 100-101 criteria for, 99-100 weighted ranking, 100-101

candidates checking references of, 124 embedding of, 123-124 screening of, 124 career aspirations, 18 Careerbuilder.com, 106 change handling, 15 impact on team, 15-16 tips for coping with, 16 coaching, 179 goal-setting, 180-184 communication importance of, 20 improvement strategies, 39-40 settings, 41 communication styles, see also DISC profiles adapting to, 38 awareness of, 47 complementing, 38 effect of roles on, 37-39 influences on 40-41 intensity of, 39 of leaders, 201 working with different, 38-39 company Web site recruiting, 107-108 compensation commission only, 148 determining factors, 149-151 draw, 149 need for equity, 151 nonfinancial, 151

compensation (continued) salary only, 147 salary plus bonus, 148-149 salary plus commission, 148 compensation plan benefits of. 141 elements of, 143-144 key measures, 144-147 terminology, 144 weighted factors, 146-147 competitive product/service analysis, 59 complementing, other people's styles, 38 consultative selling, 150 contact log, 93 Contemplative pattern (DISC) communication style, 37 strengths and weaknesses, 35-36 wants and needs, 36-37 writing style, 37 contingent staff recruiting, 105-106 corporate strategy, alignment with sales team, 48-50 corporate structure and sales planning, 50 customer-centric, 51-56 reporting relationships, 51-53 counseling, 179 cross-functional teams, 192-193 culture, 4-8 alignment of, 5-6 of company departments, 7 of industry, 6 of organization, 6-7 of sales department, 7 customer's teams, 190-191, 193-194 customer-centric structure benefits, 54-56 supplier/customer integration, 55 delegating up, 84-85

delegation and job enlargement, 81 and job enrichment, 81–82 benefits of, 81 do's and don'ts of, 83

performance standards for, 83 rewards for, 84 training for, 83 delegation skills, lack of, 80 Directing pattern (DISC) and delegation, 81-82 communication style, 29-30 strengths and weaknesses, 28-29 wants and needs, 29-30 writing style, 30 DISC dimensions, 27 DISC profiles, 24 advantages, 24 and training, 162 changing of, 24 effects, 25 four-quadrant system, 26-38 DISC theory, 23-24 disciplinary problems, 185-186 legal considerations, 186

experienced salespeople as resource, 11 management of, 11–12

fear-generated power, 196
firing
 see termination
focus groups, 61
forming stage, of team development, 194
friends, management of, 9–10

gain-generated power, 196 Glocap.com, 106 goal-setting basic steps, 180–184 developing SMART goals, 183–184 follow up, 184–185 setting stage for, 181–182 setting strategic direction for, 180–181 goals, 67–68, *see also* SMART goals corporate, 67 departmental, 67 objectives, 68

Index

personal business, 67 setting of, see goal-setting Herzberg, Frederick, 130 hierarchy of needs, 129-130 Hotjobs.com, 106 incentives. see also motivation and sales meetings, 154 need for consistency, 155 nonfinancial, 152-153 work as reward, 153 incentives plan, see compensation plan Influencing pattern (DISC) communication style, 32 strengths and weaknesses, 30-31 wants and needs, 31-32 writing style, 32 internal candidate recruiting, 111-112 internal motivators, 131, see also motivation aesthetic, 133-134 economic, 137-138 identification of, 139-140 political, 135-136 prioritization of, 138-139 social, 134-135 structural, 136-137 theoretical, 132-133 interview avoiding leading the candidate, 119-120 avoiding stereotyping, 118 being consistent in, 125 candidate's questions, 121 conducting the, 114-115 importance of listening, 119 process, 113-119 professional environment for, 117 prohibited questions, 125 reaching final decision, 120-122 résumé review, 113-114 sample behavioral questions, 116-117 sample motivational questions, 117

sample technical questions, 116-117 styles to avoid, 115 interviewers, multiple, 123 job description, 122-123 contents of, 102-103 job fairs recruiting, 108-109 joint sales calls, 175-178 deciding factors, 176 feedback, 178 proper planning of, 177-178 kinesthetic learners, 160-161 leaders as good communicators, 201 as good listeners, 201 as innovative thinkers, 199-200 as managers of power, 196-197 as mentors, 198 as risk takers, 203 as strategists, 197-198 as visionaries, 197 born vs. developed, 195-196 ethical standards of, 203 honesty of, 198-199 leading by example, 202 positive attitude of, 204 self-awareness of, 202 win-win mentality of, 200 work/life balance of, 199 leadership, steps toward, 204-205 learning style and training, 162 auditory, 159-160 kinesthetic, 160-161 levels of awareness, 158-159 visual, 161-162 listening attentive, 21 inattentive habits, 21 skills, 20-22 tips for better, 22 management of experienced salespeople, 11-12

management (continued) of former peers, 8-12 of friends, 9-10 of nonallies, 10-11 transition to, 1-2 market research, 60-62 focus groups, 61 observational, 61 secondary, 61 surveys, 60-61 marketing new product/service development, 62 pricing decisions, 62-63 relationship to sales, 56-63 role of, 57 marketing organizations, 57 marketing tools competitive product/service analysis, 59 market research, 60-62 product/market analysis, 59-60 SWOT analysis, 58-59 Marston, William M., 23 Maslow, Abraham, 129 meetings criteria for, 42-43 leading effective, 44 preparation for, 46 presentation skills, 45-46 Q&A tips, 47 rules for planning, 43-44 micromanagers, dealing with, 13-14 mission statement, 65-66 corporate-level, 66 department-level, 66-67 Monster.com, 106 motivation, see also internal motivators corporate impact on, 141 departmental impact on, 142 financial rewards as, 138 Herzberg's theory of, 130-131 hygiene factors, 130-131 individual impact on, 142 internal motivators, 131-140

Maslow's theory of, 129-130 Spranger's theory of, 131-132 motivational questions, 117 Myers-Briggs Type Indicator (MBTI), 24 National Automated Merchandising Association (NAMA), 110 new product/service development, 62 newspaper ads recruiting, 109 nonallies, management of, 10-11 norming stage, of team development, 194 - 195objectives, 68 observational research, 61 on-the-job training, 175-179 through joint sales calls, 175-178 online job sites recruiting, 106-107 peers, former, management of, 8-12 performance management, purposes of, 147 performing stage, of team development, 195 planning, see also sales plan brainstorming, 72 business assessment, 70-73 continuous, 70 decision making, 71-72 identifying stakeholders, 72-73 position power, 8-9 power, categories of, 196 presentation skills, 45-46 pricing decisions external factors, 62-63 internal factors, 63 product/market analysis, 59-60 questions behavioral, 116-117 motivational, 117 open-ended, 182 technical, 116-117 recognition nonfinancial. 152-153 of teams, 155

Index

recruiting, see also candidate selection; interview from company Web site, 107-108 from contingent staff, 105-106 from job fairs, 108-109 from newspaper ads, 109 from online job sites, 106-107 need for ongoing, 112 of internal candidates, 111-112 on campus, 104-105 sources for, 104 through outside agencies, 109-110 through referrals, 111 through trade associations, 110 using outside agencies, 109-110 recruiting firms, 109-110 references check, 124 referrals, 111 reinforcement in training, 167 principles of, 164-166 Skinner's theory of, 162-163 reinforcers, 163 relevant goals, 68 reprimands, 173 résumé limitations of, 119 review of, 113-114 salary, see compensation sales relationship to marketing, 56-63 role of. 56 Sales and Marketing Management, 110 sales culture, see culture sales forecasting, 93-97 external factors, 96 following directions for, 95-96 providing incentives, 97 role of other stakeholders, 95 sales manager's responsibility for, 94 - 95sales management model, 4 sales manager as leader, see leaders

career aspirations of, 18 communication style, 22-23 core skill areas, 2-3 expectations of, 18 long-term focus, 18 short-term focus, 17 team leader vs. team player, 12 traits, 2 sales meetings, 154 sales organizations, 57 sales plan characteristics, 64 constituents, 49 creation of, 63-64 flexibility, 69-70 goals, 67-68 mission statement, 65-66 preparation, 49-50 strategies and tactics, 69-70 tracking of, 69, 184 vision statement, 65 sales professional core skill areas, 2, 3 traits. 2 sales reports contact log, 93 content, 93 sales skills model, 3 and candidate selection, 101 sales team, see also teams alignment of strategy with, 48-50 evaluation of, 98-99 management of, 12-14 sales territory 80/20 rule, 90 forms of, 85-86 major vs. global accounts, 86 ranking of accounts, 87-89 team selling, 86 sales territory planning, 85-97 sales forecasting, 93-97 salesperson A-B-C categorization of, 169 building confidence of, 172 compensation of, 147-149 typical traits, 2

secondary market research, 61 Selling Power, 110 sincerity-generated power, 196-197 Skinner, B.F., 162 SMART goals, 67-68 delegation of, 82 development of, 183-184 Spranger, Eduard, 131 stakeholders, identification of, 72-73 storming stage, of team development, 194 strategies and tactics, 69-70 Supportive pattern (DISC) and delegation, 82 communication style, 34 strengths and weaknesses, 33 wants and needs, 34 writing style, 35 surveys, 60-61 SWOT analysis, 58-59 team selling, 86

teams, *see also* sales team assessment of, 189 cross-functional, 192–193 defined, 188, 192 impact of change on, 15–16 matched with customer's team, 190–191 member responsibilities, 190 mission of, 189 setting SMART goals for, 189–190 stages of development, 194–195 transactional, 191 types of, 188 termination documentation for, 126 HR involvement in, 126 reasons for. 126 time influences on, 76 value placed on, 77-78 time management, 75-79 breaking down priorities, 77 dealing with drop-ins, 78-79 dealing with other projects, 79 putting out fires, 79 strategic plan for, 76 training cycle, 167-168 developing winners, 167-168, 173 - 174focus on best producers, 170 motivational environment for, 178 - 179of existing team members, 169-174 of new team members, 168-169 on-the-job, see on-the-job training recognizing learning speed, 174 reinforcement in, 167 to provide motivation, 172 to provide skills, 172 Tuckman, Bruce, 194 vision statement, 65

visual learners, 161–162

written offer, 122-123